

**Vancouver, BC**

**April 16, 2012**

**(PROCEEDINGS RECONVENED AT 9:38 A.M.)**

1 THE REGISTRAR: Order. This hearing is now resumed.

2  
3 MR. VERTLIEB: Mr. Commissioner, just to outline the week for  
4 you, Mr. Chantler has family witnesses, as you  
5 know and everyone else knows. We had originally  
6 thought that that would be three days, but it  
7 seems now that two days will be required for that.  
8

9  
10 THE COMMISSIONER: All right.

11 MR. VERTLIEB: And so because of that, we appreciate that  
12 advice from Mr. Chantler, we are making  
13 arrangements to have Roxana Smith come Wednesday  
14 morning. She is someone that Mr. Ward had wanted.  
15 We also feel that she has information that would  
16 be important for you. And so we plan to have Ms.  
17 Smith Wednesday, and she would be scheduled for  
18 that day and no other time. And then we have Mr.  
19 Romano on Thursday, and he will be scheduled for  
20 that day and no other day. And so we'll just have  
21 to work through the allocations for both those  
22 witnesses. So, that takes care of this week and I  
23 just wanted to give you that outline.

24 THE COMMISSIONER: All right. Thank you.

25 MR. VERTLIEB: Thank you.

1 THE COMMISSIONER: Mr. Chantler.

2 MR. CHANTLER: Thank you, Mr. Commissioner. As my friend, Mr.  
3 Vertlieb mentioned, I intend to call six family  
4 witnesses this week. They're being called  
5 essentially in order of when their loved one went  
6 missing.

7 You will recall at the end of the families'  
8 testimony in October, that we had noted on the  
9 record that there were some family members left  
10 who wished to testify. You granted them that  
11 opportunity. On their behalf, I thank you.

12 The witnesses who wish to come forward this  
13 week have all expressed a desire to testify at  
14 this inquiry and I hope that you find the evidence  
15 they have to offer you helpful.

16 THE COMMISSIONER: All right. Thank you, Mr. Chantler.

17 MR. CHANTLER: With that, I call the first witness, Ms. Lila  
18 Purcell.

19 THE REGISTRAR: Good morning.

20 THE WITNESS: Good morning.

21 **LILA PURCELL, affirmed:**

22 THE REGISTRAR: Would you state your name please?

23 THE WITNESS: Lila Purcell.

24 THE REGISTRAR: Thank you. I will need you to speak up and a  
25 little closer into the mike. Just slide the mike

1 a little closer. Would you repeat your name again  
2 please?

3 THE WITNESS: Lila Purcell.

4 THE REGISTRAR: Thank you. Counsel.

5 MR. CHANTLER: Thank you.

6 **EXAMINATION IN CHIEF BY MR. CHANTLER:**

7 Q Ms. Purcell, you are the aunt of Tanya Holyk; is  
8 that correct?

9 A Yes.

10 Q Tanya's mother is your older sister, Dorothy  
11 Purcell, passed away in 1996, correct?

12 A Yes.

13 Q Can you please confirm that Tanya is one of the  
14 women on the missing women board to your left?

15 A Right here, yes.

16 Q Yes. You have seen her there?

17 A Yes.

18 Q And we have a photo of Tanya, which I will hand up  
19 to you.

20 A Yes.

21 Q Ms. Purcell, you have seen this photo before?

22 A Yes, I have.

23 Q And this is a photo of Tanya?

24 A Yes.

25 Q Can you tell us about this photo? When was it

1 taken and who took it?

2 A It was taken at her mother's place, uh, quite a  
3 few years ago and on one of her happier days. She  
4 looks a lot like her mother when she was that age  
5 too. So, one of the nicer photos I have of her.

6 Q Do you recall what year it was taken?

7 A I believe it was just after her, just after her  
8 son was born. Not too long after her son was  
9 born.

10 Q Thank you. Will you hold it up and show the  
11 commissioner and, and members of the audience?

12 If we can have that photo marked as the next  
13 exhibit please?

14 THE COMMISSIONER: Yes.

15 THE REGISTRAR: Yes, that will be marked as Exhibit Number 136.

16 **(EXHIBIT NO. 136: Colour photograph of Tanya**  
17 **Holyk)**

18 MR. CHANTLER:

19 Q Tanya disappeared from the Downtown Eastside in  
20 October 1996?

21 A Yes.

22 Q Her DNA was found on the Picktons' property in  
23 October 2002?

24 A Yes.

25 Q And Robert Pickton was charged with Tanya's murder

1                   until that charge was stayed on August 4th, 2010?

2                   A    Yes.

3                   Q    Now, before I ask you some questions about Tanya's  
4                   life and her background, and eventually her  
5                   disappearance and the police investigation that  
6                   followed, why don't you tell us a bit about  
7                   yourself?  You were born in Port Douglas, BC?

8                   A    Yes, I am.

9                   Q    And you are a member of the Douglas Band?

10                  A    Yes, I am.

11                  Q    And that's of the Skatin First Nation?

12                  A    Yes.  My mother was born in Skookumchuk and that  
13                  makes it the Skatin.  There is three bands  
14                  involved, and it's why they call it the Skatin  
15                  Nation.

16                  Q    All right.  And your father?

17                  A    He's from Port Douglas.  That's where I was born.

18                  Q    You had a large family?

19                  A    Yes, 14 children altogether from my mother.

20                  Q    Dorothy, Tanya's mother, was the fourth oldest  
21                  child?

22                  A    Yes, she was.

23                  Q    And where did you fit in?

24                  A    I was the youngest of my mother's first marriage.

25                  Q    You had 13 siblings?

1 A No -- yes, 13 others, altogether.

2 Q And Dorothy was eight years older than you?

3 A Yes, she was.

4 Q You spent much of your childhood in Agassiz?

5 A Yeah, most of the time.

6 Q Can you tell us a bit about that?

7 A I moved there when I was about three years old.

8 My stepfather had built a house for my mother

9 there when they got married --

10 Q Hm-hmm.

11 A -- and went through high school, from Grade, I

12 guess, 1 to 7.

13 Q Hm-hmm.

14 A Or 1, pardon me, 1 through 6 I guess. It was

15 quite a long time ago.

16 Q Hm-hmm.

17 A And, uh, came back three years later and went to

18 high school there also.

19 Q Okay. And you moved to Vancouver in about 1974?

20 A I believe so, yes.

21 Q And you now live in Surrey?

22 A Yes, I do.

23 Q Okay. You graduated from high school?

24 A Yes.

25 Q And did you take any -- have any education after

1                   that?

2           A    Yes, I went to a business college.

3           Q    You received a diploma?

4           A    Yes, I did.

5           Q    In microcomputer business applications?

6           A    Yes.

7           Q    In approximately '95?

8           A    Yes.

9           Q    You're currently on disability?

10          A    Yes.

11          Q    But you worked before that?

12          A    Yes.

13          Q    Can you tell us about that?

14          A    Uh, I worked with the movie industry as an extra,  
15                mostly in the Vancouver area.

16          Q    Hm-hmm. And you worked for some time as a  
17                secretary and in reception?

18          A    Yes, I did.

19          Q    You have one daughter?

20          A    Yes.

21          Q    She's 34 years old?

22          A    She will be 34 on the 18th of this month.

23          Q    All right. And she's just completed university?

24          A    She did, yes.

25          Q    Now, your daughter and Tanya were close growing

1 up; is that right?

2 A Like sisters, yes. They grew up together.

3 Q They were close in age?

4 A Three years apart.

5 Q And you lived together with your sister, Dorothy,  
6 and Tanya --

7 A Yes, I did.

8 Q -- for quite some time?

9 A Yes.

10 Q Okay. I am going to ask you a bit about Tanya's  
11 life. She was born December 8th, 1975?

12 A Yes.

13 Q In Vancouver?

14 A Yes, Grace Hospital.

15 Q And as mentioned, her mother was your older  
16 sister, Dorothy, and her father was Peter Holland?

17 A Yes.

18 Q And they were living at the time in Lytton, BC?

19 A Yes, he had some work up there.

20 Q Shortly after her birth, they moved to Lytton?

21 A Ah, yes.

22 Q You reconnected with your sister and Tanya when  
23 Tanya was about three years old?

24 A Yes.

25 Q And essentially Dorothy and you raised Tanya?



1           A    Yes.

2           Q    Her father had left?

3           A    Yes, he did.

4           Q    What was Tanya's life like growing up?

5           A    Uhm, --

6           Q    Did she have a happy childhood?

7           A    Oh, yes, she did. Her and my daughter grew up  
8           like sisters, like I said. We were -- my sister  
9           and I lived together, so we all -- we shared a  
10          house for quite, quite a few years of her life,  
11          uh, up until the teenaged years at least.

12          Q    She had a happy, normal childhood?

13          A    Yes, she did.

14          Q    What was Tanya's life like as she grew a little  
15          older in her teens?

16          A    Uhm, I would still say she was a happy, happy, but  
17          she was going to school here in Vancouver also.

18          Q    Do you recall the name of the school?

19          A    Uh, there was a quite a few different ones.  
20          Britannia I know is one of them, I believe.  
21          Uhm --

22          Q    Okay.

23          A    Sorry, I can't recall.

24          Q    In Tanya's early 20s, in the mid-1990s, where was  
25          she living and what was her life like?

1 A She's -- she was living with her mother in  
2 Vancouver at the time. Uhm, we had left town for  
3 three years, myself and my daughter. But I  
4 believe they were still living in East Vancouver.

5 Q Okay. She had a boyfriend you knew of?

6 A Uh, when I came back, she did.

7 Q Okay. And we will call him "Gary".

8 A Yes.

9 Q What was your relationship like with her then?

10 A Uh, I saw her off and on. It was still pretty  
11 much the same I guess, you know. But I didn't see  
12 her as often.

13 Q You spoke to her often?

14 A Yes. She came to visit because my daughter and  
15 her were still close.

16 Q Did she have any children?

17 A My daughter or Tanya?

18 Q Tanya.

19 A Oh, she had, yes, Gary Jr.

20 Q She had a child with --

21 A With Gary, yes.

22 Q -- her boyfriend.

23 Now, if we can focus in on the year before  
24 she disappeared, and that's in 1995 and 1996. Can  
25 you tell us about her life in that year? I

1 understand she was living with Gary in Burnaby?

2 A She was -- yes, she had moved in with him from her  
3 mother's place, and she still came back to her  
4 mother's every now and then while she was living  
5 there.

6 Q Where was her son?

7 A Oh, after she had her son? Uh, she -- the son was  
8 basically always in her care. So, she would bring  
9 him with her. And at the time, when they were  
10 living I believe out in Burnaby, they were living  
11 in a basement suite from Gary. There was a two-  
12 bedroom basement suite below his house and they  
13 all shared the total building, and they had the  
14 baby with them downstairs, in a two-bedroom suite.

15 Q How was her health?

16 A Uh, I'm sorry, I am not quite sure what you mean.

17 Q Did she have any substance abuse issues?

18 A Yes, she did. She was doing cocaine I believe.

19 THE COMMISSIONER: She was what?

20 THE WITNESS: Doing cocaine.

21 MR. CHANTLER:

22 Q Was this something that you would talk to her  
23 about?

24 A Ah, I talked to her mother about it and her mother  
25 was speaking to her, telling her about our concern

1 and that we were hoping that she would stop.

2 Q Do you know how she was supporting her drug habit?

3 A Uh, she, I believe she was working on the street.

4 As well, I had discussed that with her mother.

5 Her mother admitted to me that she had been

6 working on the street.

7 Q And was that in the Downtown Eastside?

8 A Uh, yes, I believe so, around the -- off Victoria

9 and Hastings somewhere.

10 Q Had her mother ever seen her working on the

11 street?

12 A Yes, she said she had. When they used to live

13 close-by there, she used to see her. And I

14 believe they call it a stroll area where some of

15 the other women would be hanging out also.

16 Q And so, just to be clear, your mother was -- her

17 mother was aware that she was working in the sex

18 trade?

19 A She finally came to discover it, yes, and she

20 would go looking for her.

21 Q Are you aware of Tanya making any efforts to

22 resolve her substance abuse issues?

23 A Yes. When she found out she was pregnant, she was

24 -- she had gone to a, I believe they call it a

25 halfway, not a halfway house, a rehabilitation --

1 Q Hm-hmm?

2 A -- home during her pregnancy.

3 Q Hm-hmm. You were in touch with her quite

4 regularly that last year?

5 A Yes, I was.

6 Q And you played on a baseball team together?

7 A Yes.

8 Q But in October, shortly before she disappeared,

9 something happened. Can you tell us about that?

10 You were supposed to meet up with her.

11 A Oh, my birthday is October 27th and we were

12 supposed to celebrate together. I had just gotten

13 in touch with her mother and then she -- we had

14 spoken about it and she said we might get together

15 and celebrate my birthday, but she didn't, she

16 didn't show up. Tanya didn't show up. And we

17 were waiting for her, but she still -- I didn't

18 see her.

19 Q And what, what happened next?

20 A Her mother called her and she said she couldn't

21 get ahold of her and she didn't know why she

22 didn't show up.

23 Q Her mother called you?

24 A Oh, you mean two days later, the 29th, my sister

25 called me and said that she hadn't come home and

1                   wondered if I had heard from her or --

2                   Q    What did you do?

3                   A    And I told her I hadn't.

4                   Q    And you and your sister, Dorothy, embarked on your

5                   own search for her --

6                   A    Yes.

7                   Q    -- over the next couple of days?

8                   A    Yes. We called friends and people that we knew

9                   that may have seen her.

10                  Q    Was she still with Gary at the time?

11                  A    No, she had been going out with -- she had split

12                  up with Gary.

13                  Q    Hm-hmm. She had another boyfriend?

14                  A    Yes, a young man named --

15                  Q    We will refer to him just as "Ariel".

16                  A    Yes.

17                  Q    And you knew about this man?

18                  A    Yes, I, I had met him a couple of times.

19                  Q    Okay. What did you do after a couple of days of

20                  unsuccessfully searching for her?

21                  A    Uhm, my sister I believe called the, uhm, I'm not

22                  sure if it was called the Missing Persons or the

23                  police to report her.

24                  Q    She called the Vancouver Police Department?

25                  A    Yes, to report her missing.

1 Q And she was put through to the Missing Persons  
2 Unit?

3 A Yes, I believe so.

4 Q Okay. Before I take you any further along as to  
5 what happened then, had Tanya gone missing before?

6 A No.

7 Q What did you think had happened to her?

8 A I, I'm not really sure. I was afraid she might  
9 have been taken or something, because it wasn't  
10 like her not to come home or call.

11 Q This was completely uncharacteristic of her?

12 A Yes. She was very close with her son and, and  
13 it's not the type of thing she would have done.  
14 She would always at least phone if she was going  
15 to be gone. If she wasn't expected back, she  
16 would make sure that her mother or somebody knew  
17 where she was. If she couldn't get ahold of her  
18 mother, somebody would get in touch.

19 Q Had she ever left her son behind like this before?

20 A No.

21 Q Had she ever gone away and not told you she was  
22 going away on --

23 A No.

24 Q Now, it appears from the record -- and  
25 Mr. Commissioner, I have passed up a brief of

1 documents that I will refer to with all three of  
2 the first family witnesses.

3 THE COMMISSIONER: All right.

4 MR. CHANTLER: And I will refer to a few tabs in that brief  
5 through the course of Ms. Purcell's testimony.  
6 Does the witness have a copy of the brief? Thank  
7 you, Mr. Registrar.

8 Q At Tab 1, Ms. Purcell, is a document, for the  
9 record, RCMP-017-003896. It appears to be a  
10 Vancouver Police Department Missing Persons  
11 Report, and the date at the centre top of the  
12 document is November 3rd, 1996.

13 Now, Ms. Purcell, does that sound like the  
14 day when you recall Dorothy phoning the police and  
15 speaking to the Missing Persons Unit and reporting  
16 Tanya's disappearance?

17 A No, it's not. She -- it was in October that she  
18 called.

19 Q Okay. You said that, earlier, that your -- she  
20 had failed to show up for your birthday and a  
21 couple of days had gone by when the family  
22 searched for her. And this is only about four or  
23 five, six days after. Is it possible this is the  
24 day when she phoned?

25 A Yes, it is possible, yes. That's right.



1 Q All right. And we can see on the document that  
2 the person being reported missing is Tanya Marlo  
3 Holyk, and midway down the page, the person  
4 reporting the disappearance is, "Dorothy Purcell  
5 (mother)."

6 A I'm sorry, I don't have my reading glasses.

7 Q Oh, that's fine. It's not important at the  
8 moment. Do you have them with you? Is there --

9 A Yes, they're in my --

10 Q Sure, why don't we take a minute just while you  
11 get those?

12 A Thank you. Okay, thank you.

13 Q Okay. And midway down the page, under "Remarks,"  
14 you can see some handwritten notes that suggest:  
15 Uses cocaine. Missing person has been  
16 missing since Tuesday. Has 11-month child  
17 who she's left with her mother. No known  
18 problems she may have as to why she left.  
19 Does that information accord with your  
20 understanding of Tanya's circumstances and what  
21 Dorothy told the Missing Person Unit?

22 A Yes, it is.

23 Q Okay. Now, over the page to the next tab, tab 2  
24 of the brief, are some computer-typed notes with  
25 dates. For the record, RCMP-017-003894. And we,

1 we believe these to be notes of Sandy Cameron, who  
2 was the civilian clerk who worked at the Vancouver  
3 Police Department's Missing Persons Unit, and who  
4 is, it appears for the record, the person who  
5 Dorothy spoke with when she filed the report and  
6 in the coming weeks, the following weeks. Does  
7 that accord with your recollection?

8 A Yes, it is.

9 Q Yes, okay. What this document shows is that over  
10 the next three or four weeks, there was several  
11 instances of contact between Dorothy, who is  
12 referred to on this document as "the reportee,"  
13 and Ms. Cameron. Now, first I will turn your  
14 attention to the third paragraph. Can you read  
15 that? Can you see it?

16 A Yes.

17 Q It starts with, "I have had dealings." Will you  
18 read that aloud for the record?

19 A I have had dealings with this mother in the  
20 past as her daughter used to run as a  
21 teenager as well.

22 Q Okay. So, stop right there. Sandy Cameron is  
23 suggesting that she's had dealings with Dorothy in  
24 the past and Tanya used to run, I suppose "away"  
25 in the past. Does that accord with your

1 recollection?

2 A No, it's not.

3 Q So, is that untrue, as far as you are concerned?

4 A I believe so.

5 Q You have said that Tanya had never disappeared  
6 before?

7 A I don't believe, no.

8 Q Not to your knowledge?

9 A No.

10 Q At the bottom of that page, under the date entry  
11 November 29th, I will read for the record.

12 Ms. Cameron reports:

13 Reportee called. Said she received a call  
14 that hung up. She said call came from  
15 [and it's a telephone number I won't read].  
16 I called this number. A woman answered.  
17 Said they had a party all night. Everyone  
18 was gone by 6 a.m. Said Ariel was there with  
19 a woman named Tanya. That's all she knew.

20 Next paragraph.

21 Called reportee. Advised her of above and  
22 that we would probably cancel report as it  
23 appears she is around, partying, just as  
24 reportee suspected. She agreed.

25 Now, I will pause right there. Were you

1           aware of this event being described in these notes  
2           happening?

3           A    Uh, my sister had told me about them, yes.

4           Q    Okay. In your recollection, does this accurately  
5           reflect what your sister's response was to Ms.  
6           Cameron, that, and I will go back to the  
7           paragraph, "She agreed that the file should be  
8           closed"?

9           A    No, no.

10          Q    In fact, your sister was quite upset?

11          A    Yes, she was.

12          Q    Can you tell us a bit about that?

13   THE COMMISSIONER: There's, there's a letter that Dorothy  
14                   Purcell --

15   MR. CHANTLER: We will turn to that.

16   THE COMMISSIONER: Oh, okay. Because that's already in  
17                   evidence, where --

18   MR. CHANTLER: Right.

19   THE COMMISSIONER: -- she has quite a different version of what  
20                   Ms. Cameron said.

21   MR. CHANTLER: She does, and I would like the witness to go  
22                   over that recollection of that, if I may.

23   THE COMMISSIONER: Okay. I just wanted to make sure that, that  
24                   we have that before the witness.

25   MR. CHANTLER: It will be, certainly. In fact, we can turn to

1           it right now.

2           Q   Ms. Purcell and Mr. Commissioner, if we can turn  
3           to tab 5. You recall, Ms. Purcell, your sister  
4           being quite upset with Ms. Cameron?

5           A   Yes, she was very upset.

6           Q   And she wrote a letter to that effect?

7           A   Yes, she did.

8           Q   And is this letter at tab 5 the letter she wrote?

9           A   Yes, it is.

10          Q   You have seen this recently --

11          A   Yes.

12          Q   -- in preparation for the hearing?

13          A   Yes.

14          Q   Can you read this letter please for the record and  
15          for the commissioner's benefit?

16          A   Yes.

17                    I went to police station to report Tanya  
18                    missing and --

19          Q   I'll stop you there just for a second and note the  
20          date. It was written January 22nd, --

21          A   Yes, January 22nd.

22          Q   -- 1997?

23          A   Yes.

24          Q   And for the record, it's RCMP-017-003943. Go  
25          ahead.

1           A           I went to the police station to report Tanya  
2                           missing and they told me to call 911 and they  
3                           referred me to Sandy Cameron who I thought  
4                           was a police officer. I told her when Tanya  
5                           went out and described her and the clothes  
6                           she was wearing. She asked me if she had a  
7                           drug problem and I told her Tanya was in the  
8                           rehab program before her baby was born. She  
9                           called a few days later and told me that  
10                          Tanya was a coke head that had abandoned her  
11                          child. She went on and on about it and said  
12                          she was going to call Social Services to  
13                          apprehend the baby, which made me feel even  
14                          worse and I swore at her and told her to shut  
15                          up, that I am the one calling in and she had  
16                          no right speaking about my daughter that way.  
17                          She finally shut up and told me to go ahead.  
18                          She called me one day and told me I must not  
19                          care too much about Tanya because I haven't  
20                          been calling her regularly. I was busy out  
21                          trying to find her and figured if she heard  
22                          anything she would call me. I had a phone  
23                          call around early in the morning and called  
24                          her that -- called her that I did a [I think  
25                          it's called a] star 69 and gave her the

1                   number and she called and the girl on the  
2                   other end said there was partying. Sandy  
3                   asked her if --

4                   Q    You can say "POI".

5                   A    -- POI3603 was there with Tanya and she said  
6                   yes. Sandy called me back and said Tanya was  
7                   out having fun doing drugs and had abandoned  
8                   her child and the police were not going to  
9                   waste their time trying to find her. I asked  
10                  her if it ever occurred to her that POI3603  
11                  set the call up so the police and everyone  
12                  else would stop looking for her. She told me  
13                  again that Tanya is a coke head that  
14                  abandoned her child and hung up on me. I  
15                  have been looking since by myself with the  
16                  help of friends until someone steered me  
17                  towards Native Police Liaison.

18                  Signed by:

19                                 Dorothy Purcell, 6088 McKinnon Street,  
20                                 Vancouver.

21                  Q    That's okay. You can stop there.

22                                 Ms. Purcell, are you aware of any response  
23                                 received by your sister or by anyone in the family  
24                                 from the Vancouver Police Department to this  
25                                 letter?

1 A No, I'm not.

2 Q And this letter was, in fact, sent to the  
3 Vancouver Police Department; is that correct?

4 A Uh, I believe so, yes.

5 Q Are you aware of any response by the Vancouver  
6 Police Department to investigate Sandy Cameron's  
7 behaviour --

8 A No, none.

9 Q -- in response to this letter?  
10 Did Sandy Cameron respond to your sister or  
11 to you or anyone in the family --

12 A No.

13 Q -- after receiving this letter?

14 A No.

15 Q Was anything at all done in response to this  
16 letter?

17 A Nothing that I am aware of.

18 Q Now, your sister mentions at the end of that  
19 letter that she was put in touch with the  
20 Vancouver Police Native Liaison Society. Do you  
21 recall that?

22 A Yes.

23 Q Do you recall her getting involved with that  
24 office?

25 A Yes, I do.



1 Q And were you also involved with that office? Did  
2 you go along with her?

3 A I had met some of the people she was involved  
4 with, yes.

5 Q Okay. How long after Tanya disappeared did your  
6 family first get involved with that office? Just  
7 roughly. Was it a couple of months?

8 A It was -- I'm sorry, I don't recall.

9 Q Sure. The record suggests that it was a couple of  
10 months after. Uhm, the first missing person  
11 report was in early November. By the end of  
12 November, Ms. Cameron had closed that file. And  
13 it was in January that your family attended the  
14 VP-NLS. Does that accord with your recollection?

15 A That sounds about right.

16 Q All right.

17 A Approximately.

18 Q And if we turn next to a document at tab 3 of the  
19 brief. For the record, RCMP-017-003897. This is  
20 another Vancouver Police Department missing  
21 persons report, same form we saw before. The date  
22 on the top of this document is January 23rd, 1997,  
23 and again, the person being reported missing is  
24 Tanya Marlo Holyk.

25 Midway down the page, we can see under

1 "person reporting absence" that, again, it was  
2 your sister, Dorothy, reporting the absence. And  
3 towards the bottom of the page, "reported to," we  
4 can see, if we squint, the name "Jay Johns" who we  
5 know was a Vancouver Police Native Liaison officer  
6 at the VPNLS at that time.

7 So, do you recall your sister meeting with  
8 Constable Jay Johns and reporting your sister's  
9 disappearance to him, having been unsuccessful, I  
10 suppose you could say, with your earlier efforts?

11 A No, I don't.

12 Q Okay. Are you sure? You have seen this document  
13 in preparation for today's hearings? And you  
14 recall your sister attending the VPNLS. This  
15 document merely confirms that your sister filed  
16 another missing person report with the Vancouver  
17 Police Department.

18 A Oh, he is with the Native Police --

19 Q That's right.

20 A -- Liaison.

21 Q That's right.

22 A Oh, okay. Yes.

23 Q So, this jogs your memory?

24 A I'm sorry, yes.

25 Q And you recall this happening?

1 A Yes.

2 Q Yes. What do you recall happening after your  
3 sister engaged the Native Liaison office?

4 A Uh, I remember meeting two women that work there  
5 with the Native Police Liaison, Freda Ens and  
6 Marilyn Johnny.

7 Q Hm-hmm?

8 A And they were -- they had a -- they were in touch  
9 with my sister all the time about her daughter  
10 missing.

11 Q And how was the family and your report of Tanya's  
12 disappearance received by that office?

13 A I don't recall.

14 Q Did you feel they were being helpful?

15 A I don't think there was very much done about it.

16 Q Okay.

17 A Uhm, I, I didn't recall anything. I think there  
18 was posters put up or something like that.

19 Q Okay. If we turn to tab 4, we have another set of  
20 handwritten notes from around this time, RCMP-  
21 017-003876. And these notes haven't been  
22 identified, but we can suspect that there is  
23 somebody -- reading the context, these notes, we  
24 can suspect they're somebody at the Vancouver  
25 Police Missing Persons Unit.

1           The first entry is dated January 23rd, which  
2           is the same date of the missing person report that  
3           we just looked at, the second one in relation to  
4           Tanya's disappearance, and the note says:

5           Called mother. She filed report with Native  
6           Liaison Unit. Has been looking for daughter  
7           since October '96.

8           And the rest of the page is in someone else's  
9           handwriting. We believe this to be Sandy  
10          Cameron's handwriting, not that it is, is too  
11          important for these purposes.

12          But midway down the page under an entry  
13          that's a bit obscure, but appears to be January  
14          30th, the entry reads:

15          Call from Johns -- discussed they are aware  
16          and making inquiries.

17          So, what this suggests is that Constable Jay  
18          Johns assumed some responsibility for the missing  
19          person investigation into Tanya's disappearance.  
20          Does that accord with your recollection, that this  
21          officer, Constable Jay Johns was going to be  
22          helping the family and making inquiries?

23          A I'm sorry, could you repeat that?

24          Q Do you recall Constable Jay Johns agreeing to help  
25          the family and make inquiries?

1 A No, I'm sorry, I don't recall.

2 Q Okay. Did your sister have any discussions with  
3 you about Constable Johns?

4 A No.

5 Q Okay. Over the page, same tab, the first date  
6 entry again is obscured, but I believe it to be  
7 April 17th of that year, 1997, the entry reads:  
8 Contacted DC Johns, asked if they had  
9 interviewed boyfriend yet. Said they got  
10 beat guys looking for him. Haven't found him  
11 yet.

12 Okay? So, again, I will ask if you have any  
13 recollection of the fact that, at that time, they  
14 were looking for Tanya's boyfriend and hadn't been  
15 able to find him?

16 A Uhm, I, I do recall Dorothy mentioning something  
17 to that effect.

18 Q Okay.

19 A Or that she had reported.

20 Q And did you or Dorothy know where the boyfriend  
21 was?

22 A No, I didn't know.

23 Q You didn't know where he was?

24 A No, I had no idea.

25 Q Did you know where he might have spent time in the

1                   evenings or in the daytime?

2           A    Oh, I know that he hung around the Downtown  
3                   Eastside.

4           Q    Okay. Any more specific information than that?

5           A    Uhm, the Hastings area, off Hastings and Main,  
6                   that area.

7           Q    Would it be fair to say you had some information  
8                   about the boyfriend? You knew his, certainly, you  
9                   certainly knew his name and you knew --

10          A    Yes.

11          Q    -- where he had hung out?

12          A    I think it was the Pigeon Park area they call it.

13          Q    Okay.

14          A    Pony's Cabaret, that area of town.

15          Q    And did --

16          A    I -- sorry?

17          Q    Did Constable Johns or another police officer come  
18                   to you and ask you for any information you might  
19                   have about those boyfriends --

20          A    No.

21          Q    -- that boyfriend?

22          A    No.

23          Q    Are you aware of them approaching Dorothy and  
24                   interviewing her or asking her these questions?

25          A    Uh, yes, I believe so, because he would have been

1                   one of the last people to have seen Tanya.

2                   Q   My question is, did the police approach Dorothy?

3                   A   Oh, uh, uhm, I don't recall.

4                   Q   Now, the record suggests that nothing much was  
5                   done on this file for some months, and I say that  
6                   because there are no further notes into the  
7                   investigation until 1998, March 16th. The  
8                   following year comes around and there is a note  
9                   suggesting a Detective Al Howlett of the Vancouver  
10                  Police Department's Missing Persons Unit receives  
11                  the file, and this is over the page, the same tab  
12                  4. Were you aware of Detective Al Howlett getting  
13                  involved in the search for Tanya?

14                  A   Uhm, my sister had mentioned once to me and said  
15                  that he was supposed to call, or he was supposed  
16                  to call me.

17                  Q   Okay.

18                  A   I'm not sure what about though.

19                  Q   Well, I will perhaps just take you to a couple of  
20                  the notes and see if they accord with your  
21                  recollection or if you have any reason to disagree  
22                  this is what happened. Uhm, it appears that  
23                  Detective Al Howlett gets the file, and this is  
24                  now approximately 15 or 16 months after Tanya's  
25                  disappearance. And over the page, I am now at

1 RCMP-17-003879, date entry April 21st, 1998, time  
2 8:30. He writes:

3 Attended 3243 Vimy Crescent and interviewed  
4 Gary [we'll call him].

5 Now, this is the first entry suggesting that  
6 the police interviewed the ex-boyfriend and the  
7 father of Tanya's child, Gary. And again, this is  
8 approximately 16 months after her disappearance.  
9 Are you aware -- were you aware of this interview  
10 happening?

11 A No.

12 Q And as far as you know, your sister was or wasn't  
13 aware?

14 A Uhm, as far as I know, yes.

15 Q As far as you are aware, your sister was not  
16 aware --

17 A No, she wasn't.

18 Q -- this interview happened?

19 A No, she didn't know.

20 Q And you have no reason to disbelieve the record  
21 which suggests this was the first interview of  
22 Gary S?

23 A Yes.

24 MR. CHANTLER: Mr. Commissioner, I apologize for how awkward  
25 some of this evidence is to put forward to the



1                   commission. Ideally, it wouldn't be going in this  
2                   way, but we have a, a vague and cryptic record --

3   THE COMMISSIONER: Yes.

4   MR. CHANTLER: -- and we are trying to have the commission  
5                   understand how these files --

6   THE COMMISSIONER: No, I understand.

7   MR. CHANTLER: -- and it's very difficult.

8                   Q   Just to be clear, Ms. Purcell, were you ever  
9                   interviewed by a member of the Vancouver Police  
10                  Department in relation to Tanya's disappearance?

11                  A   No, not that I recall. It's been so long ago.

12                  Q   Do you have any understanding of why you might not  
13                  have been interviewed, any reason to suggest for  
14                  that?

15                  A   No, I would assume that I would be one of the  
16                  people that they would talk to, seeing I was so  
17                  close to the child and to Tanya and having her  
18                  brought up in my own home and such.

19                  Q   And you were able and willing to be interviewed  
20                  throughout this time period?

21                  A   I certainly was.

22                  Q   Are you aware of any steps that were taken on the  
23                  file in the investigation for Tanya in later  
24                  years, beyond what I have taken you to already,  
25                  '99, 2000, 2001?

1 A No.

2 Q When did you learn that Tanya's DNA had been found  
3 on the Picktons' property?

4 A Uhm, I can't recall the year. I think it was --  
5 uhm, it would have been the same time as my  
6 sister. She was the one who had told me about it.

7 Q The record suggests her DNA was found in October  
8 2002.

9 A Yes, that sounds about --

10 Q Approximately eight months after Robert Pickton  
11 was arrested. And does that accord with your  
12 recollection as to the time you were told?

13 A Yes, yes.

14 Q There is no suggestion that I can see in the  
15 record of the Vancouver Police attending Tanya's  
16 last-known place of residence. Are you aware of  
17 the police attending her last-known residence --

18 A No, I'm not.

19 Q -- and looking for clues there?

20 A No.

21 Q Were other members of the family interviewed?

22 A Not that I'm aware of.

23 Q So, if I'm to repeat your evidence just briefly  
24 and just have you agree, the family reports Tanya  
25 missing in November '96, November 3rd.

1 A Yes.

2 Q After some initial communication between the  
3 family and the Missing Persons Unit, Sandy  
4 Cameron, --

5 A Yes.

6 Q -- the file was closed at the end of the November.

7 A Yes.

8 Q The family embarks on its own search, continues  
9 its own search perhaps for a couple of months?

10 A Yes.

11 Q Your sister learns of the Vancouver Police Native  
12 Liaison Society?

13 A Yes.

14 Q She engages the help of Freda Ens and Marilyn  
15 Johnny?

16 A Yes.

17 Q And files a report with, with Constable Jay Johns;  
18 correct?

19 A Yes.

20 Q You are not aware of much that was done beyond  
21 that?

22 A No, I'm not.

23 Q And it was years later in 2002 that your family  
24 was advised that Pickton was -- sorry, that  
25 Tanya's DNA was found on the Picktons' property?

1 A Yes.

2 Q In, in summary, in a sense, how do you feel about,  
3 overall, the police response to your family's  
4 report of Tanya's disappearance and your efforts  
5 to engage them in a search?

6 A Uh, I feel that there could have been more done.  
7 I am really rather -- it's frustrating, because I,  
8 I always wonder why nobody else in my family was  
9 ever interviewed, myself included, because I was  
10 very close to my sister at the time and Tanya was  
11 brought up like a daughter alongside of my  
12 daughter. And nobody had ever interviewed me to  
13 any -- extensively, or anybody else in the family,  
14 because she had visited my brothers and such. And  
15 it seemed like there was, there wasn't enough done  
16 to try to find her.

17 My sister had done the work, a lot of work on  
18 her own, tried to find her daughter, phone calls,  
19 visiting places she might have been, talking to so  
20 many people. It got to a point where people were  
21 approaching us and always asking, "Have you found  
22 Tanya yet?" Because that made us realize how many  
23 people were out there helping us.

24 But I'm afraid that we never had any real  
25 contact with the police, as far as the

1 investigation was going. I had no knowledge that  
2 anything was being done. And, and I, I feel that  
3 if it had been done properly, perhaps this man  
4 would have been found sooner and perhaps a few  
5 more lives would have been saved and no further  
6 families would have gone through what ours had to,  
7 losing Tanya. She was a large part of all of our  
8 lives. It was like losing my own child. And I  
9 just wish more had been done.

10 Q You have travelled into town from Surrey to attend  
11 this commission and had the courage to testify.  
12 Why have you come here and what do you hope to get  
13 out of this process and what do you hope it  
14 achieves?

15 A That the lives of these women that went missing,  
16 with my niece, is not in vain, and that if  
17 something like this were to happen, that perhaps  
18 more would be -- more investigations would be  
19 held, it would be looked at more closely, people  
20 would listen.

21 Those that are responsible to do the search  
22 and the investigations into missing women, even if  
23 they are, what I believe some people consider  
24 throw-away people, to be reminded that they could  
25 be their own children. They come from families

1           such as mine, that really love her, although we  
2           weren't able to save her from the life that she  
3           fell into. That perhaps the consideration for  
4           these women would be a little more, would be  
5           perhaps deeper, and such a waste of time wouldn't  
6           be spent looking the other way while more women go  
7           missing, just because they aren't really  
8           considered a part of society.

9           And I certainly hope that the media looks at  
10          them a little more kindly and realizes --  
11          remembers that when they write about these women,  
12          these women are our children. We read what they  
13          write and we're the ones that are hurt the most.

14          And I'm never ever going to forget them  
15          because -- I just wish that the investigation had  
16          gone deeper and not be allowed to go so stale. I,  
17          I wish I had her back. I know I can't, but I wish  
18          more had been done about her, that's all.

19          Q    Do you have any suggestions, Ms. Purcell, for this  
20          commission, for how the Vancouver Police  
21          Department could have responded better in your  
22          family's case?

23          A    Perhaps dealing a little more closely with the  
24          family, the people that knew them, and assisting  
25          us in how we could go about helping them find our

1 children, helping each other.

2 Q Did you feel like an important part of the  
3 investigation?

4 A Not at all.

5 Q Do you feel the Vancouver Police Native Liaison  
6 Society was a helpful service to your family in  
7 this case?

8 A Uh, as far as the social work area, yes.

9 Q Okay.

10 A Freda and Marilyn were very kind, pointing us in  
11 the important directions to counselling and for  
12 such things in that area.

13 Q So, you feel that such a service is an important  
14 component of policing in the Downtown Eastside?

15 A Yes, getting in touch with the families as they  
16 did, yes, including us in the search. That was  
17 very important. I would have believed they  
18 probably found out things about Tanya that the  
19 police hadn't even perhaps tried to find and might  
20 have found through interviewing others, such as  
21 myself. And I do also believe that perhaps it  
22 would have helped if we had been interviewed in  
23 both situations, when it was reported at the time  
24 and perhaps later. I see there's things written  
25 here, but I don't understand really how it has

1           helped the investigation.

2           Q   And you are unhappy with the length of time that  
3           it took for the police to take important steps in  
4           the investigation?

5           A   I found that to be very frustrating.  Nothing had  
6           been done for so long that it, I almost feel like,  
7           and I know it's probably not you, but I almost  
8           feel like they had better things to do than to  
9           look for her.  I was beginning to think maybe that  
10          they thought that what Sandy Cameron had said  
11          about her was true, so it wasn't really worth much  
12          more time spent on her case.

13          Q   Who gave you that impression, or is it just a  
14          general impression you have?

15          A   I, I guess it's just the general impression that  
16          nothing was being done, nothing enough was being  
17          done for her, that she had just become a file, a  
18          number and put aside until -- I just don't think  
19          there was enough done that would -- nobody talked  
20          to me, talked to my brothers, my other sister.  
21          And I don't understand why they weren't even  
22          approached.  They grew up -- I mean, they saw her  
23          grow up also and she visited them.  So, I don't  
24          know.  I just don't understand why.

25          Q   Is there anything I haven't asked you that you



1 wish to tell this commission?

2 A I, I had written some stuff down last night. Is  
3 it okay for me to refer to my notes?

4 Q Yes, of course.

5 THE COMMISSIONER: Yes.

6 THE WITNESS: Having played the role of mother, father, single  
7 parent, and observing others in the same capacity,  
8 I have come to realize just how faded the  
9 boundaries have become for parental guidance to a  
10 child. We now understand how, once a familial  
11 chain, the familial chain has been broken, it will  
12 take a few generations to begin to secure it once  
13 again.

14 The aboriginal family chain is still in  
15 indeterminate stages. Most, if not all, have been  
16 witness to someone we know and love dismissing  
17 their dignity or self-love for drink, drugs or  
18 companionship. It becomes a self-medication -- a  
19 self-medicated shroud. We should all be able to  
20 see that this is done to deflect hurt, anxieties,  
21 powerlessnesses (sic) put upon them at some time  
22 or another in our society, and we call them  
23 ignorant.

24 Initiative always began with an individual  
25 and worked its way up to universal. If what has

1           happened on the Pickton pig farm has taught our  
2           society and law enforcement anything, that all of  
3           those lives are not lost in vain. Please help  
4           those that can't help themselves any longer.

5           Q   Anything else, Ms. Purcell?

6           A   That I hope that perhaps we can reflect on what  
7           has happened at the Pickton pig farm and have --  
8           when women go missing, that perhaps we could do a  
9           little more about it and not sweep it under the  
10          rug, and remember that those people are attached  
11          to others. We always call our families "circles"  
12          and when that circle is broken, it takes a very  
13          long time to mend. And I hope that now, when they  
14          go forward to search for women, they don't look at  
15          their background, they look at the person. Thank  
16          you.

17         THE COMMISSIONER: Thank you.

18         MR. CHANTLER: Those are my questions.

19         THE COMMISSIONER: Thank you, Mr. Chantler, for your questions.

20                 Yes, Ms. Hunt.

21         MS. HUNT: Mr. Commissioner, just given Ms. Purcell's note, do  
22                 you think it would be an opportune time to have a  
23                 break so that I could start on my questions  
24                 just --

25         THE COMMISSIONER: All right. We will have a break.

1 MS. HUNT: Thank you.

2 THE REGISTRAR: This hearing will now recess for 15 minutes.

3 **(PROCEEDINGS ADJOURNED AT 10:40 A.M.)**

4 **(PROCEEDINGS RESUMED AT 11:02 A.M.)**

5 THE REGISTRAR: Order. This hearing is now resumed.

6 MS. HUNT: Thank you, Mr. Commissioner. I just, I wanted to be  
7 observant of the fact that we are working within  
8 the terms of reference but I am proposing with Ms.  
9 Purcell to go back and fill in more of the details  
10 of her life as it pertains to the aboriginal  
11 experience and as representative -- as counsel.

12 THE COMMISSIONER: Yes.

13 **CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. HUNT:**

14 Q Okay. Ms. Purcell, can you show me on the map  
15 that's right beside you the traditional territory  
16 of your people? You are pointing to the  
17 Secwepemc?

18 A Yes.

19 Q Thank you. And you said that your, your mother  
20 Lillian was from --

21 A Skatin?

22 Q -- Skatin.

23 A It was originally called "Skookumchuk".

24 Q And is that a band that exists today?

25 A Yes, it is.

1 Q Can you generally point to where that band is  
2 located on the other map that sets out all the  
3 bands in British Columbia with the red dots? And  
4 can you show me or generally explain to us where  
5 that's located in BC?

6 A It's past Pemberton area, the Whistler area. You  
7 go through there about a, maybe an hour's drive  
8 into -- along the river.

9 Q Okay. And you said your father's name was Alec  
10 Purcell?

11 A Yes.

12 Q And can you tell me, he was from Douglas --

13 A Port Douglas.

14 Q -- Port Douglas. And can you show -- he's also  
15 from the same nation?

16 A Yes, he is.

17 Q And is his band also on that map?

18 A It is, but it's just a little further down, about  
19 50 miles up from Harrison Hot Springs, at the  
20 opposite end of the lake.

21 Q And were your parents legally married?

22 A Yes, they were.

23 Q And how were they married as far as ceremony?

24 A Oh, well, they used to get a pastor or a priest to  
25 come in once every few months, and then groups

1                   that wanted to get married, they all got married  
2                   at once in the same church.

3                   Q    And was there a church in the community?

4                   A    Uh, yes, they built their own church.

5                   Q    And what community were you and your parents  
6                   living in at that time?

7                   A    We were living in Port Douglas at the time.

8                   Q    Port Douglas?

9                   A    Yes.

10                  Q    And --

11                  A    And we moved to I believe Skatin later, at  
12                  Skookumchuk.

13                  Q    And was it a more traditional lifestyle your  
14                  parents lived?

15                  A    Yes. There was a lot of loggers and fishermen at  
16                  the time.

17                  Q    Okay. And you said from this marriage between  
18                  Alec and your mom, Lillian, there was, including  
19                  yourself, eight children?

20                  A    Uh, yes, there was.

21                  Q    But there was --

22                  A    Two were -- died at birth. We didn't use  
23                  hospitals back then. My grandmother delivered all  
24                  of us.

25                  Q    Okay. In the home?

1 A Yes.

2 Q So, is your grandmother sort of the midwife of the  
3 community?

4 A Uh, I'm really, I'm really, I'm really not sure.  
5 I just know that she delivered my mother's  
6 children.

7 Q Okay.

8 A Her daughter's children I should say.

9 Q Yes. So, you had -- your first eldest brother  
10 would have been -- or is it sister?

11 A My first -- her name was Hazel Monica. She died  
12 at childbirth.

13 Q And then after that?

14 A Uhm, my brother, Dominic, he died also in  
15 childbirth.

16 Q And then Ron?

17 A And the next brother was named Ron Purcell.

18 Q And Dorothy?

19 A Dorothy, which is my niece's mother.

20 Q And Joseph?

21 A My brother Joseph, Hector and my sister, Monica,  
22 and then there's me. I am the youngest.

23 Q And, and Dorothy, she had two children. One,  
24 Tanya --

25 A Yes.

1 Q -- and then what about her other daughter?  
2 A She had a daughter named Crystal.  
3 Q And was Crystal younger?  
4 A No, she is older. She was born in 1969 I believe.  
5 Q Sorry, yes. And where is she?  
6 A She was -- my sister had given her up for adoption  
7 when she was about three years old, and she's now  
8 living, uh, in I believe Klemtu.  
9 Q Okay. Is that the First Nation community of  
10 Klemtu?  
11 A Yes, it is.  
12 Q Do you know where that is on the map?  
13 A No, I'm sorry, I don't.  
14 Q Are they members of the band --  
15 A Yes.  
16 Q -- in Klemtu?  
17 A Yes, they are. She was adopted into members of --  
18 from members of the band.  
19 Q Okay. And so you're living a traditional -- your  
20 parents were living a traditional lifestyle and  
21 your father, he's working, logging, fishing?  
22 A Yes, he is.  
23 Q And your mother, she's caring for all the  
24 children?  
25 A Yes.

1 Q Did your parents speak their traditional language?

2 A Yes, they did.

3 Q And your grandparents, were they there?

4 A My grandparents, and actually, I have a great-  
5 grandmother that didn't speak English. She only  
6 spoke her language.

7 Q Your parents would be speaking their own language  
8 first and then English was their second language?

9 A Yes.

10 Q And did you speak the language?

11 A Uhm, I did until I was very young and then I think  
12 -- I know I spoke it at the age of three is what I  
13 was told. And when my mother left there, I, I  
14 never spoke it again I guess.

15 Q Hmm.

16 A I remember maybe one or two words.

17 Q And can you tell me what was the first sort of  
18 negative experience or impact in your family life  
19 as you were experiencing that?

20 A Uh, my, when my father died, he passed away in a  
21 car accident a month before I was born, and not  
22 too long after, my mother married my father, John,  
23 my stepfather, John. And her -- my mother, at the  
24 time, her eldest brother was the chief of her  
25 band. And because she had married my stepfather,



1                   who is non-native, she was forced to leave the  
2                   band and her house and everything.

3                   Q    So that's talking about the provisions under the  
4                   *Indian Act* where you lose your status if you marry  
5                   someone that's not a native?

6                   A    Yes, that's it.

7                   Q    Okay. Have you ever seen a copy of the *Indian*  
8                   *Act*?

9                   A    Uh, I don't recall. I think I have read something  
10                  about it somewhere.

11                 Q    Have you -- so, you don't know whether the *Indian*  
12                 *Act* was ever translated into your own people's  
13                 language?

14                 A    Oh, I have no idea.

15                 Q    You haven't seen that at all. Do you -- how old  
16                 are you again? You're in your --

17                 A    Fifty-five.

18                 Q    Twenty-nine?

19                 A    Yeah.

20                 Q    Okay. So, because of the provisions under the  
21                 *Indian Act*, you moved off the reserve. Your  
22                 family now is living where?

23                 A    You mean after Skatin or Skookumchuk?

24                 Q    Yes.

25                 A    We moved to Chilliwack.

1 Q And --

2 A The outskirts of Chilliwack.

3 Q And did your mother and John have more children?

4 A Yes, she had -- they had six more children.

5 Q And --

6 A There was four boys and two girls.

7 Q I wanted to ask you about the experience you had  
8 when you were young. I think, I'm not sure if it  
9 was before you left Skookumchuk into Chilliwack,  
10 but when you had an experience with your health.

11 A Oh, oh, I, I ended up with TB, and I was very  
12 young, and I ended up going to what I thought was  
13 Chilliwack Hospital but apparently it was the  
14 Vancouver General Hospital, which I discovered  
15 when I, when I had to go get tested. And they had  
16 a, still had an x-ray of my lungs, and they were  
17 very tiny lungs.

18 And I recall when I was there, my mother and  
19 my stepfather leaving, and I was crying for them.  
20 And the nurse, a nurse came in and took me to  
21 bring me into the bath, to take a bath, and she  
22 used what seemed to be more like a scrub brush  
23 that you'd clean up a bathroom with. And she was  
24 scrubbing my skin as I was standing up and calling  
25 me a dirty, little Indian as she was -- it felt

1           like she was scraping my skin off. And I didn't  
2           understand it, because I didn't know what an  
3           Indian was at the time.

4           Q   Thank you. So, who built this house that your  
5           family lived in?

6           A   My stepfather built it for my mother for this --  
7           he was a carpenter, house builder, construction.  
8           He had his own construction business, too, for a  
9           while.

10          Q   And how was family life with your mother and John?

11          A   As normal as it can be I guess with that many  
12          children.

13          Q   So, how many kids was there altogether then?

14          A   There was eight and --

15          A   There was 12 of us living in, I believe it was a  
16          seven-bedroom house.

17          Q   And what was the next major event that happened to  
18          your family life?

19          A   My family life? Uh --

20          Q   Your mother's health?

21          A   Oh, my mother ended up getting cancer. I'm not  
22          sure what type exactly. It was her womb. And she  
23          was very sick for quite some time. I remember her  
24          walking slowly through the house and in pain all  
25          the time. And there was a time when she went to

1 the hospital and she passed away in the hospital.

2 I believe I was about eight years old. And my

3 little -- my youngest brother was still a baby.

4 Q And did -- so, did John raise all of the children  
5 on his own?

6 A Yes, he did. He tried.

7 Q Was there any court issues with his care for all  
8 of you children?

9 A Well, apparently he was told that because he  
10 didn't adopt the Purcell children, which is, I am  
11 the last one, the youngest one, he wasn't able to  
12 keep us, because we weren't his natural children.  
13 So, he had to go to court and name us all and go  
14 through our names and our birth dates and give us  
15 up to the system. So, we were, the four of us,  
16 the four younger ones were all put in foster homes  
17 and the two oldest ones went on their own way.

18 Q And you went into a foster home with your sister?

19 A Yes, we were put together. My brothers, Joseph  
20 and Hector, were put into separate group homes.

21 Q And why did they split you up?

22 A Uh, I, I'm really not sure.

23 Q Okay. And where did you and Monica go?

24 A We went to a place called "Better Crossing" that  
25 was an army camp. There was a, a corporal and his

1                   wife and he had two children that took us in. And  
2                   I guess we were -- yeah, it was a foster home.

3                   Q   And what was your experience like there?

4                   A   Uh, I was sexually abused by both the son and the  
5                   daughter.

6                   Q   The children of the base family?

7                   A   Yes.

8                   Q   Uhm, and how were you treated there, as far as  
9                   part of the family?

10                  A   We did housecleaning and such, uhm, while the  
11                  brother and sister were made to just keep their  
12                  own room. My sister and I were, we were to clean  
13                  the house as the help, cleaners of the house,  
14                  vacuum the living room and clean the stairs, do  
15                  the dishes, that type of thing.

16                  Q   So, you were doing more of the general housework  
17                  for the entire family?

18                  A   Yes.

19                  Q   And how long did you stay there for?

20                  A   I believe it was about three years.

21                  Q   And did you move together or what happened to you  
22                  and Monica?

23                  A   They had, I guess they had put in for a house and  
24                  they finally got their house. They had been  
25                  living in a three-bedroom apartment, a three-

1 storey apartment, what they called a private  
2 married quarters, and they had finally gotten a  
3 house to live in. And I, when they moved to the  
4 house, uh, there wasn't enough room for us. So,  
5 we slept in the basement until the -- they  
6 contacted, uh, the government and they placed --  
7 they looked for another foster home for us.

8 Q And did you move together?

9 A Yes, they kept us together, my sister and I.

10 Q Where did you go from there?

11 A We moved back to the town we grew up in, Agassiz,  
12 and we lived in -- with a farm, on a farm with a  
13 family of two, two girls and a boy.

14 Q And were those their own children or was that --

15 A Yes, it was.

16 Q And where did you go to school?

17 A We went to the ABC High School.

18 Q And did you have contact with your other two  
19 brothers and all of John's kids with Lila?

20 A No, my other two brothers stayed in, I assume they  
21 stayed in the same home. One was at Cultus Lake  
22 and one was at Chilliwack. And when we got there,  
23 we were told that we weren't allowed to have  
24 contact with our younger brothers and sisters.  
25 And when we asked why, they said it was because my

1           stepfather had told us that -- had told the  
2           ministry that we weren't to have any contact,  
3           although we were in the same school and the same  
4           town. We saw each other. But I, I went -- I  
5           talked to them and saw them anyway, irregardless  
6           of what I was told.

7           Q   Were you going to the same school as your --

8           A   Yes.

9           Q   -- other siblings?

10          A   Yes.

11          Q   And you were instructed not to speak to your  
12          brothers and sisters?

13          A   Yeah, we were told to not have any type of contact  
14          at all.

15          Q   Was anybody still speaking their own language at  
16          that time anymore?

17          A   No.

18          Q   Not even --

19          A   Well, I think my sister might have known a little  
20          bit. My mother didn't speak any to me at all  
21          anymore and --

22          Q   Okay.

23          A   Nothing but English in our house.

24          Q   And so what happened at this home? How long did  
25          you and your sister stay there?

1           A    We were there also for three years.  It was  
2                    actually one of my better experiences in a foster  
3                    home.  The, the family was quite, quite nice.  I  
4                    enjoyed living on the farm, given a lot of freedom  
5                    to be myself, because I, being a -- I believe I  
6                    was 12 when I moved there first.

7           Q    And when you say -- just if you could elaborate  
8                    on, what do you mean by, you could be yourself?  
9                    You enjoyed the farm.  Did you feel a part of the  
10                   family?

11          A    Well, more of a -- I could -- they had a large  
12                   area of woods and animals and I could go out and  
13                   be away.  I like to be by myself out in the woods  
14                   and stuff like that, be around the animals.  The  
15                   -- my foster father allowed me to be in the barn.  
16                   He taught me how to be around animals and milk a  
17                   cow and things like that.  There was always lots  
18                   of fruit trees and they had their own garden.

19          Q    There was no abuse there?

20          A    No.  Just, I guess we were more or less tolerated  
21                   by the other sisters and brothers, but there was  
22                   no abuse.  I don't -- my younger brother was a  
23                   little brat, but he was pretty good.  He was  
24                   tolerable.

25          Q    So, you felt a part of that family, but did you



1 still feel in a way that you were, uhm, foster  
2 children and that you were a little bit different  
3 than the rest of the family?

4 A Uhm, yes, I did, but I know my foster mother did  
5 try to draw me in, but I think that we were afraid  
6 to get too close. I think it had something to do  
7 with the last family we were living in. I kind of  
8 kept a distance. I think that being tolerated, I  
9 guess that was the, I thought because -- I think  
10 it was because I was afraid to get close, too  
11 close to anybody after my last experience.

12 Q And what happened after you were finished living  
13 there? Did you and your sister move again  
14 together or --

15 A No, my sister, she ran away actually from their  
16 home when she was -- she was still quite young.  
17 She must have only been about 15 maybe, 14 or 15.

18 And at that time, when I was living in that  
19 home, I found out that my 19-year-old brother had  
20 committed suicide here in Vancouver where he was  
21 residing at the time. So, I was allowed to go to  
22 his funeral. And I seen -- oh, no, my sister was  
23 -- I'm sorry, I can't recall. It was such a long  
24 time ago. We were all together at the house where  
25 I seen my brothers and sisters again for the first

1 time in quite a few years. And we were all  
2 together for my brother's funeral.

3 And after that, I was -- I went back to my  
4 foster home, and then I found out that my other  
5 brother, my eldest brother had also committed  
6 suicide by driving his car into, somewhere into a  
7 wall or a tree or a pole in Stanley Park. And I  
8 was allowed to come back again for that funeral.  
9 That was I believe about five months later. And  
10 when I went -- I didn't go back to the home after  
11 that. I didn't want to, because after the first  
12 time I went back after my first brother had died,  
13 I was being -- my youngest foster brother kept,  
14 kept at me about my brother committing suicide,  
15 and made me feel pretty bad about it all the time,  
16 and telling people that I went to school with  
17 about it. It was like I couldn't get away from  
18 it.

19 So, when I went to my older brother's  
20 funeral, I, I didn't go back there. I ran into my  
21 stepfather at the time, and he said I was welcome  
22 to live with him if I, if I wanted to. So, I said  
23 "yes" right away. And I moved in with him and  
24 called Social Services and told them about it and  
25 they says, "Well, you know, we have to bring you

1 back." And I told them, "Well, if you bring me  
2 back and I take off, you will know where to find  
3 me." So, I guess they understood I was quite  
4 serious about it and allowed me to stay where I  
5 was.

6 Q So, you went back with all your other brothers and  
7 sisters?

8 A No, just with my stepfather alone.

9 Q Okay.

10 A He was renovating a house, and so he had a bedroom  
11 for me. So, this was the beginning when all the  
12 family started getting back together. I was the  
13 first again to be, uhm -- I stayed with my  
14 stepfather. And later on, I, when I went to  
15 Vancouver to go back to school, I got a job and he  
16 called me, called us, looking for somebody to --  
17 that has to be over 18, 18 or over, to bring back  
18 his, his sons, my brothers, my four stepbrothers.  
19 They needed somebody 18 years and older. So, he  
20 called upon us, and I was the only one that said,  
21 "Yes, I'll go back, I'm 18," to help him bring his  
22 children back from foster homes that they had been  
23 put in.

24 Q Do you know why they were put in foster homes?

25 A Uhm, my stepfather I guess had developed a

1 drinking problem after my mother had passed away.  
2 He had lost -- I guess had gone through all their  
3 savings and he was very depressed, found it  
4 difficult to take care of the children, because it  
5 was hard to work and find a sitter, a babysitter  
6 to watch over them, because there was six children  
7 at the time. Yeah. So, they were all actually  
8 put into foster homes, the two sisters, once  
9 again, youngest sisters were put in homes  
10 together, and my, my three younger brothers were  
11 put into a home, and my brother was put into a  
12 home. My older -- my brother after me was put  
13 into a home by himself.

14 Q So, Earl was by himself?

15 A Yes.

16 Q And then Wayne and Alfred and Kenny were together?

17 A Yes.

18 Q And then Karen and Tina were together?

19 A Yes.

20 Q So, you have three homes there, and then you had  
21 you and your sister, Lila, that were in the  
22 farm --

23 A Monica.

24 Q Monica, sorry.

25 A Yes.

1 Q And then there would have been then your two  
2 brothers --  
3 A Joe and Hector.  
4 Q Deceased?  
5 A Yes.  
6 Q Okay. Okay. So, then you get back to help your  
7 stepfather get the children back. How many of the  
8 children came back?  
9 A The four brothers.  
10 Q Okay. And how did that go?  
11 A I was left alone with them a lot. I made the  
12 dinners. I helped clean the house and tended to  
13 the garden and made sure that they went to school,  
14 as best I could anyway. And it was very  
15 difficult, because they were all beginning to be  
16 much larger than me.  
17 Q So, it was, it was safe, but it was a handful?  
18 A Well, I wouldn't say a hassle. It was more --  
19 Q A handful.  
20 A Oh, a handful, okay.  
21 Q Yes.  
22 A Yes, it was quite a handful. Yes. It was almost  
23 beyond my doing, my ability, but somehow we  
24 managed.  
25 Q You were 18 then?

1 A Yes.

2 Q Yes, okay. So, where does it go from there? And  
3 where, where -- you said that Dorothy ran away.

4 A She ran away when she was 16, because she was left  
5 alone to take care of all of us children at the  
6 time. My eldest brother had been put into a, I  
7 guess a reform school. I'm not sure exactly why.  
8 And anyway, I guess when he left the reform  
9 school, he moved out on his own somewhere and my  
10 sister was left to take care of all of us by  
11 herself after my mother passed away.

12 And I guess she used to, her and her friend  
13 used to try to be teenagers and she didn't get  
14 along with my stepfather I guess after that. He,  
15 he was I guess still -- he was depressed and angry  
16 and I guess everything you are after your mother  
17 -- after your wife dies and you're left with all  
18 these children and bills to pay and --

19 Q So, what happened to you when you left -- or  
20 stayed there and you were 18 looking after the  
21 boys? What's the next major event that happened?

22 A I was looking for work. I found work, but I was  
23 laid off. So, I thought I would go to Vancouver  
24 and visit my brother, Joe, he was working at  
25 Vancouver at the time; and see my sister, Dorothy,

1                   who was living there also, and my sister, Monica.  
2                   And I believe -- it's quite a while ago. It's  
3                   hard for me to remember.

4                   Q    But you moved to Vancouver?

5                   A    Anyway, yes, I moved to Vancouver and I put myself  
6                   in school.

7                   Q    This is the business school you were talking  
8                   about?

9                   A    No, this is the high school. I wanted to get my  
10                  -- I wanted to graduate.

11                  Q    And at any of this time, are you struggling with  
12                  any issues within your own personal life?

13                  A    Uh, while I was in my, while I was in the family  
14                  home, I was sexually abused by a relative of ours.  
15                  I was about -- I was very young. I was -- I don't  
16                  even believe I was in school at the time. And my  
17                  sister, I mean, my sister who used to share the  
18                  same bed, she was sexually abused at the same  
19                  time.

20                  Q    Did that start to play itself out in your adult  
21                  life? Was there issues that came up for you  
22                  and --

23                  A    Well, I think it -- I think that's probably why I  
24                  was such an easy target when others came to force  
25                  their, their issues on, on me. I think it was

1           being told at such a young age to -- by an adult,  
2           what I considered an adult, to do what I was told  
3           and be quiet, that made me such an easy target  
4           later on in my years, until I was -- well, I'm not  
5           sure it ever stopped actually.

6           Q    You're still struggling as far as --

7           A    Yes, with the, the issues it left me with, yes.

8           Q    Yes.

9           A    The rest of my life, I, I believe it, it always  
10          had something to do with the way I handle things  
11          in my life.

12          Q    I just want to build on that a little bit more and  
13          ask you some questions about, uhm -- as the  
14          experience as an aboriginal woman you have gone  
15          from within living within your community and  
16          having a family life, and I haven't asked you much  
17          about the residential school. I am just  
18          wondering, do you know that of your immediate  
19          brothers and sisters, all of your brothers and  
20          sisters, your parents and your grandparents, were  
21          any of them part of the residential school  
22          experience?

23          A    I'm not sure as far as my grandparents. I am sure  
24          -- because I know my grandmother had more children  
25          after my -- after she left my grandfather. So,



1 I'm sure they did. My mother I believe was a  
2 residential school, I am not sure what to say, a  
3 victim I guess.

4 Uhm, when I thought about it later on, many  
5 years later, I thought how being brought up by  
6 Catholic and there was a thing we, back then that  
7 we were told it was a sin to take birth control.  
8 And I know that she had that type of thing pounded  
9 into her head, her beliefs, because they were  
10 always going to church and she actually made us --  
11 we even went to church too, as children. And I  
12 was wondering if that is where the -- was the idea  
13 behind her of having so many children. I mean,  
14 that was a lot of children. Even in her second  
15 marriage, she had six more children, and I am  
16 wondering if that also had something to do with  
17 her illness.

18 Q It's so hard to know because there were so many  
19 forces.

20 A Yes. Back then, there were so many things they  
21 said. Medicine wasn't as strong as it is today.

22 Q And so the experiences living within your  
23 traditional family, and then because of your mom's  
24 marriage, being forced to leave the community, and  
25 your mother lost her status as a result of that,

1 and did the children lose their status?

2 A Yes.

3 Q So, you were not part of your community anymore.  
4 You didn't have your status. What are the  
5 benefits that your status card gave you?

6 A I didn't get a status card until I was in my 40s  
7 sometime, and I was -- I guess my medical was  
8 covered. And as far as benefits go, I guess my  
9 medical.

10 Q It's pretty --

11 A I, I really wasn't sure.

12 Q Is your --

13 A I'm sorry. It didn't do much. I did all my own  
14 all my life pretty much, and sometimes with the  
15 help of the ministry. That's how I took care of  
16 my, my own medical issues throughout my life.

17 Q Social Services?

18 A Yes, when I was in foster homes.

19 Q So, your experience would be, if you were in  
20 foster care, you were getting your medical and  
21 your dental and whatnot through the Ministry of  
22 Children and Families, well, what is now --

23 A Yes. I believe back then, they were allotted  
24 certain amounts to foster families. They were  
25 given certain amounts, I think it was like \$25 a

1 month for clothing and anything else that we might  
2 need.

3 Q And then so, from getting it as a minor through  
4 the Ministry of Children and Families, and then as  
5 you get to an adult, would you say it's fair that  
6 the transition is that you go on SA and then you  
7 get your benefits through that program?

8 A Yes.

9 Q And then as you -- when you got your status card  
10 back, then you started to get it through Indian  
11 and --

12 A Yes.

13 Q -- Northern Affairs Canada?

14 A Yes.

15 Q All right, that's been your experience. You have  
16 never had any benefits from being an employee of  
17 working in a hospital or, or working for --

18 A When I was younger, I did pay for my own medical.  
19 Actually, I ended up paying for medical I didn't  
20 know -- I didn't have to. I paid over \$200 to  
21 medical once, and I only visited the doctor once,  
22 because I thought that was my responsibility. I  
23 never thought about it. But yeah, that's why I  
24 gave it and nobody told me at the time, but I  
25 didn't have to do that. I just had to pay my

1 doctor's fees. And it was kind of strange. But  
2 it made me feel good, to be able to take care of  
3 myself at that time, and my daughter.

4 Q Have you had any experiences where you have had,  
5 yourself or other friends, where they have had  
6 benefit programs, that if you are working for an  
7 institution, for example, you would get medical,  
8 you would get your dental, you would get a pension  
9 plan? Has that been part of your reality in  
10 growing up?

11 A No, I, I think I have always been part of the  
12 system, --

13 Q Okay.

14 A -- as far as medical care goes.

15 Q Okay. Would you say that was pretty typical of  
16 many of the people within aboriginal communities?

17 A I believe so.

18 Q I just wanted to ask you about alienation from the  
19 your own community and living within another  
20 community. Have you ever thought about the  
21 community that you're living in, uhm, being in a  
22 community, that you would like to be a part of  
23 local government or part of, uhm, any part of the  
24 system, the medical system, the local government,  
25 being interested in --

1 A You mean as far as working?

2 Q Uhm, just feeling like you are a part of the  
3 community and that jobs are available for you to  
4 be a part of the community?

5 A Uhm, I think all my life I've kind of been stuck  
6 between worlds. Like, my, my community, my, where  
7 I grew up, the people I have related to, and my  
8 family, we never went back to a reserve life.  
9 Like, we were -- like I said, none of us got our  
10 status until we were well into our -- like, I am  
11 the youngest one on that side. So, I was in my  
12 40s when I first got mine. And we rarely saw our  
13 families because we lived so far away, too. Once  
14 in a while, I had a, one of our uncles would  
15 visit, and it would take -- it was so far and few  
16 between, I don't really recall who was there. And  
17 it -- I kind of accidentally ran into my cousins.  
18 They used to come by on -- the school on the bus  
19 and I'd find out that I am related to them, so. I  
20 didn't feel I was part of that community, the  
21 people I am related to.

22 And growing up in, at a time when there was a  
23 lot of prejudice towards native people, thinking  
24 that all natives were dumb and alcoholic is the  
25 things that were put to me as -- I guess if you

1 get called "stupid" enough times, you start to  
2 believe it, what they say. And I had gone to a  
3 school where there was perhaps maybe three to five  
4 natives at any time, any given time. And I was  
5 always called -- and this was in the army camp  
6 area -- always called down because of my race.

7 And then growing up in an area in Agassiz  
8 where there were always natives around, always  
9 natives in the school, sharing an education, and  
10 then moving to a place where there was totally  
11 nobody to talk to that will understand what you  
12 are talking about, and being isolated, I guess the  
13 word is, among your peers.

14 Q Do you think that's possibly why there's a  
15 camaraderie or a closeness in the Downtown  
16 Eastside amongst all of the members that are down  
17 there, is that there is a common experience there?

18 A I, I would, I would believe so. Actually, I do  
19 know quite a few people from that area. I worked  
20 in certain areas where I'd had a chance to know  
21 quite a few people, natives, from work experience  
22 and just running into them in different areas of  
23 my life. And it seems to be the norm, is people  
24 that were in a residential school system, uhm,  
25 they all have similar experiences growing up and

1           this is, like, somebody starts to tell a story,  
2           it's almost like somebody else can finish it for  
3           them. It was kind of strange that way.

4           Q   And do you think the substance abuse and all those  
5           issues around that helped to try to forget it?

6           A   Uh, I think when I first heard the word "self-  
7           medicate," that hit it right on the nose. I  
8           believe that's exactly what these people are  
9           doing. I, myself, have done that. When the hurt  
10          has become too much and you can't deal with it,  
11          and you start off having a good time, and then  
12          later it's just when you realize how easy it is to  
13          forget things.

14          Q   Drink to forget?

15          A   Pardon me?

16          Q   Drink to forget?

17          A   Yes.

18          Q   That expression, drink to forget?

19          A   It almost seems like you are able to have fun  
20          without -- but then it also can turn around on you  
21          and make you severely depressed.

22          Q   Sure. Uhm, I just wanted to ask you about your  
23          experience with the policing institutions. And  
24          your evidence earlier today was, you know, they  
25          should have done more and, uhm, you talked about,

1           you know, you have had experiences with, as a  
2           young child with the ministry. You have had  
3           experiences with the hospital systems. You have  
4           had experiences now with the police investigation  
5           concerning Tanya. And I am just wondering about  
6           these institutions and your feeling towards these  
7           institutions generally?

8           A    Uh, I think that many, many of us growing up  
9           knowing, or assuming I should say, some of us  
10          saying "no" because that's how they feel about not  
11          being believed when somebody tells them something.  
12          The reason I never came forward -- oh, can I go  
13          back to that experience I had when I was in a  
14          foster home?

15          Q    Certainly.

16          A    We had not been there more than a day yet and I  
17          went out with my foster sister and her friend to  
18          go to a store, and they were saying they were  
19          going to make something. I said, "make something  
20          at the store?" I was curious. I went along. And  
21          when I got there, they taught me making something  
22          was stealing. They were taking popsicles and  
23          putting them under their shirts and walking away.  
24          So, not wanting to be chicken and stuff like they  
25          called me or -- I, I did it with them.



1                   And eventually the friend of my foster  
2                   sister, she got caught and she was -- she told her  
3                   parents that my foster sister taught her how to do  
4                   it, and then when her foster parents -- her  
5                   parents came to her and said, "Well, you know,  
6                   why, why did you teach her?" And she said, she  
7                   told them that my, myself and my sister, Monica,  
8                   taught her how to do it. And we kept telling her,  
9                   "No, we didn't. No, we didn't." They wouldn't  
10                  believe us. They, they -- we got punished for it.

11                  And from then on, we never believed that in  
12                  that home, that we were going to be believed  
13                  again. Because, of course, they're going to  
14                  believe their own child, their own daughter  
15                  against us. So, even when I was being sexually  
16                  abused by them, I never wanted to tell anybody. I  
17                  didn't want to tell them that, what was happening,  
18                  because I knew I wouldn't be believed either. So,  
19                  that kind of started a, I guess, I'm not sure what  
20                  the word is, a path that I had started to follow  
21                  for another couple of generations, that I would  
22                  never be believed.

23                  And I think a lot of the people that I have  
24                  met are on that same path. If they had tried to  
25                  tell somebody in residential school about the same

1 type of thing, they wouldn't be believed. They  
2 never thought they would be believed. And I think  
3 that's where you come into the same experiences.  
4 They're afraid to approach the police a lot.  
5 They're afraid because they don't think they'll be  
6 believed. And then when they do, and then they  
7 see, such as the case in the missing women, that  
8 what was done is the same thing that I  
9 experienced. We weren't consulted along with the  
10 investigation. And I think I started getting a  
11 little bit of that feeling, that whatever was  
12 going on, we weren't part of, and, and perhaps if  
13 we had the -- maybe they didn't believe us, that  
14 she was missing and not off partying and, and had  
15 abandoned her child. So, I think it kind of  
16 clumps us back into that same ball again.

17 Q Going back to answer my question about your  
18 feeling towards these different institutions over  
19 the years, is basically, "they're not going to  
20 believe us"?

21 A Yeah. Yes.

22 Q And if you had a concern today and you went to the  
23 police department, do you feel you would be  
24 believed?

25 A I, I kind of feel that I would be, I'm not sure

1           what the word is, that my statement would be taken  
2           if I went forward, but I'm not too sure how much  
3           would be done about it, you know. I am sorry to  
4           say, but my faith has kind of been clouded towards  
5           law enforcement in that area.

6           Q   Do you think it would help if there was aboriginal  
7           women more present and visible within the  
8           Department?

9           A   Could you say that again please?

10          Q   Do you think it would be -- do you think it would  
11          be -- do you think you would have more faith in  
12          the system, do you feel that you would be more  
13          believed if there was more representation of  
14          aboriginal women within the police department and  
15          other institutions?

16          A   Uhm, once again, it seems like we're going back to  
17          the common experience, and yes, I do believe that.

18          Q   Uhm, do you think it would be more believable --  
19          would you feel more believed if there was more  
20          aboriginal men working within these institutions?

21          A   Yes, I do. I would like to say also that I have  
22          been very fortunate that I have, anytime that I  
23          have approached police or they have approached me  
24          under duress or under, shall I say, unlikely  
25          circumstances, that I have always been treated

1 with respect and taken care of. And there is a  
2 big, big need for more police, because it's -- and  
3 as you are saying, also aboriginal. I think that  
4 would make it more approachable for them.

5 Q And from what you know about it, I mean, I know  
6 you talked about the circle and I know you said in  
7 your note, you know, like, restoring things back  
8 to the circle, and there is many circles within  
9 our communities about different things, and I am  
10 just going to call it, because it's the term  
11 that's used out there, "restorative justice".  
12 Could you say anything about restorative justice  
13 as it relates to your experience with Tanya and  
14 what's happened, even being in this process here  
15 today?

16 A I'm not sure I understand what you mean.

17 Q Yeah. What I'm talking about is, we are going  
18 through a process of fact finding of what  
19 happened, but restorative justice within the  
20 community, you talked about the circle, and just  
21 talking about -- maybe I should ask you what you  
22 mean by "the circle".

23 A Oh, okay. Uhm, I guess a major part of my life  
24 has always been, everything is brought back to  
25 what we call a circle, the circle of life from the

1 time you are born to the time that you move on,  
2 you pass on. The circle is, as you start as a  
3 child, and then you have the teen years there, as  
4 you're growing up, you always have family around  
5 you. The times that you are working to support  
6 yourself, your family, your circle keeps growing  
7 because your family gets larger. As people go on,  
8 the circle always gets stronger, because there is  
9 always somebody new coming in. As you get older,  
10 the wisdom that you pass on gets passed onto the  
11 next generation. And once you pass on, as I say,  
12 die, the wisdom is passed onto the next generation  
13 after generation and it stays within the circle.  
14 What I like to think of as the familial circle,  
15 all -- I'm not just related to the inner family.  
16 I'm related to every aboriginal person walking on  
17 this earth in one way or another because of our  
18 culture, our -- the way we were educated when we  
19 were, when we were, uhm, I guess before  
20 colonialism, what they call "colonialism".

21 Q Okay. Uhm, I just have a few more questions.  
22 Uhm, when you are talking about this circle, we're  
23 talking about relationships?

24 A Yes.

25 Q And these relationships also within the circle

1 include the non-native community as well?

2 A Oh, yes. Anybody we're connected to.

3 Q And that would include also what we consider in  
4 society as being the, uhm, the perpetrators, uhm,  
5 the bad people, the ones who have done bad things  
6 to other people, would they be part of that  
7 circle?

8 A I'm afraid they are. They have a place somewhere  
9 in there.

10 Q And, uhm, do you feel that the First Nation  
11 communities are ever going to get out to a solider  
12 place without the inclusion of everybody in the  
13 circle? Do we need everybody in the circle in  
14 order to get things back to a balance?

15 A Uhm, I think we have to look at everything in a  
16 circle and, and not ignore other things. Like,  
17 they're trying to heal right now the people from  
18 residential school. But what they're -- I feel  
19 hasn't been done as part of that process, is the  
20 healing of the people that they're -- those people  
21 that are touched as part of the circle, like, the  
22 children of and the children of the next, the two  
23 generations down. And now we see it's going into  
24 another generation, which will be the third  
25 generation, that's been touched by that tragedy.

1                   So when I mean the circle, I mean not just one  
2                   huge circle. I mean the inner circle as it keeps  
3                   getting larger.

4                   Q   And the individual people that have done bad  
5                   things, including within the institutions, to the  
6                   aboriginal people, they need to be part of the  
7                   healing and the circle?

8                   A   Yes. Because, I mean, I don't believe anybody  
9                   does that because they want to. I believe it's  
10                  because maybe it's, something has happened to them  
11                  and makes them that type of an ugly person inside.

12                  Q   And I just wanted to end with speaking about  
13                  Tanya's son, Gary Jr., and I want to ask you to  
14                  inform the inquiry about what his faith looks like  
15                  today as a result of this, and what you think,  
16                  where he is and what, if anything, needs to be  
17                  done for him to ensure that his life has a chance?

18                  A   Uh, the last time I spoke to him, it was at the  
19                  All Chiefs Inquiry, and he had, uh, well, if you,  
20                  to remind you, he lost his mother when he was  
21                  about I think 11 months old. He wasn't even quite  
22                  a year old yet. And he lost his father, I can't  
23                  recall his age at the time, but it was, like, two  
24                  days before his birthday. He was at his bedside  
25                  when his father passed on and the family was

1 around him. And he was shipped off, well, not  
2 shipped off. I couldn't take care of him because  
3 I have health issues myself.

4 After my sister passed on, he was then put  
5 into -- with his sister, another child, an elder  
6 child of his father's who lived in another  
7 province, and apparently, I guess she had issues  
8 of her own that I wasn't aware of at the time.  
9 She had had her own drug or alcohol issues. She  
10 couldn't handle him because of -- he has an  
11 illness also, and he was put in a foster home  
12 there. And I guess he has been brought back to  
13 Van -- brought back to BC, and is living with the  
14 original family that he was living with after my  
15 sister died.

16 He is 15, he's in school, and I think he  
17 might have missed out on a few things being taken  
18 away from all of us. He -- it seems to me that  
19 most of his life he's been surrounded by drugs,  
20 alcohol, violence, or people of that type. I'm  
21 not sure of how much of it has affected him, but I  
22 am sure it has. And I think he's going to  
23 perhaps have a very difficult time growing up and  
24 knowing who he is, because he is also part of a  
25 different cul -- also part of three different



1 types of cultures: native culture, black culture  
2 and his white culture. So, he's also going to be  
3 quite confused, and he's going to have a hard time  
4 of it. But he does know there is a lot of people  
5 here that love him and will do anything they can  
6 for him. I'm not sure if that's what you were  
7 looking for but that's --

8 Q I think for the children that are left behind, so  
9 it's good to know where they are, and I am just  
10 looking to inform the inquiry that it's not within  
11 the terms of reference, but it's part of the  
12 story. And I just want to thank you for sharing  
13 that, and if you had any closing that -- you know,  
14 I have asked you lots of questions -- if you had  
15 any closing thoughts around where we're going from  
16 here?

17 A Uhm, well, I would like to mention just not --  
18 about Gary. The reason I understand he's going to  
19 have a difficult life, because I also was left the  
20 same way without my father at a young age and lost  
21 my mother. And going through, when you're a  
22 person of a different colour, even though today,  
23 by today's standards, everybody gets along pretty  
24 much, I'm not sure why, but it does seem that we  
25 are put to a different side. It's just the way

1 things work I guess. I don't know. It's, uh --  
2 and the reason, like I said, I can -- I am  
3 familiar with the way, the things that he's gone  
4 through, and the road he is going to be taking,  
5 that hopefully, that he doesn't get involved in  
6 drugs and the seedier side of life I guess people  
7 like to call it.

8 Because when he grows up, he will know about  
9 his parents, both of them. He will know what was  
10 going on, one way or another. He knows some of it  
11 now, but I will be taking him aside and telling  
12 him the honest-to-God truth, about what happened  
13 to his mother and his father, about the inquiry,  
14 uh, what happened in his mother's -- to his  
15 mother's case and everything that relates to it,  
16 and I guess he will have to handle it from there.

17 So, the more I, the more I learn about how  
18 things are handled, hopefully that will help me  
19 make him understand a little more about the system  
20 and maybe even if any kind of criticism, maybe  
21 constructive, what he would like to see done. I  
22 think it's very important that the children also  
23 be part of this. Uh, he may not be old enough to  
24 understand everything, but I think that he might  
25 have a little input when he is a little older.

1                   And right now it's going to be a very important  
2                   time, that he sees that things are going to  
3                   change, and for the better, we hope.

4                   Q    Thank you.  Those are all my questions,  
5                   Mr. Commissioner.

6                   THE COMMISSIONER:  Thank you.  Anymore -- any questions?  All  
7                   right.

8                   MR. DICKSON:  Mr. Commissioner, Tim Dickson for the Vancouver  
9                   Police Department.

10                   **CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DICKSON:**

11                   Q    Ms. Purcell, I want to say, on behalf of the  
12                   Vancouver Police Department, uhm, that it truly  
13                   regrets, deeply regrets the way your niece's  
14                   missing persons case was handled and that Pickton  
15                   was not caught sooner, and I thank you for coming  
16                   and testifying today.

17                                You spoke about Dorothy Purcell's first  
18                   missing persons report in 1996 --

19                   A    Yes.

20                   Q    -- and about her interaction with Sandy Cameron.

21                   A    Yes.

22                   Q    And Ms. Cameron will be coming and testifying, I  
23                   understand, before the commission and, and no  
24                   doubt she will be speaking to those events.  You  
25                   did not speak with Ms. Cameron, did you?

1 A Uhm, I wanted to, but my sister said that she will  
2 be dealing with that part of the, I guess,  
3 investigation.

4 Q Did you ask your sister to be able to speak with  
5 Sandy Cameron?

6 A Uh, I don't remember when, but I did mention that  
7 I had a few words for her myself, because I didn't  
8 like the way my sister was treated and I was quite  
9 angry.

10 Q Right. Right. And you, you spoke about your  
11 sister Dorothy's letter --

12 A Yes.

13 Q -- that she wrote about her interaction with Ms.  
14 Cameron and it was sent to the police?

15 A Yes.

16 Q And I think you said that, to your knowledge,  
17 nothing was done in response to it?

18 A No.

19 Q And we have heard in this inquiry that Dorothy  
20 Purcell attended a meeting with the police, with  
21 Freda Ens and a police officer, Sergeant Bob  
22 Cooper, and that he, he had been tasked to  
23 investigate some complaints that were made about  
24 Ms. Cameron, including the one made by Ms.  
25 Purcell, by Dorothy. Were you aware of that?

1 A That?

2 Q That she attended a meeting with a Vancouver  
3 Police Department officer about that complaint?

4 A I, uhm, I believe I had understood it to be with  
5 the Native Police Liaison.

6 Q Yes, and we have heard from her, Freda Ens, that  
7 they did meet, Ms. Ens and Dorothy Purcell, with a  
8 VPD Sergeant Bob Cooper about that complaint.

9 A I believe that's why the letter was written.

10 Q Yes.

11 A Because it was for the police department.

12 Q Yes.

13 A I would assume that's probably why they were  
14 meeting.

15 Q Yes.

16 A Okay.

17 Q And had you heard that she had met with police as  
18 opposed to Native Liaison?

19 A No, I thought actually it was the Native Police  
20 Liaison.

21 Q I see. I think it's clear, Ms. Purcell, that the  
22 Department needed to engage with your family much  
23 more than was done?

24 A Yes.

25 Q And, and I understand that it was Dorothy who had

1 the contact with the Department, --

2 A Yes.

3 Q -- not yourself.

4 A Yes.

5 Q And you are frustrated, understandably, about  
6 feeling that not enough was done in the  
7 investigation, and the commission will be looking  
8 at the investigation and determining what was  
9 done. Uhm, but you would accept that there may be  
10 steps that were taken by the police that you were  
11 not aware of?

12 A Uh, it's quite possible. My sister tried to relay  
13 everything that she knew to me so I could also  
14 relay it to the family.

15 Q And I think I heard you expressing, at the end of  
16 your testimony with Ms. Hunt just now, --

17 A Yes.

18 Q -- that you want to learn what happened.

19 A Yes.

20 Q And I want to take you through a few of the steps  
21 that did happen on the file that you may not know  
22 about.

23 A Okay. Thank you.

24 Q I, I'm going to begin in March 1998, because  
25 that's when the documents begin to show steps

1           happening, and I want to be clear though that it's  
2           unclear on the file what happened before then.  
3           But I want to be clear that, if it is the case  
4           that steps weren't happening, that's not, that's  
5           not satisfactory.

6           A    Okay.

7           Q    So, in the middle of March, 16th of March, 1998,  
8           Mr. Chantler was telling you about this, or  
9           talking to you about this. The file was received  
10          by a new investigator, his name was Detective  
11          Howlett, and, and the file -- the evidence already  
12          in the inquiry shows that police records were  
13          checked on that day and there hadn't been contact  
14          with Tanya since 1995, and he called Dorothy but  
15          didn't reach her that day.

16                The next day, March 17th, 1998, he checked  
17          Welfare records and he found four addresses  
18          associated with Tanya. Uhm, and he also  
19          interviewed Dorothy Purcell that day, March 17th,  
20          1998, and got a background. And then two days  
21          later, he ordered photographs for Tanya and for  
22          Gary and Ariel, and he learns that Ariel was not  
23          in custody, and it seems that he was looking to  
24          try and find dental records, but the dental office  
25          was closed.

1                   Now, a few days later, still in March, 1998,  
2                   he learned through Immigration that Ariel had been  
3                   deported in December of 1997. Do you, do you  
4                   recall hearing about that?

5                   A    Uh, I believe my sister mentioned that to me. I  
6                   don't remember the dates though, but that they had  
7                   actually contacted him. I'm not sure how she  
8                   found out though.

9                   Q    Yes.

10                  A    But they, they caught up to him, I think that's  
11                  what she said.

12                  Q    Yes.

13                  A    They caught up to him.

14                  Q    Yes. We'll see that in a moment. But it seems  
15                  that he was deported in December of 1997, and that  
16                  would have been soon after that incident where Ms.  
17                  Cameron called the number that Dorothy had  
18                  obtained through the \* 69 --

19                  A    Yes.

20                  Q    -- query.

21                  A    Yes.

22                  Q    And also, March 23rd, 1998, the investigator is  
23                  talking to Tanya's dentist, or, or a dentist  
24                  anyway, because he said, or she said that Tanya  
25                  had not been seen there at the dentist's office



1 since 1987.

2 A Dr. Au.

3 Q Right. I just have "Dr. A" on my sheet, but yes.  
4 And then April 8th, 1998, a missing person poster  
5 for Tanya was distributed?

6 A Yes.

7 Q April 15th, 1998, the poster was delivered to the  
8 needle exchange and the Carnegie Centre, and there  
9 is a note in the records saying that Welfare was  
10 going to check for medical and dental information.  
11 They were trying to get the dental records it  
12 seems.

13 And then Mr. Chantler, if you will recall,  
14 took you to a document that indicated that Gary  
15 was interviewed on April 21st, 1998, by the  
16 Department, which again is -- it should have been  
17 done sooner, and, and it talked about there being  
18 a child custody matter that was completed in court  
19 and then Tanya went missing a month after that.

20 A Yes.

21 Q Uhm, and in May, police records were checked and,  
22 uhm, and there is a computer system, we call it  
23 CPIC, that -- where the police share information.  
24 And that computer system disclosed certain  
25 information about Gary and having a, having

1 reported alleged incidents of assault with other  
2 sex workers, and one in Burnaby, and, and she was  
3 later interviewed and they investigated her. RCMP  
4 from Burnaby was, was -- got in touch with the VPD  
5 and they provided some details and they got her  
6 dental information.

7 And then May 26th, 1998, a different dentist  
8 was contacted. I just have "Dr. W". Maybe you  
9 know him?

10 A No, I'm sorry, I don't.

11 Q But he didn't have x-rays of her, because she was  
12 pregnant when she was getting the dental work,  
13 apparently.

14 Then later, in May 1998, there is a note that  
15 the Department was looking into, again, an  
16 incident involving Gary in the past. And in late  
17 May 1998, Tanya was added to the American police  
18 computer system so that she would be, if she was  
19 down in the States, then she might be flagged if  
20 she came to the attention of the police somehow  
21 down there.

22 And early July, it seems the Department is  
23 still looking for the dentist, for her dental  
24 records, and they're looking at the Ministry of  
25 Human Resources records.

1           And then in mid-September, the Department is  
2           trying to find that sex worker that Gary had had  
3           this incident with, and there is an appointment  
4           made, arranged for her to come in and be  
5           interviewed. She didn't show up the first time,  
6           but she did the next day and, and there was an  
7           interview, and she provided details on Tanya's  
8           relationship with Gary and the night that she went  
9           missing.

10           And then in mid-September, September 17th,  
11           1998, Dorothy -- the Department called Dorothy  
12           Purcell looking for a women's number, Vanessa. Do  
13           you know who Vanessa is?

14           A    That's my daughter.

15           Q    And you would have been a more appropriate person  
16           for them to talk to, in hindsight.

17           And then in mid-October, again, the missing  
18           person poster is distributed, and later in  
19           October, it's distributed again more, more  
20           broadly.

21           And then in late October, October the 19th,  
22           1998, the note is that Dorothy heard that Ariel  
23           was in Seattle trying to return to Canada. Does  
24           that, does that --

25           A    I don't recall that.

1 Q -- ring a bell?

2 A I think that something was mentioned, but I don't  
3 think the police was mentioned. Just that he was  
4 trying to get back home. I heard he was just  
5 trying to get back into the country.

6 Q Yes.

7 A Yes.

8 Q And then I think he might have got back into the  
9 country, because in the spring of 1999 and into  
10 the summer, the notes are that the Department is  
11 trying to locate him. Uhm, and then, so we're in  
12 1999, and in November of 1999, they're talking to  
13 that sex worker again who had been interviewed and  
14 trying to see if there was any new information.

15 And then a year later, in September of 2000,  
16 the American computer system I was talking about,  
17 came up with possible matches for Tanya, and  
18 Detective Constable Shenher I believe was  
19 following that up and trying to see if there was  
20 anything to that. Occasionally, it seems that  
21 these things, you know, leads would come up and  
22 they wouldn't, they wouldn't turn out to be  
23 accurate.

24 And then in early January 2000, and into  
25 2001, the note showed that the Department is still

1 looking at Welfare records and were trying to get  
2 more information.

3 That is what I'm -- that's the information  
4 that I have for you about the Department's  
5 efforts. And again, I want to thank you for  
6 coming, and again, I extend the Department's  
7 apology.

8 THE WITNESS: Thank you.

9 THE COMMISSIONER: Anything further?

10 Ms. Purcell, I want to, I want to thank you  
11 for coming here and sharing your story with us. I  
12 think you have the sympathy of everybody here for  
13 what you and your family have gone through with  
14 the disappearance and the death of Tanya. And I  
15 know how difficult it is for you and your family  
16 to have gone through what you have gone through.  
17 But if we are going to have changes, change can  
18 only come if you come here and tell us what  
19 happened to you. We have to hear that from you.  
20 And as I said, I know it's difficult for you to  
21 come here, but everybody here sympathizes with  
22 you, and if we are going to get real change, it's  
23 only going to happen if you take part in, in the  
24 inquiry and I'm thankful that you did that.

25 But you, you said some, some very credible

1 and meaningful things, as far as I am concerned.

2 You have that --

3 THE WITNESS: Thank you.

4 THE COMMISSIONER: -- we look to the future, that children have  
5 to be part of it. What's happened here in the  
6 past is tragic and is terrible. We have to learn  
7 from those mistakes. We have to learn from what  
8 happened, and so we have to look to the future so  
9 these tragedies will never be repeated. And if  
10 our children and their children are going to have  
11 better lives, then we have to learn from all of  
12 this.

13 THE WITNESS: Yes.

14 THE COMMISSIONER: So, your, you know, your coming here has  
15 helped us. I just want you to know that.

16 THE WITNESS: Thank you.

17 THE COMMISSIONER: Thank you for coming.

18 THE WITNESS: Thank you. That was my purpose.

19 THE COMMISSIONER: Thank you.

20 **(WITNESS EXCUSED)**

21 MR. CHANTLER: Mr. Commissioner, we are on schedule, and if  
22 it's appropriate, I think it would be a good time  
23 for a lunch break.

24 THE COMMISSIONER: Sorry?

25 MR. CHANTLER: We're on schedule and I think we can take the

1 lunch break --

2 THE COMMISSIONER: All right. Thank you.

3 THE REGISTRAR: This hearing is now adjourned until 1:45.

4 **(PROCEEDINGS ADJOURNED AT 12:16 P.M.)**

5 **(PROCEEDINGS RESUMED AT 1:57 P.M.)**

6 THE REGISTRAR: Order. This hearing is now resumed.

7 THE COMMISSIONER: Mr. Chantler.

8 MR. CHANTLER: For the record, Neil Chantler, counsel for the  
9 families of 25 murdered and missing women. Mr.  
10 Commissioner, calling the next witness, Ms. Daphne  
11 Pierre.

12 **DAPHNE ANNE PIERRE, affirmed:**

13 THE REGISTRAR: Would you state your name please?

14 THE WITNESS: Daphne Anne Pierre.

15 THE REGISTRAR: Thank you. Counsel.

16 **EXAMINATION IN CHIEF BY MR. CHANTLER:**

17 Q Thank you, Ms. Pierre. You were the sister of  
18 Jacqueline or Jackie Murdock, correct?

19 A Yes.

20 Q You're both the children of Joe and Evelyn  
21 Murdock?

22 A Yes.

23 Q And Jackie was the youngest of your 11 siblings,  
24 correct?

25 A No, there's 15.

1 Q Sorry, 15?  
2 A Yes.  
3 Q And she was the youngest?  
4 A Yes, the youngest daughter.  
5 Q And where did you fit in, in that mix?  
6 A The oldest daughter.  
7 Q You were the oldest daughter?  
8 A Yes.  
9 Q Can you confirm for us that Jackie is one of the  
10 women on that missing person poster to your left?  
11 A Yes.  
12 Q Yes, she is?  
13 A Yes, she is.  
14 Q Sure, you can point to the photo as well.  
15 A I can't even see her. Sorry, I can't even see  
16 her. Uhm, there.  
17 Q Okay. Thank you. And I have handed up, Mr.  
18 Registrar, three copies of a photograph. If one  
19 could please be put to the witness.  
20 A Thank you.  
21 Q Ms. Pierre, can you confirm that this is a photo  
22 of Jackie?  
23 A Yes.  
24 Q And can you tell us about this photo? When would  
25 it have been taken?



1           A    This was taken by, uhm, Vancouver PD I think, uhm,  
2                    when she was arrested for some reason.  I don't  
3                    know what it was.

4           Q    And how old would she have been in that photo do  
5                    you think?

6           A    Hmm, uhm, I'm not really sure.

7           Q    Okay.  Would you like to hold the photo up so the  
8                    commissioner can see her and --

9   THE COMMISSIONER:  I have a copy.

10  MR. CHANTLER:  Oh, you have a copy.  Good.

11                    If that could be marked as the next exhibit  
12                    please.

13  THE COMMISSIONER:  Yes.

14  THE REGISTRAR:  Exhibit number 137.

15                    **(EXHIBIT NO. 137:  Photograph of Jackie Murdock)**

16  MR. CHANTLER:

17           Q    Ms. Pierre, Jackie disappeared from the Downtown  
18                    Eastside in November '96; is that correct?

19           A    Yes, that's the last time -- I talked to her in  
20                    the first week of November of '96.

21           Q    Okay.  And how old would she have been then?

22           A    Uhm, 40, 41.  I'm not sure.  She was born in 1971,  
23                    so.

24           Q    Okay.  Born in 1971.  She would have been 25?

25           A    In 1997?

1 Q Yeah. 1996 when she disappeared.  
2 A 1996, sorry.  
3 Q Yeah.  
4 A Yeah, I guess it must be. I'm trying to get --  
5 Q Yes, she would have been about 25?  
6 A Yeah, about that.  
7 Q Okay. Now, no charges have ever been laid in  
8 connection to Jackie's disappearance; is that  
9 correct?  
10 A Yes.  
11 Q And you were informed by the police, I believe  
12 members of Project Evenhanded in 2004, that  
13 Jackie's DNA had been found on the Picktons'  
14 property; is that correct?  
15 A Yes.  
16 Q You weren't given any details about how much DNA  
17 or whether there were any actual remains? You  
18 were just told that DNA was found?  
19 A Yes.  
20 Q And then in 2010, after Robert Pickton's ultimate  
21 conviction, --  
22 A Yes.  
23 Q -- you were contacted again and told some more  
24 details about what the police found on the  
25 Picktons' property, correct?

1 A Yes.

2 Q Can you tell us what you were told?

3 A Uhm, the kind of DNA that was found in regards to  
4 my sister was a condom wrapper or something, and  
5 that's the only DNA that was found. And, uhm,  
6 none of her remains were ever found there or her  
7 earrings or bracelets or necklaces that she used  
8 to wear. She used to have lots of earrings. All  
9 of her ears were pierced, her ears pierced from  
10 right top to bottom, she used to have earrings on  
11 them, and none of those were ever found.

12 Q And who was it that came to give you that  
13 information in 2010?

14 A Uhm, Freda Ens and, uhm, I can't remember the  
15 officer's name.

16 Q Did Marilyn Johnny accompany Freda?

17 A I can't remember. I think -- I can't recollect.  
18 I can't recollect.

19 Q And Murray Lunn?

20 A Yes, I think that was him, yes.

21 Q But the police didn't have enough evidence to lay  
22 charges against Robert Pickton --

23 A Yes.

24 Q -- for Jackie's death, correct?

25 A Yes.

1 Q And no one has ever been charged for her death?

2 A No.

3 Q With her murder rather.

4 Now, I will ask you some more questions about

5 Jackie in a moment, but why don't you tell us a

6 bit about yourself? You were born in Vancouver?

7 A Yes, I was born in Vancouver General Hospital. I

8 stayed there with my mom for six months because

9 she had TB, and I was brought back, we were

10 brought back to Fort St. James, Fort St. James,

11 BC. It's northwest of Prince George 200 miles,

12 and that's where I was raised and I was raised

13 there, and then Manson Creek.

14 Q Okay. You were born into the Takla Lake Band?

15 A I was a member of Takla Band before I married to

16 my husband and I'm Tl'azt'en Nation now, Carrier

17 Sekani.

18 Q And both Takla and Tl'azt'en are of the Carrier

19 First Nation?

20 A Yes, they are.

21 Q Right now you are on disability leave?

22 A Yes.

23 Q But you did have employment before with the

24 sawmill?

25 A Yeah, before I got married, yeah.

1 Q Yes. And you are still with your husband?

2 A Yes.

3 Q He is retired?

4 A Yes.

5 Q He was a logger for a number of years?

6 A Yeah. Yes.

7 Q And he also worked for the band?

8 A Yes.

9 Q All right. You have eight children?

10 A Uh, yes, we do.

11 Q Will you tell us about them? How old are they  
12 and --

13 A They're grown and out of my hands.

14 Q Yes. What is the range of ages, youngest to  
15 oldest?

16 A My youngest, my youngest is 27 and my oldest is  
17 37.

18 Q Okay. And you are also a grandmother?

19 A Yes, 11 children, as far as I know. Eleven  
20 grandchildren.

21 THE COMMISSIONER: You mean there are some you may not know  
22 about?

23 THE WITNESS: Yeah, I had, I had six sons, so I don't know.

24 MR. CHANTLER:

25 Q Jackie was born when?

1 A January 28th, 1971.

2 Q And she was also raised by your parents in Fort  
3 St. James?

4 A Yes, she was.

5 Q She was the youngest of all the siblings you said?

6 A Yes.

7 Q What was your relationship like growing up?

8 A When she was a little girl, like 18, 19 months,  
9 she was, like, really, she was really chubby and  
10 really cute, and me and my sister, Eva, we used to  
11 dress her up like she was a doll or something, and  
12 put all these ponytails in her hair, about 11  
13 ponytails, and she would be just dancing around.  
14 It was real fun, because we fixed her hair. But  
15 it was really fun having her. She was a really  
16 happy, little girl.

17 And then I got married in 1978 and I left my  
18 family and started to move with my husband up in  
19 Tl'azt'en Nation, that's where I lived, up in  
20 Tachie. And then, then we lived in Prince George.  
21 My mom moved away from Fort St. James and lived in  
22 Prince George.

23 Q Hm-hmm. And Jackie ended up in foster care at  
24 about age 12; is that right?

25 A Yeah, age 12. Yeah, I think age 12 or she was 13.

1 Q Where was that and can you tell us about that?

2 A In Prince George.

3 Q Can you tell us a bit about her ending up in  
4 foster care?

5 A My mom was still living in Prince George -- in  
6 Fort St. James when the ministry took Jackie away  
7 and then they put her in a home in, in Prince  
8 George. Or my mom was living in Fort St. James  
9 and they took Jackie away, brought her to Prince  
10 George, as far as I know. And my husband gave my  
11 mom a ride from Fort St. James to Prince George to  
12 go visit Jackie at the foster home that she was  
13 living at.

14 And as far as I know, the incident was that  
15 when my mom got there, Jackie was just, like,  
16 really crying for my mom, and my mom said, "Oh,  
17 you can't come with me right now. I will try to  
18 get you back." And I don't know, I don't know  
19 after that how long it took her to get Jackie  
20 back. As far as I know, Jackie ran away from  
21 there is what I heard. So, I don't know.

22 Q Did you see her much or stay in contact with her  
23 when she went to foster care?

24 A No. I was, I was married and lived up in Tachie  
25 and raising my own kids. I was too busy.

1 Q How many children did Jackie have?  
2 A Five. Two boys, three girls.  
3 Q And where are they living now?  
4 A They live in, uh, Prince George and the youngest  
5 one, Diana, lives in Victoria somewhere.  
6 Q Hm-hmm.  
7 A And she has two grandchildren. Sheri has two  
8 kids, so.  
9 Q You mentioned that Jackie ran away from foster  
10 care. Do you recall when that was? What year was  
11 that?  
12 A Probably when, I think when she was 13 or 14. I'm  
13 not sure. That's what my mom told me anyway, but  
14 I don't, I don't really know.  
15 Q And where did she go?  
16 A She went back home to mom.  
17 Q Okay. In 1996, I believe, she hitchhiked, she  
18 left home and she hitchhiked to Vancouver; is that  
19 right?  
20 A Yes. That's what my mom said.  
21 Q Can you tell us a bit about that? She would have  
22 been 25.  
23 A Yeah, uhm, July of '96, I went down to see my mom.  
24 Uhm, I came, we came from the reserve to Prince  
25 George and I went to see my mom. And I asked my



1           dad and my mom, I says, "Where's Jackie?" And my  
2           mom said, "Dad had kicked her out," blamed her for  
3           getting my brother into drugs, and my brother  
4           eventually died from alcohol poisoning down here  
5           in Vancouver. So, he blamed, he blamed her. And  
6           my mom said she just walked off and turned her  
7           back and left in July of '96.

8           Q    And that's when she hitchhiked to Vancouver?

9           A    Yeah.

10          Q    Did you hear from her after she left?

11          A    Uhm, I didn't hear from her until I seen her the  
12               first week of November of '96.

13          Q    At that time in her life, were you aware of any  
14               substance abuse issues?

15          A    Uhm, yes. As far as I know, she was doing cocaine  
16               and drinking alcohol and doing whatever drugs that  
17               she could get or pills that she could take.

18               But when we, when we talked to her in the  
19               car, when, when we found her, me and my husband  
20               went down looking for her, she came across the  
21               street and then -- she had leaned on our car and  
22               she didn't even know that it was. So, she was  
23               going to walk by and I opened the door and I said,  
24               "Jackie". And she got in -- I gave her a hug, I  
25               said, "Get in the car." And I talked to her and I

1                   said, "What are you doing down here?" I said,  
2                   "Mom called. She wants you home." She said, "She  
3                   wants you home for Christmas and the kids miss  
4                   you."

5                   Q I am going to have you give some context to that  
6                   event --

7                   A Okay.

8                   Q -- and then we can talk about that event a bit  
9                   more. In September '96, you and your husband  
10                  moved from Fort St. James down to Surrey.

11                 A No, from Prince George.

12                 Q From Prince George down to Surrey?

13                 A We, we moved down here in 1998. But we lived in  
14                 Surrey in '96, September of '96 we moved down.  
15                 Then we moved back to Prince George in July of  
16                 '97. Then we moved back down in '98.

17                 Q And while you were living in Surrey in September  
18                 '96, --

19                 A Yes.

20                 Q -- at the insistence of your mother --

21                 A I phoned her in October.

22                 Q Okay, in October, --

23                 A Yeah.

24                 Q -- you began a search for Jackie?

25                 A No, she told me that Jackie didn't come home yet,

1 "go down and look for her." So we, we went  
2 downtown when, when my husband wasn't in school,  
3 and we went downtown looking for her, like, in the  
4 evenings and weekends. We just parked in the  
5 Downtown Eastside and watched out for her.

6 Q This is October '96?

7 A Yeah.

8 Q You and your husband, you hop in your car --

9 A Yeah.

10 Q -- on the weekends when you can and go down to the  
11 Downtown Eastside and you look for her?

12 A Yes.

13 Q And tell us a bit more about that. Who did you  
14 talk to? What did you learn?

15 A Uhm, are you talking about after she was missing  
16 or before?

17 Q Uh, well, you haven't heard from her in some time,  
18 correct?

19 A Yeah, yeah.

20 Q And so you are looking for her in October of '96?

21 A Yeah, we didn't find her.

22 Q And --

23 A We didn't find her until November, first week of  
24 November of '96 --

25 Q Okay.

1 A -- when I talked --

2 Q In November you find her?

3 A Yes.

4 Q Tell us about that.

5 A Well, she got in the car and, uhm, I talked to her  
6 and I asked her, I told her, I said, "Mom wants  
7 you home. She wants to know if you're okay.  
8 Phone her or write to her or something." I gave  
9 her a phone number that mom had given me so she  
10 can contact them. And, and then she started  
11 crying and then she said, "I don't want to go  
12 home. They don't respect me up there." She said,  
13 "They don't love me or respect me."

14 Q And what happened next? Take your time.

15 THE COMMISSIONER: Do you, do you want a break? Should we take  
16 a break, Mr. Chantler?

17 MR. CHANTLER: Sure, we can take five minutes. Thank you.

18 THE REGISTRAR: This hearing will now recess for five minutes.

19 **(PROCEEDINGS ADJOURNED AT 2:13 P.M.)**

20 **(PROCEEDINGS RESUMED AT 2:27 P.M.)**

21 THE REGISTRAR: Order. This hearing is now resumed.

22 MR. CHANTLER: Mr. Chantler for the record. And  
23 Mr. Commissioner, I will introduce Ms. Gladys  
24 Radek, who is --

25 THE COMMISSIONER: Yes.

1 MR. CHANTLER: -- going to accompany Ms. Pierre for support --

2 THE COMMISSIONER: Thank you for your help.

3 MR. CHANTLER: -- and we thank her for being here.

4 Q The incident, Ms. Pierre, that we were just  
5 discussing was -- took place in November '96, --

6 A Yes, first week.

7 Q -- when you and your husband had gone down and  
8 searched for Jackie and you found her. I believe  
9 she was outside the Balmoral Hotel?

10 A Across.

11 Q Across the street from the Balmoral Hotel?

12 A Yes.

13 Q And you had a conversation with her and you have  
14 given --

15 A Yes.

16 Q -- a description of what went on there. When did  
17 you hear from her next?

18 A The second week of December of '96.

19 Q Okay.

20 A She called me, uhm, from a phone, from a  
21 cellphone, and I asked her, I said, "Are you  
22 driving?" And then she said, "Yeah, I am with my  
23 friend," she said, "We're here in Surrey." And I  
24 told her, I said, "Well, ask your friend, ask your  
25 friend if you can come by." I said, "We will meet

1 him and -- we will meet him. You can come here  
2 and have coffee or something," I told her. And,  
3 uhm, I could hear her asking him. It was a guy.  
4 I could tell it was a guy because of the voice.  
5 And then she asked him and he said, "No, we don't  
6 have time." He said, "We -- I just have to take  
7 care of some business here in Surrey. Then we're  
8 going back into Vancouver."

9 And then, and then she told me, she said, "I  
10 will phone you some other time, maybe later, maybe  
11 in a couple of days," and I said, "Okay." I said,  
12 "Make sure you phone me," I said, "come and stay  
13 at my house." I said, "you're welcome," I told  
14 her that. And, uhm, that was it. That was the  
15 last time I talked to her.

16 Q You never heard from her again?

17 A No.

18 Q Did you know the friend who she was with?

19 A Uh, no. She didn't tell me the name or anything.  
20 I know it was a guy. I could hear the voice in  
21 the background.

22 Q Okay. When did you start to become worried that  
23 something might have happened to Jackie after that  
24 phone call?

25 A Uhm, I think I phoned my mom and I asked her, I

1           said, "Did Jackie get back up there?" and she  
2           said, "no." I said, "Where do you think she  
3           went?" And my mom said, "Maybe she went to Fort  
4           St. John. Maybe she went back to Diana's dad or  
5           something," her youngest daughter's dad or  
6           something, because he was writing letters to my  
7           mom to ask for Jackie.

8           Q    Hm-hmm.

9           A    So --

10          Q    When would that have been that you called your mom  
11           and had that conversation?

12          A    Before we moved back up. Sometime in February or  
13           March of '97.

14          Q    Okay. So, two or three months later?

15          A    Yeah.

16          Q    And when did you move back up to Prince George?

17          A    We moved back in July of '97. And then we got up,  
18           went back to Prince, and I kept in contact with my  
19           mom, to see if Jackie came back and she said "no".  
20           So, on August 14th, I told her, "I'm going to the  
21           cop shop to report her missing," and she said,  
22           "okay." So, that's what I did. And the officer I  
23           spoke to told me that he took the report and that  
24           he was going to send the report to the Missing  
25           Persons Unit in Vancouver.

1 Q And do you recall precisely when that was? I can  
2 take you to the date, if you like.

3 A August 14th.

4 Q 1997?

5 A Yes, 1997.

6 Q So, that's when you attended personally the Prince  
7 George RCMP detachment office?

8 A Yes.

9 Q And you reported Jackie missing for the first  
10 time?

11 A Yes.

12 Q And can you tell us a bit more about that visit to  
13 the detachment? What did you tell them and what  
14 were you told?

15 A Uhm, they asked me questions about, uhm, when she  
16 was seen last, and I told when I seen her last and  
17 when mom seen her last. And they asked me if we  
18 checked the Prince George Hospital or any of the  
19 treatment centres or anything like that, and I  
20 said that we haven't. And he told me that -- he  
21 advised me to do, to do that. So I told mom. I  
22 said, "Make sure you guys do that," and she said,  
23 my mom said she was going to do it. Because I am  
24 busy with my children, so.

25 Q Did you hear back from the RCMP in response to



1           that visit?

2           A    Uhm, not my -- I can't remember if they did. I  
3           think they might have got in contact with me. I'm  
4           not sure.

5           Q    And just so I'm clear, your understanding was,  
6           after filing the report with the Prince George  
7           RCMP detachment, they would be sending that  
8           missing person report to Vancouver?

9           A    Yes.

10          Q    That's what they told you?

11          A    Yes.

12          Q    Did you hear from the Vancouver Police Department  
13          in the following weeks or months?

14          A    Uh, no, not till I moved down.

15          Q    Okay. Now, what the record suggests, and I will  
16          take you to a couple of these documents, is that  
17          -- and Mr. Commissioner, for your benefit as  
18          well -- the Prince George RCMP did not send the  
19          file to Vancouver, but rather, assigned a  
20          Constable Campbell, who maintained conduct of the  
21          file and took some investigative steps over the  
22          following months.

23                         And the first document we have from the RCMP  
24                         in relation to this is at tab 10 of the brief.  
25                         And unfortunately, we don't have a note or a

1 missing person report per se from the RCMP  
2 directly related to that August 14th, 1997  
3 attendance by Ms. Pierre to the detachment, but  
4 that date appears on a later Vancouver Police  
5 document as the date the missing person report was  
6 first submitted. That's where we have that date.

7 THE COMMISSIONER: All right.

8 MR. CHANTLER:

9 Q So, the documents at tab 10 show some contact  
10 between you, Ms. Pierre, and the detachment. It  
11 appears that you left a message on September 3rd,  
12 '97, which is about two weeks later, --

13 A Hm-hmm.

14 Q -- advising that you were Jackie Murdock's sister,  
15 and providing some information. And the notes  
16 actually suggest that the recipient of the message  
17 didn't know what, what this file was.

18 A Hm-hmm.

19 Q The note says, midway down the page at tab 10:

20 Writer has no idea what this is about and no  
21 phone numbers were provided.

22 A Hm-hmm.

23 Q Further down the page, the writer determines, by  
24 speaking to Constable Campbell, who we understand  
25 is an RCMP officer from the Prince George

1 Detachment, --

2 A Yes.

3 Q -- that this was in relation to the missing person  
4 file that you had submitted.

5 A Yes.

6 Q At tab 11 are a series of notes. This is an RCMP  
7 continuation report, RCMP-017-05804. Again,  
8 bottom left of the page, we can see that it's  
9 Constable Campbell taking these notes, and we can  
10 see that he took quite a few steps through  
11 September and October 1997 to try and locate  
12 Jackie. He was calling hospitals in Vancouver --

13 A Hm-hmm.

14 Q -- trying to find if they had any record of her.

15 A Hm-hmm.

16 Q Now, you didn't know at the time that this was  
17 going on, did you?

18 A No.

19 Q Okay. And you don't know why the RCMP detachment  
20 in Prince George didn't send the file to Vancouver  
21 like they told you they would?

22 A No.

23 Q Okay. And we don't have an explanation for it  
24 either.

25 Now, the record reflects an incident that you

1           may not know much about but I will ask you about.  
2           Uhm, the second page of tab 11 is more notes of  
3           Constable Campbell. And what appears to have  
4           happened, I'll try and summarize what happened.  
5           Constable Campbell received some hospital records  
6           from Vancouver that suggested that Jackie had  
7           attended Vancouver General Hospital -- sorry, St.  
8           Paul's Hospital, in June of '97 -- is that right  
9           -- July of 1997, sorry. There it is, the second  
10          page at tab 11, top of the page:

11                    Removed Murdock from system, CPIC. Murdock  
12                    attended St. Paul's Hospital in July '97 for  
13                    non-life threatening injuries.

14           Uhm, the story appears to be that the Prince  
15           George RCMP detachment received information from a  
16           hospital in Vancouver that Jackie had been seen on  
17           a date several months after your report of her  
18           disappearance.

19           A    Yes.

20           Q    And what appears to have happened at tab 12, which  
21           is another RCMP continuation report, is that they  
22           advised you of this and they closed the file.

23           A    Hmm.

24           Q    Do you have any recollection of that happening?

25           A    No, they didn't tell me anything.

1 Q The note itself says:

2 Complainant came to counter to report missing  
3 person.

4 And I'll state the date. It appears to be  
5 November 25th, '97.

6 File located on PIRS. Complainant advised  
7 that miss [missing I believe that should say]  
8 OK but we do not have an address to contact  
9 her. Advised to contact Social Services to  
10 relay message when she picks up Welfare  
11 cheque.

12 Beneath that "NFAR", which I believe is an acronym  
13 for "no further action required."

14 A Hmm.

15 Q Four months later, at tab 13, --

16 A Hm-hmm.

17 Q -- the RCMP continuation report at this tab has a  
18 notation dated March 11th, 1998, which is  
19 approximately four months later, and they reopen  
20 the file. The note says:

21 Reopened file. Add to CPIC as missing.  
22 Misinformation was given about current  
23 address or visit from St. Paul's Hospital.  
24 Murdock's whereabouts still unknown.  
25 And that's an unidentified author. We don't

1 know who wrote those notes. Were you aware of  
2 this, --

3 A No.

4 Q -- if I can call it, in the investigation --

5 A No.

6 Q -- when they closed the file for a period of four  
7 months based on misinformation from the hospital?

8 A No, I was not aware of it.

9 Q Okay. We can see now that that happened or --

10 A Hm-hmm.

11 Q -- it appears that happened. You would agree that  
12 Jackie's whereabouts was not confirmed when they  
13 closed the file?

14 A No.

15 Q Nobody had spoken with Jackie?

16 A No.

17 Q The family certainly hadn't informed the police  
18 that Jackie had been found?

19 A No.

20 Q And you maintained that Jackie was missing --

21 A Yes.

22 Q -- through that time?

23 You moved back to the Lower Mainland?

24 A Yes, in '98.

25 Q In '98?

1 A Yes.

2 Q And what did you do when you moved back here in  
3 regards to the search for Jackie?

4 A Uhm, I phoned to the Vancouver PD and they had put  
5 me to the Missing Women, to the Missing Persons  
6 Unit, and they took my information. I don't know  
7 if it's written anywhere, but I think they took my  
8 information.

9 Q Do you recall dealing with the Vancouver  
10 Aboriginal Friendship Centre Society?

11 A Oh, yes. Yes.

12 Q Is that a place that you attended?

13 A No, I just went there to see if they could help me  
14 do some posters in regards to my sister.

15 Q Okay. There's a document at tab 14. Can you turn  
16 to that please?

17 A Oh, yeah. Yes.

18 Q Have you seen this document before?

19 A Uh, yes.

20 Q In preparation for the hearing?

21 A Yes.

22 Q This suggests that -- there's a name on the -- it  
23 looks like a fax cover sheet, Rusty, and he's  
24 sending a fax to a Morris. Did you meet a Rusty  
25 at the Vancouver Aboriginal Friendship Centre

1 Society?

2 A Yes, I did.

3 Q Is that the person with whom you had a  
4 conversation about Jackie's disappearance?

5 A Yes.

6 Q Okay. And your name is midway on that page as a  
7 contact person?

8 A Yes.

9 Q Sister, Daphne Pierre.

10 A Yes.

11 Q So, at that time, when you had that meeting with  
12 the Aboriginal Friendship Centre, --

13 A Yes.

14 Q -- were you trying to get help in the search for  
15 Jackie?

16 A Yes, I was.

17 Q Did you believe the Vancouver Police were  
18 searching for Jackie as well?

19 A Uhm, I assumed that they were. I thought they  
20 were. I thought the files were sent there a long  
21 time ago.

22 Q But you hadn't been in touch with the Vancouver  
23 Police?

24 A Not right away.

25 Q Okay. And you hadn't heard from them? They



1           hadn't called you, for example, --

2           A    No.

3           Q    -- to interview you?

4           A    No, they hadn't.

5           Q    If we look at tab 16, there's a document here that  
6                has an RCMP Doc ID, RCMP-017-005782, uhm, but we  
7                believe this is a Vancouver Police Missing Person  
8                Unit document.

9           A    Did you say '98/09/08?

10          Q    Yes, that's the first date in the top left-hand  
11                corner of this page of notes.

12          A    Oh, okay. Thank you.

13          Q    And that's what I wanted to refer you to, that  
14                particular note, because it reads:

15                        CPIC to Prince George asking for file.

16                        Received info from Morris Bates - Native  
17                        Liaison.

18                So, on our review of the file, and we're just  
19                trying to piece together what happened, --

20          A    Hm-hmm.

21          Q    -- it may be that you went to the Friendship  
22                Centre.

23          A    Hm-hmm.

24          Q    They got Morris Bates involved. Morris Bates got  
25                the Vancouver Police Missing Person Unit involved

1 and they sent a request to Prince George for the  
2 Jackie Murdock missing person file.

3 A Excuse me, Morris Bates, who was Morris Bates?

4 Q Oh, Morris Bates is a man who worked for --

5 A I thought it was Rusty.

6 Q Rusty was at Friendship Centre.

7 A Oh, okay.

8 Q And he sent a fax to Morris. And it, it appears  
9 here that the Vancouver Police is requesting the  
10 Prince George file. And this is September 8th,  
11 1998, which is approximately a year after your  
12 first report.

13 A Yes.

14 Q So --

15 A It took them one year to send -- to fax something  
16 over?

17 Q That's what it appears. It appears the file  
18 didn't come down to Vancouver for one year. Does  
19 that accord with what you know?

20 A Uhm, not until you told me the other day.

21 Q Okay.

22 A That's the first time I found out.

23 Q So, you didn't know. But you don't have any  
24 reason to disbelieve this happened in this  
25 fashion?

1 A Uhm, no, I, I never knew about it. I just --  
2 again, I assumed that the Vancouver, Vancouver  
3 Missing Person Unit began looking for her already.

4 Q Okay. Now, did you have any dealings with the  
5 Vancouver Police Department beyond --

6 A Yeah, later on --

7 Q -- 1998?

8 A Later on in '98, yeah, I talked to -- uhm, I  
9 started dealing with Lori Shenher, and I can't  
10 remember all the officers. I think -- I talked to  
11 so many of them. If Lori Shenher wasn't in, I  
12 would talk to another one, so.

13 Q And can you tell us about some of those  
14 interactions?

15 A Uhm, they told me that they had no, no new  
16 information, said that they didn't find anything.  
17 They didn't find her or anything like that.

18 But I want to go back when, when, after --  
19 before I left and moved back to -- before I moved  
20 back in '96.

21 Q Hm-hmm?

22 A In February or March of '97, like I told you in  
23 the interview earlier, that I had to phone -- I  
24 phoned everywhere about, in regards to my  
25 sister, --

1 Q Hm-hmm?

2 A -- where I ran my bill up to \$1,500. I phoned  
3 across Canada, Alberta, Ottawa, everywhere,  
4 Toronto police, all the police all across Canada.  
5 And they said they didn't have her name on the  
6 Missing Person Unit anywhere in Canada.

7 Q Hm-hmm.

8 A Her name or, her name or her picture was never  
9 brought up anywhere, even, even in '97 before I  
10 moved back to Prince George.

11 Q And what other steps did you take to locate your  
12 sister?

13 A Uhm, I had just phoned everywhere. I even phoned,  
14 tried to phone the media, and then the media said  
15 that, "Oh, no, we can't do anything till an  
16 officer gets ahold of us." And when I phoned to  
17 Vancouver PD in '97, before I left, they said, "We  
18 don't have any file on her."

19 Q When did you first hear from the Vancouver Police  
20 Department?

21 A Uhm, somewhere late in '98.

22 Q And do you recall who it was that contacted you?

23 A Uh, I don't know if it was Lori Shenher or someone  
24 else. I can't remember. I don't know. I can't  
25 remember.

1 Q Do you recall much of the conversation?

2 A They were just asking me an update, they was  
3 giving me an update saying that they didn't find  
4 anything yet, they didn't find her.

5 Q Did you at some point tell the police about the  
6 last time you heard from your sister, and the fact  
7 that she had been with a friend in a car in Surrey  
8 and you tried to --

9 A Ah, yes, I did.

10 Q -- get her visiting you?

11 A Yes, I did. I told -- when they took the initial  
12 report in 1998, I think it was the ending of 1998,  
13 and I told them, when the last time I talked to  
14 her, and they were expecting me to go to Telus to  
15 get my old phone number and find out whose  
16 cellphone that, that she was calling from. They  
17 wanted me to do it. You know, I thought, I  
18 thought the police, like, were -- they have a  
19 really high-tech system and they could get it  
20 theirselves (sic).

21 Q How much involvement did you have with the  
22 Vancouver Police Native Liaison Society?

23 A I had a lot. I went to two of the meetings  
24 before, I think when Willie Pickton was charged.  
25 I went to meetings with families and I met, I met

1 a lot, a lot of families from all over that had  
2 all the missing, missing women. And I went to one  
3 meeting where the coroners talked to us about  
4 stuff, like, about the remains and stuff like  
5 that.

6 Q Did you have any dealings with them before Pickton  
7 was arrested in 2002?

8 A Uhm, the coroners or police?

9 Q The Vancouver Police Native Liaison Society.

10 A Yes. Marilyn Johnny and Freda Ens called quite  
11 often, let me know about what's going on, when the  
12 meetings are going to be and where we're going to  
13 meet and stuff like that. They were pretty good  
14 at that. But they couldn't give me very much  
15 information.

16 Q How did you feel about the way you were being  
17 treated by the Vancouver Police in that time?

18 A I don't think I was treated very well. Uhm, you  
19 know, you know, I think, I think if somebody's  
20 loved one is missing, they should be in contact  
21 all the time, and they should have let me know  
22 right away that her DNA was found and, you know, I  
23 had to hang on till 2004.

24 Q You were told that there was no continuing  
25 investigation into Jackie's disappearance; is that

1 correct?

2 A Yes, in 2010, when they told me about her DNA  
3 found, what kind of DNA they found.

4 Q So, they told you that the file was closed?

5 A Uhm, not officially. They didn't tell me the file  
6 was closed. They just said that -- I asked them,  
7 when I went to the meeting in 2010, I said, uhm, I  
8 said, "That's it?" He said, "Yeah, that's it. We  
9 believe that Willie Pickton killed her." I said,  
10 "Did you guys find any bones, like, her bones  
11 anywhere's, anything, her clothing?" They said,  
12 "No, just, just a used condom wrapper."

13 Q So, you were having a hard time understanding why  
14 the evidence they found on the Pickton farm was  
15 not enough to charge Willie Pickton with, but it  
16 was enough for them to supposedly stop  
17 searching --

18 A Yes.

19 Q -- for Jackie?

20 A Yeah, for them, for them to say he killed her. To  
21 me, I feel that, uhm, her remains are out there  
22 somewhere. You know, I can't really say if this  
23 guy killed her or not. I don't know. You know,  
24 they didn't find her blood at the farm. They  
25 didn't find her clothing or earrings or anything.

1 Q So you are unsatisfied with the police  
2 explanation?

3 A Yes, I am not very satisfied with it.

4 Q What else would you like to tell the commissioner  
5 about your experience with the Vancouver Police  
6 and the Prince George RCMP in response to your  
7 sister's disappearance?

8 A I don't think they did a very good job. You know,  
9 it took them one whole year to send the file down.  
10 And, you know, they didn't -- he didn't even ask  
11 me for a picture of her. He just wanted me to  
12 describe her, that's all. He didn't even ask my  
13 mom or anybody for a picture of, "Okay, well, do  
14 you have a picture of your daughter?" No, he  
15 didn't. Even the Vancouver Police, for a long  
16 time, they never asked me for a picture of her.  
17 You know, the picture that they -- this picture  
18 that they got is when she got arrested. And then  
19 when, when I talked to an officer that, that one  
20 time, I don't know who, who he was, he said, "Oh,  
21 we have a picture of her," he said, "when she was  
22 arrested in Surrey for shoplifting." I said, "Oh,  
23 can I see the picture?" And he showed it to me.

24 Q Okay. Can you say a few words about what you are  
25 hoping this commission will achieve?



1           A    Uhm, I am hoping that they will do a better job,  
2                    that they will make the Vancouver RCMP or any, any  
3                    police station in, all across Canada, anywhere, to  
4                    do a better job of finding our missing, our  
5                    missing loved ones, or anybody's missing loved  
6                    ones, whether they're a man or a woman, that they  
7                    will do a better job and conduct it very well, and  
8                    ask for pictures and, you know, do it right away.  
9                    Don't, don't, don't even wait 24 hours sometimes,  
10                   because you don't know where they are. That's,  
11                   that's what I think they should do.

12           Q    And you would like to hear from the police as to  
13                    whether they are still investigating Jackie's  
14                    disappearance or whether they will provide you  
15                    with a better explanation of what happened to the  
16                    file?

17           A    Yes, I think they should provide me with a better  
18                    explanation. I think they still should try to  
19                    find her and find out, anybody that picked her up  
20                    in between here and Prince George, or from Prince  
21                    George to Prince Rupert or Fort St. John, because  
22                    she was known to hitchhike. So, if somebody out  
23                    there knows where her remains are, you know, we  
24                    would like to settle this, because my mom is old.  
25                    She's 84 years old now. And, you know, to her,

1 even to my mom, it's just, it's not settling for  
2 her. She, you know, she's not in good health  
3 right now and she really would love to know, you  
4 know, to bring her home, to bring Jackie home.

5 Q Ms. Pierre, is there anything else you would like  
6 to say to the commissioner before I finish my  
7 examination?

8 A I wanted to say, uhm, in 1999, May of 1999, I had  
9 a dream. I was dreaming I was doing dishes and  
10 opened my window and, uhm, I seen my sister,  
11 Jackie, coming towards the door with another  
12 person wearing a black coat and she was wearing  
13 her pink jacket that I seen her in. And in my  
14 dream, I went to the door and I opened the door  
15 and I said, "Oh, my God, Jackie," I said, "I have  
16 been looking for you all over." I said, "Where  
17 have you been," I told her. And I was screaming.  
18 I took her. We started hugging each other and we  
19 were crying. We got down on our knees and were  
20 crying. I was -- I went into a really deep sleep  
21 and my husband had to wake me up.

22 And at that very moment when, when he woke me  
23 up, I could still feel my, my sister's hands  
24 hugging me. For some reason, I just knew she was  
25 gone. It was like she was saying "bye" to me. I

1           love her and I miss her so much. She will miss  
2           her grandchildren she never met.

3                     For as long as I live on this earth, I am not  
4           going to quit. I am not going to stop looking for  
5           her till I find her remains. I don't care how  
6           long it takes. And I hope the Vancouver Police  
7           will do a better job and all other police officers  
8           looking for all our loved ones that's been  
9           missing. Get her picture out there and find her.

10           Q    You believe you did everything you could to engage  
11           the RCMP and the Vancouver Police in a search for  
12           your sister; is that right?

13           A    Yes. I kept in contact with them all the time.

14           Q    Thank you, Ms. Pierre. We admire your courage for  
15           coming forward and telling your story.

16    THE COMMISSIONER: Thank you. Any questions?

17    MS. HUNT: No.

18    THE COMMISSIONER: Okay. Ms. -- oh, you have questions?

19    MR. DICKSON: I do, yes, I do have a few.

20    THE COMMISSIONER: All right.

21    **CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DICKSON:**

22    MR. DICKSON: Mr. Commissioner, it's Tim Dickson for the  
23           Vancouver Police Department.

24           Q    Ms. Pierre, I want to thank you on behalf of the  
25           Department for coming and giving your evidence and

1 I'd like to express the Department's deep  
2 sympathies for your loss --

3 A Yes.

4 Q -- and regrets for not catching Pickton sooner.

5 Ms. Pierre, my understanding, from looking at  
6 the documents in the file, --

7 A Right.

8 Q -- is, as I think Mr. Chantler was saying, was  
9 that the file, the missing persons report, was not  
10 sent to the VPD --

11 A No.

12 Q -- until, until it was requested by the VPD in  
13 September of 1998.

14 A Hm-hmm.

15 Q Uhm, do you -- would you accept that?

16 A Accept it?

17 Q I mean, accept it as a fact, that's what did  
18 happen?

19 A Yes.

20 Q And if you turn to tab 15 in the binder. If you  
21 can just maybe go to the second page in that tab,  
22 this appears to be a note by Lori Shenher of the  
23 VPD up to the Prince George RCMP, and it says:

24 I am investigating the disappearances of a  
25 large number of prostitutes in the Downtown

1 Eastside and I believe Jackie Marie Murdock -  
2 native female [with a date of birth] may be  
3 part of this group. She was last seen here.  
4 I would greatly appreciate it if I could be  
5 sent a photocopy of the file and any  
6 information with respect to this from your  
7 end. If you are aware of any other females  
8 who fit a similar profile, please let me  
9 know.

10 Thank you for your help.

11 Lori Shenher

12 And that's dated September 8th, 1998.

13 A Hm-hmm.

14 Q I read that correctly?

15 A Yes.

16 Q When I, when I look through the, the file, it  
17 seems that you and Detective Constable Shenher  
18 spoke quite a lot.

19 A Yes.

20 Q The day after that message, she, she called you,  
21 it seems, on September 9th, 1998.

22 A Hm-hmm.

23 Q And you provided information about your sister --

24 A Yes.

25 Q -- and her disappearance and her family

1 situation, --

2 A Yes.

3 Q -- her addictions. And from my review of the  
4 file, it seems that Lori Shenher entered her on  
5 the police computer system --

6 A Yes.

7 Q -- called CPIC that day, and she checked Welfare  
8 records that day to see if Welfare had been picked  
9 up.

10 A Yes.

11 Q Uhm, and then in September, she was obtaining the  
12 file from Prince George, it seems --

13 A Yes.

14 Q -- from the documents. And she was doing other  
15 police checks of various police databases called  
16 RMS and PIRS, and she was checking the Ministry of  
17 Human Resources records.

18 And she also, in early October it seems, uhm,  
19 requested historical information on, on your  
20 sister from the Surrey RCMP.

21 And I have a note here that you spoke with  
22 Lori Shenher in October of 1998, on the 21st and  
23 then on the 27th, and then again on the 28th.

24 A On the phone or in person?

25 Q On the phone, it says. Do you recall sort of

1 speaking with her --

2 A Yes, I recall --

3 Q -- in that time period?

4 A Yes, I always -- I called her all the time. If I  
5 didn't talk to her, then I would talk to someone  
6 else.

7 Q Do you recall the name of the other people who you  
8 spoke with at the VPD?

9 A Uhm, no. I, I can't remember. I can't recall.

10 Q Uhm, I see, from a review of the file, that there  
11 were a couple of, uhm, persons of interest they're  
12 often called in police language, --

13 A Hm-hmm. Yes.

14 Q -- that Detective Constable Shenher was making  
15 inquiries about. I see, yes, again in December,  
16 there were two calls between you and Detective  
17 Constable Shenher.

18 A Yes.

19 Q And then in February of 1999, she's telling you  
20 that she's got nothing new to report.

21 A Yes.

22 Q In March of 1999, did you, did your mom, Evelyn,  
23 receive a message that the Vancouver morgue had a  
24 body for her to look at? Do you recall that?

25 A Uhm, yeah, Neil told me about it and I guess it

1                   wasn't, it wasn't her.

2                   Q    No.

3                   A    Yeah.

4                   Q    Do you remember that or did Neil just tell you?

5                   A    No, just -- Neil just told me. I didn't know they  
6                   had contacted my mom. They didn't tell me anyway.

7                   Q    Okay. My note here, it says that Lori Shenher  
8                   called you and asked you to ask your mom to call  
9                   her and tell her -- talk to her about how she got  
10                  this information. You don't recall that?

11                  A    No.

12                  Q    And in, in the summer of 1999, you called the VPD  
13                  about Jackie's dental records. Do you recall  
14                  that? Do you recall talking about dental records?

15                  A    Uh, Lori Shenher told me that she was going to try  
16                  to get her dental records. That's how, that's how  
17                  I found out her jaw had been broken.

18                  Q    I see. And there were various tips in the  
19                  documents, there were various tips that were sent  
20                  out, just so you know, about possible leads that  
21                  were assigned to investigators like Dave Dickson.

22                                December 1, 1999, do you recall two VPD  
23                  officers, Detective Fell and Constable Wolthers,  
24                  interviewing you? Do you recall those names, two  
25                  men?



1 A Uhm, I can't remember. Again, if you can --  
2 Q And then I see in April of 2000, you spoke with  
3 Lori Shenher. You actually went into the station  
4 and spoke to her --  
5 A Yes.  
6 Q -- about something unrelated. I don't need to ask  
7 you what that was.  
8 A Yeah.  
9 Q But you had a face-to-face meeting with her?  
10 A Yeah, I can't remember what it was about.  
11 Q And then in October, there were, I don't know, it  
12 seems that you guys were trying to call one  
13 another. And, and did you attend the meeting with  
14 the RCMP, the family meeting --  
15 A Yes.  
16 Q -- with the RCMP?  
17 A Yes.  
18 Q And you and your mother provided photos and other  
19 personal belongings --  
20 A Uhm, yes.  
21 Q -- belonging to, to Jackie?  
22 A Yes. My mom only came down once I think.  
23 Q Yes. Uhm, I, I don't have, uhm, Ms. Pierre, I  
24 don't have an answer for you with respect to your  
25 questions about the DNA on Pickton's farm.

1 A Hmm, okay.

2 Q It is, that part of this whole timeline --

3 A Oh, excuse me, who are you?

4 Q Yes. I represent the Vancouver Police.

5 A Oh, okay.

6 Q And the --

7 A Sorry.

8 Q And the reason I tell you that, tell you that I

9 don't have an answer is this. Uhm, that part of

10 the narrative is where, that part of this

11 investigation is, --

12 A Yes.

13 Q -- is when there is a joint task force between the

14 RCMP --

15 A Yes?

16 Q -- and the VPD.

17 A Okay.

18 Q And the RCMP is leading that --

19 A Okay.

20 Q -- between 2004 and 2010.

21 A Okay. Can I ask you a question?

22 Q Hm-hmm.

23 A How do you know that Willie Pickton killed my --

24 murdered my sister? Just because she touched

25 something doesn't mean that she was murdered

1           there.

2           Q   Yes, I can understand your question. I can. And  
3           I can't tell you the answer. I'm sorry, I just  
4           don't know. I know, I, I'm sorry for that. But  
5           what I am saying is that that belongs to an  
6           investigation called "Evenhanded" and it may --  
7           and I will make inquiries, and it may be that,  
8           that someone can speak to you and provide --

9           A   Okay, I --

10          Q   -- you with a better answer.

11          A   Yeah, I want to let you know, on February 14th,  
12          they said they had seen her at the Missing Women  
13          March and I have a death certificate that was sent  
14          to me for February the 15th of 1997, and they said  
15          they found her DNA at the pig farm in March of  
16          '97.

17          Q   Right.

18          A   So that's kind of, like, really confusing, right?

19          Q   Yes.

20          A   And then they're saying they seen her in Prince  
21          George in '97.

22          Q   Yes.

23          A   You know.

24          Q   I can see how that is confusing.

25          A   You know, so.

1 Q Yes. I will speak with someone and see if someone  
2 from Evenhanded could give -- could talk to you.

3 A Okay.

4 MR. DICKSON: Those are my questions, Mr. Commissioner.

5 THE COMMISSIONER: Ms. Pierre, I want to thank you for coming  
6 here and I know, I know it's difficult for you to  
7 talk about this.

8 THE WITNESS: Yes.

9 THE COMMISSIONER: But we are, we are here to find out what, if  
10 anything, went wrong in the investigations. And  
11 the only way we can find out is if family members,  
12 such as yourself, who have gone through this, --

13 THE WITNESS: Yes.

14 THE COMMISSIONER: -- can tell us about what happened. And I,  
15 I know how, how tough it is for you to come here  
16 and talk about this, and I just want you to know  
17 that everybody here in this room sympathizes with  
18 you and our hearts go out to you. I just want you  
19 to know that.

20 THE WITNESS: Hm-hmm.

21 THE COMMISSIONER: Okay. So, thank you for coming here.

22 THE WITNESS: Thank you for taking my information. I'm not  
23 giving up.

24 THE COMMISSIONER: Don't. Don't ever give up. Thank you for  
25 your courage you have.

1 THE WITNESS: Thank you.

2 THE COMMISSIONER: All right. Mr. Chantler.

3 MR. CHANTLER: Mr. Commissioner, I note the time. It might be  
4 appropriate for a break, and we should be in time  
5 to finish today.

6 THE COMMISSIONER: All right, thank you.

7 THE REGISTRAR: This hearing will now recess for 10 minutes.

8 **(PROCEEDINGS ADJOURNED AT 2:58 P.M.)**

9 **(PROCEEDINGS RESUMED AT 3:14 P.M.)**

10 THE REGISTRAR: Order. This hearing is now resumed.

11 MR. CHANTLER: For the record, Neil Chantler. Calling the next  
12 witness, Sandra Gagnon.

13 **SANDRA GAGNON, affirmed:**

14 THE REGISTRAR: Would you state your name please?

15 THE WITNESS: Sandra Gagnon, G-a-g-n-o-n.

16 THE REGISTRAR: Thank you. Counsel.

17 **EXAMINATION IN CHIEF BY MR. CHANTLER:**

18 Q Thank you, Ms. Gagnon.

19 A You're welcome.

20 Q You were the sister of Janet Henry, correct?

21 A Yes.

22 Q And Janet disappeared from the Downtown Eastside  
23 in June 1997?

24 A Yes.

25 Q Can you confirm for us that Janet is one of the

1 women on the missing person board to your left?

2 A Yes, she's on the third row down on the right-hand  
3 side.

4 Q And you are indicating --

5 A My hands are shaking. Right there.

6 Q Thank you. Now, the mystery surrounding Janet's  
7 disappearance has never been solved?

8 A No, it hasn't.

9 Q And no trace of Janet was found on Robert  
10 Pickton's farm?

11 A Hm-hmm.

12 Q Correct?

13 A Right.

14 Q And no charges have ever been laid in connection  
15 with Janet's disappearance or murder; is that  
16 correct?

17 A Right.

18 Q Uhm, before I ask you a bit about Janet's life, we  
19 will ask about you.

20 A Okay.

21 Q And tell us where you were born and when.

22 A I was born in Alert Bay, November 28th, 1955.

23 Q And your parents were?

24 A My mom was Elizabeth Henry, but she came from Fort  
25 Rupert. She was from the Hunt family. And my dad

1                   was Patrick Henry, he came from Kingcome Inlet.

2                   Q    Okay.

3                   A    They're both deceased.

4                   Q    You had a number of siblings?

5                   A    Yeah, I had around 11 or 12.

6                   Q    Hm-hmm.

7                   A    Janet, Lance, Debbie, Stan were the youngest, and

8                   after my twin and I, we're the oldest.

9                   Q    Okay. How many of your siblings are, are still

10                  with us?

11                  A    Pardon me?

12                  Q    How many of your siblings are still with us today?

13                  A    Uhm, only my sister, Donna and Judy and I, out of

14                  all, out of all of that.

15                  Q    And you grew up in Kingcome Inlet?

16                  A    Yeah. My mom and dad lived in Kingcome Inlet. It

17                  was a really beautiful little town. My dad was a

18                  logger and a fisherman and my mother, well, she

19                  was a good mom.

20                  Q    And then you moved to Alert Bay?

21                  A    Yeah, we moved to Alert Bay when I was in about

22                  Grade 3.

23                  Q    And you went to school there?

24                  A    Yeah, I went to school there till about Grade 6

25                  maybe.

1 Q Hm-hmm.

2 A Don't really remember.

3 Q And this is the 1970s?

4 A Yes.

5 Q And Janet was there along with you?

6 A Uhm, yeah, Janet, Lance, Debbie and Stan.

7 Q Hm-hmm. And around that time, in the 1970s, you

8 ended up in foster homes?

9 A Yeah, my twin brother and I were in one; and my

10 sister, Janet, and Lance were both together; and

11 my sister, Debbie, was alone.

12 Q Can you tell us a bit about that time in your

13 life?

14 A Well, it was hard for me because I missed my

15 mother. We were there for about a year. We were

16 there for about one year.

17 Q Okay. Things made a turn for the better in the

18 '70s and you moved to Vancouver. Tell us about

19 that.

20 A Yeah, actually, David Berner used to run the

21 X-Kalay Foundation here in Vancouver, and he got

22 us out of foster homes. Him and my mom flew to

23 Alert Bay to get us and we came to Vancouver and,

24 uh, lived there for a couple of years.

25 Q Can you tell us a bit about the X-Kalay



1 Foundation?

2 A Well, it was a place where people were able to go,  
3 go there with their families. Uhm, it was kind of  
4 like -- I don't know what you would call it. Uhm,  
5 it was for alcoholics and drug addicts, and  
6 parents were able to bring their kids there.

7 Q Okay. You went to high school at Kitsilano?

8 A Yeah, I went with my twin brother.

9 Q And then you moved to Winnipeg?

10 A Yes. Moved to Winnipeg and I was there for a  
11 couple of years. But when I was living at X-Kalay  
12 in Vancouver, uhm, they were teaching us to do  
13 work. Like, I worked on the telephones there and  
14 it was a pretty stable place to be. Uhm, they  
15 kept us children busy and everything like that.

16 Q Sandra, by way of introduction, I wanted you to  
17 make some comment about how, after your sister's  
18 disappearance, uhm, you got involved in a number  
19 of endeavors that were things to be proud of.

20 A Yes.

21 Q You spoke in Ottawa. Can you tell us a bit about  
22 that?

23 A Yeah, actually, when Janet went missing, uhm, I  
24 done so many things to try find her. I went to  
25 the media. I, uhm, went to *America's Most Wanted*.

1 I went to every newspaper outlet here in  
2 Vancouver. And, and the Native Women's  
3 Association of Canada heard about me and they flew  
4 me into Ottawa and I was able to speak at  
5 Parliament Hill, inside Parliament Hill, and I  
6 learned about a lot of other First Nations women  
7 who went missing, and I met a lot of them who were  
8 going through a whole lot with missing loved ones  
9 and murders that were unsolved, and it kind of  
10 helped me because, uhm, I wasn't alone. I met  
11 other families who were going through the same  
12 thing as I am.

13 Q When was that approximately?

14 A Uhm, this was probably about six years ago.

15 Q Okay. And also by way of introduction, I wanted  
16 to read a passage into the record from what's been  
17 referred to as Ms. Shenher's manuscript, but  
18 before I do that, I thought maybe you could just  
19 tell us a bit about your relationship with Ms.  
20 Shenher through the course of, of your sister's  
21 missing women investigation.

22 A Lori Shenher helped me out quite a bit when Janet  
23 went missing. Uhm, she was always there to  
24 listen. And, uh, when -- oh, she was able -- she  
25 -- there was a -- what's the name of that show

1                   again?  The *Vicki Gabereau Show*, I was invited to  
2                   go on there and Lori Shenher came with me and she,  
3                   uh, talked to them about me having a sister that  
4                   went missing and that, uhm, Janet wouldn't just  
5                   leave without letting any one of us know.

6                   Q    So, Ms. Shenher has written a manuscript that this  
7                   inquiry has heard much about, and in that, and you  
8                   know this, because you are privy to the  
9                   manuscript.

10                  A    Hmm.

11                  Q    She has actually written "A Letter to Janet" --

12                  A    Okay.

13                  Q    -- you could say, obviously not one that was ever  
14                  given to Janet.

15                  A    Right.

16                  Q    But I am going to read it.  It's short it doesn't  
17                  have any privileged information in it and I think  
18                  it's good for an introduction to Ms. Gagnon.  At  
19                  page 76, Ms. Shenher writes in her manuscript:

20                                 A Letter to Janet Henry.

21                                 Dear Janet,

22                                 I know this may seem strange, but I am  
23                                 writing to tell you about the amazing spirit  
24                                 that is your sister, Sandy.  I think you  
25                                 knew, but you would be so proud of this woman

1 and all she has done to try and find you and  
2 lay you to rest.  
3 Never have I heard of a family that has borne  
4 the degree and depth of tragedy that your  
5 family has -- sadly, your disappearance has  
6 not been the only pain they have known, and  
7 even as Sandy has coped with your loss, the  
8 losses continue to mount for her and your  
9 family.  
10 Where does the pain end? Sandy asked me that  
11 once and I had no answer.  
12 This soft-spoken, beautiful, dignified,  
13 gracious woman has fought on through the  
14 loudest, ugliest, undignified and ungracious  
15 moments a human being can ever imagine.  
16 She - more than anyone I have never known -  
17 deserves an answer to that question.  
18 She is my hero, Sandra Gagnon. Your sister.  
19 A warrior fighting for your memory, for your  
20 dignity. A truly courageous person. I worry  
21 about her daily, hoping her faith and  
22 strength will endure, that her life will  
23 somehow get easier, that she will find some  
24 sort of meaning in this avalanche of pain  
25 that has been her existence for much too

1                   long. Hers is a light that must never go  
2                   out.

3                   How did you feel upon reading those words?

4                   A I find it very encouraging because, uh, I just  
5                   done what I had to do. Uhm, Janet was my youngest  
6                   sister and I promised Deborah, her daughter, when  
7                   she was 12 years old, that I would do anything in  
8                   my power to find her mom.

9                   And another reason I had done that was  
10                  because, uhm, my sister, Levina, was raped and  
11                  murdered when she was 19, and I couldn't do  
12                  anything then, because I was only 12. But when  
13                  Janet went missing, that's when I thought, "I am  
14                  going to do something about this. I am going to  
15                  find -- I want to find out who took her." And  
16                  like I said, I told Deborah, I will do anything to  
17                  find her mom, and that's what I done. But I never  
18                  knew it would have been this huge and this ugly.

19                  Q When was Janet born?

20                  A Janet was born April 10th, 1961.

21                  Q I have handed up a photo, and accompanying the  
22                  photo, a brochure, that I believe you prepared  
23                  recently for a memorial for Janet; is that  
24                  correct?

25                  A Yes.

1 Q And the photo, can you tell us a bit about the  
2 photo? When would it have been taken?

3 A This would have been -- I think it would have been  
4 when, uhm, Janet got married. This was in happier  
5 days. Uhm, you can tell in the picture that, uhm,  
6 she's calm.

7 Q Will you hold the photo up for the gallery to see?

8 A Sure.

9 THE COMMISSIONER: Yes, I have a copy of it here.

10 THE WITNESS: Okay.

11 MR. CHANTLER:

12 Q Tell us about Janet as a young girl. What was she  
13 like?

14 A Uhm, to be honest with you, uhm, I don't remember  
15 our childhood.

16 Q Okay. And a bit later in life?

17 A Uhm, well, when we got older and moved to Maple  
18 Ridge, Janet got married, and I was married and,  
19 uhm, Janet and I were always there for one  
20 another. But I blocked out a lot of our  
21 childhood. I don't really remember too much.

22 Q And she was married in the 1980s?

23 A She was married in New Westminster and I was her  
24 maid of honour, yes.

25 Q That's right. And you were quite close with her

1 at that time?

2 A Yeah, we were really close.

3 Q And you knew her husband well?

4 A Yes, I did.

5 Q And what was their relationship like?

6 A Uhm, Janet never really said too much but it  
7 seemed to be okay, but they ended up with -- ended  
8 up getting divorced.

9 Q They had one child together?

10 A Uh, yeah, Deborah. She is now 27.

11 Q Okay. Now, Janet had an unfortunate event that  
12 may have changed the rest of the course of her  
13 life in the late 1980s. Can you tell us about  
14 that?

15 A Uhm, in the early '80s, Janet was also one of  
16 Clifford Olsen's victims. Uhm, she just told me  
17 that Clifford Olsen drugged her and she doesn't  
18 remember a single thing that happened.

19 Q Okay.

20 A And the reason I found out was, uhm, my mom got a  
21 phone call from the RCMP in Maple Ridge, and I  
22 guess Clifford Olsen had her, my mom's phone  
23 number. But Janet was fortunate to get away, but  
24 now she may have been Robert Pickton's and that's  
25 what really makes me sick.

1 Q Okay. You and, and Janet were still quite close  
2 in the 1990s. You got her an apartment in Maple  
3 Ridge.

4 A Yes, I did.

5 Q Take your time.

6 A Janet was living in the Downtown Eastside and my  
7 sister, Dorothy, and I, uhm, my sister, Dorothy,  
8 and I moved Janet to Maple Ridge, and she was  
9 really happy. She had gotten herself a cat and  
10 she was happy to be away from the Downtown  
11 Eastside. And uh, she lost her apartment because  
12 her so-called boyfriend came to Maple Ridge and he  
13 spent her rent money with her and she ended up  
14 back downtown.

15 Q Okay. Now, she disappeared from the Downtown  
16 Eastside in June '97, as we've said. If we focus  
17 in on that last year of her life, can you tell us  
18 a bit about where she was living and what her life  
19 was like?

20 A She was living at 367 East Hastings at the Holburn  
21 Hotel.

22 Q Were you regularly in touch?

23 A Yeah. Janet would phone me all the time, every  
24 day or every other day, and if I wasn't home, she  
25 would leave a message just to say, "I love you



1                   much," and she stopped calling me. The last time  
2                   she called me was June 25th.

3                   Q    Do you know in that last year if Janet was  
4                   suffering from substance abuse issues?

5                   A    Yeah, she was. She drank quite a bit and she was  
6                   doing drugs, and I heard she was working the  
7                   streets.

8                   Q    Is that something that she talked to you about?

9                   A    No.

10                  Q    Okay.

11                  A    No, I heard from other people from downtown that  
12                  she was working the streets. I guess I didn't  
13                  want to believe it.

14                  Q    You were very close?

15                  A    Yeah.

16                  Q    You spoke almost every day?

17                  A    Yes.

18                  Q    You always --

19                  A    Every day or every other day.

20                  Q    You always expected to hear from her?

21                  A    Yes.

22                  Q    Did she ever take off for any periods of time?

23                  A    At one time I think she was gone for about a week  
24                  and, uhm, that was about it. But the last time  
25                  she spoke to me was June 25th. She was going to

1           be coming over to my place. We were going to go  
2           out to a restaurant, but that day I was feeling  
3           really, really down because I was going through a  
4           lot with my teenager, and I told my sister "not  
5           today" and I didn't hear from her again.

6           Q   When did you first realize that something might  
7           have happened to her?

8           A   What I had done is called 911 and I said, "I am  
9           worried about my sister." I said, "Maybe she OD'd  
10          in her room," because Janet called me one time  
11          from the Downtown Eastside and she said to me that  
12          she had a pile of pills in her hand and said she  
13          wanted to kill herself, because she said she felt  
14          really dirty because she was raped by a guy and,  
15          uhm, he got charged for aggravated assault. He  
16          went to jail. But, uhm, I was worried that Janet  
17          might have taken her life. That's why I called  
18          911, to please go check her room.

19          Q   And just so we are clear, uhm, the last time you  
20          spoke to her was June 25th, --

21          A   Yes.

22          Q   -- 1997?

23          A   Yes.

24          Q   And the record suggests that you made that phone  
25          call on June 28th, 1997. Does that accord with

1                   your recollection?

2           A    Pardon me?

3           Q    Does that sound right?  June 28th, three days

4                   later?

5           A    Uhm, well, the last time I heard from Janet was

6                   June 25th.

7           Q    Yeah.

8           A    And, uhm, I called 911, I think it was a few days

9                   later, to, to get them to check her room because I

10                  was worried that she might have taken her life.

11          Q    Did you speak to dispatch at 911 or did you get

12                  put through to someone at the Missing Person Unit?

13          A    I think I spoke to dispatch.  I don't really

14                  remember, to be honest with you.

15          Q    Do you recall speaking to someone by the name of

16                  McEachern?

17          A    Uhm, I don't remember.  I don't recall the name.

18          Q    I am going to refer you to the documents.

19          A    Okay.

20          Q    The binder in front of you --

21          A    I don't have -- oh.

22          Q    -- has a number of tabs, and I am looking at a

23                  document at tab 21.  This is, for the record,

24                  RCMP-017-000066.

25          A    Yes.

1 Q And at the top of the page, it says it's a  
2 Vancouver Police Department Missing Persons  
3 Report?

4 A Yes.

5 Q Have you seen this document before today, in  
6 preparation for these hearings?

7 A Uhm, yeah, yesterday.

8 Q Okay.

9 A Yes.

10 Q And so you are familiar with the date at the top,  
11 June 28th, '97. This was three days after you say  
12 you last spoke to your sister. Uhm, this is a  
13 missing person report for Janet Henry, you see  
14 under the name. And midway down the page under  
15 "Remarks," there are some handwritten notes, and I  
16 will quote them.

17 Native, heavy drug user, has been suicidal as  
18 a result of sex assault. Is also HIV  
19 positive. Bartender of Dodson hasn't seen  
20 her. Phone # of hotel [and gives the  
21 number]. Staff left note on Wednesday.  
22 Hasn't been removed.

23 Your name is on the form as the person  
24 reporting the missing person. Does this all  
25 accord with your recollection of, of reporting

1                   your sister's disappearance and the information  
2                   that you gave to the police?

3                   A    Yeah.

4                   Q    Okay.  Now, what was the next contact you had with  
5                   the police; do you recall?

6                   A    I don't remember.  I just called quite often  
7                   because I wanted to see if they have heard  
8                   anything.

9                   Q    Okay.

10                  A    I never stopped speaking, speaking to the police.  
11                  I, uhm, eventually got posters, posters, and I put  
12                  them all over the place.

13                  Q    Okay.  Now, presumably, you told the police of  
14                  your sister's home address, where she was living.

15                  A    Yes.

16                  Q    Is that correct?

17                  A    Yes.

18                  Q    Are you aware of when the police first attended  
19                  her last-known residence in response to your  
20                  missing person report?

21                  A    Well, I thought they would have done it right  
22                  away, but from what I learned, they done it three  
23                  weeks later.

24                  Q    Okay.  And that is what the record suggests.  If  
25                  we turn to tab 23, there is a notation,

1 handwritten notes dated July 17th, '97. At the  
2 top right of the page, it does have a name as to  
3 whose notes it is, but it's hard to read.

4 A Steinbach.

5 Q It's Steinbach. You know Constable Steinbach, or  
6 Detective Steinbach?

7 A Yeah.

8 Q You had numerous dealings with Detective Steinbach  
9 in the course of the following year --

10 A Yes.

11 Q -- in the search for your sister?

12 A Yes.

13 Q And what Detective Steinbach reports in these  
14 notes is that on the 17th of July, '97, which is  
15 19 days after the initial missing person report,  
16 he attended the Holburn Rooms.

17 A Right.

18 Q That's 367 East Hastings. Now, that's where your  
19 sister was living, correct?

20 A Right.

21 Q And as far as the record shows, that was the first  
22 police attendance at the Holburn Rooms?

23 A Yeah, that's what it says.

24 Q And you don't have any information to suggest  
25 otherwise, that the police went on an earlier

1 occasion, do you?

2 A No, I don't.

3 Q Okay. Do you have any information as to why the  
4 police might not have attended her last-known  
5 residence earlier than 19 days after your report?

6 A Uhm, I don't know. I just thought that they would  
7 have done it right away. I don't remember them  
8 calling me back or anything about it.

9 Q Okay.

10 A Well, maybe later, but --

11 Q Sitting here today, it seems like an awfully long  
12 time to you?

13 A It is, yeah. It's not right when you call, call  
14 in, call in for an emergency and they only go on  
15 the 28th. I think that's pretty absurd.

16 Q Hm-hmm. Now, if we look further down that note on  
17 that same page, Detective Steinbach writes:

18 Attended Holburn Rooms and spoke with  
19 landlord, David Wu. He stated he hasn't  
20 heard from missing person since the  
21 disappearance. Room is paid up till the 28th  
22 of July, '97. His sister and perhaps a TV  
23 crew have been the only people in the room  
24 though an Indian male wanted entry.

25 Now, what do you know about the comments made

1 in that set of notes?

2 A Uhm --

3 Q Had you attended the room?

4 A Yeah, I did. I did, with the media, --

5 Q Okay.

6 A -- because Janet was missing.

7 Q And you had engaged the media yourself?

8 A Yeah.

9 Q Because? Tell us why.

10 A Well, I talked to the media because, uhm, because  
11 obviously Janet was missing and I was really  
12 worried about her and, uhm, from what the landlady  
13 told me, she was saying to me that, that Janet  
14 paid her rent but she didn't come home. I called  
15 her constantly --

16 Q Hm-hmm.

17 A -- at the Holburn Hotel.

18 Q Okay.

19 A And that's when I called the media, because I  
20 wanted to express how serious this is.

21 Q Do you know anything about the comment about an  
22 Indian male wanting entry?

23 A Uhm, no, I don't.

24 Q Okay. As an aside, were you aware of any  
25 boyfriends of your sister at the time of her



1 disappearance?

2 A Uhm, yeah, there was Louie Levesque and there  
3 was --

4 Q Okay.

5 A -- Louis Levesque and --

6 Q We can just refer to them as their first names.

7 A Sure. Sorry.

8 Q That's okay.

9 A There was Louie and there was Bernie.

10 Q Okay. And did you tell the police about Louie and  
11 Bernie?

12 A I did, yeah.

13 Q Okay.

14 A Because Louis was really obsessed with my sister  
15 and I didn't trust him.

16 Q Okay. I will ask you a couple more questions  
17 about them in a moment.

18 A Hm-hmm.

19 Q I will carry on on this page. Detective Steinbach  
20 writes:

21 I seized a number of photos and paper from  
22 room. [Something] suitcase was open which  
23 contained clothes as if she was going on a  
24 trip, and a paper bag with toiletries was  
25 found on bureau. The rest of bureau was

1                   empty. There was no wallet or ID, food,  
2                   cleaning supplies, although the apartment was  
3                   neat.

4                   Uhm, now, I will just have you agree that  
5                   there was evidence, if we can call it that, in  
6                   your sister's room --

7           A    Yes.

8           Q    -- that assisted in understanding what might have  
9                happened to her.

10          A    Yeah. I was really surprised when I went there,  
11                too, because her suitcase was packed and, uhm,  
12                there was a little bag of cassettes. And, yeah,  
13                so I was wondering about that, too.

14          Q    You would agree that there, there was evidence in  
15                the room that might have assisted the police?

16          A    Yeah. It was unusual for Janet.

17          Q    And it would be important for the police to attend  
18                the room as early as possible after the  
19                disappearance in order to preserve that evidence  
20                and, uhm, collect the evidence before anything  
21                happens to it?

22          A    Yeah, definitely.

23          Q    Especially --

24          A    It should have been done right away.

25          Q    Correct. What happened in the, the next weeks and

1 months with respect to your sister's  
2 investigation?

3 A Uhm, I kept speaking to the media to, to get help.  
4 I was desperate to find my sister, because I was  
5 worried about her. And, uhm, I walked in -- I  
6 walked downtown, I can't tell you how long, to try  
7 find my sister. I went in and out of the bars,  
8 talked to everybody. I could almost write a book  
9 with everything that I done for Janet to try find  
10 her. I talked to truckers. Uh, I put her posters  
11 up all over the place.

12 Q Did you have a lot of contact with Detective  
13 Steinbach in that time?

14 A Uhm, I don't remember the dates that I spoke to  
15 Steinbach, but I talked to quite a few of them  
16 when Janet went missing and, uhm, because it was  
17 15 years ago, I don't really remember all the  
18 names, but I always spoke to them about Janet and  
19 kept trying to find her.

20 Q And when did your dealings with Constable Shenher,  
21 Detective Constable Shenher begin?

22 A I don't remember, but all I know is that Lori  
23 Shenher was a lot of support. I didn't think this  
24 would have been so hard to do.

25 Q Would you like to take a break, Ms. Gagnon, or

1                   would you like me to continue?

2                   A    Please.

3   THE COMMISSIONER:  Do you want a little time?

4   THE WITNESS:  I want a little break.

5   THE COMMISSIONER:  Okay.

6   THE REGISTRAR:  This hearing will now recess for five minutes.

7                                   **(PROCEEDINGS ADJOURNED AT 3:45 P.M.)**

8                                   **(PROCEEDINGS RESUMED AT 3:51 P.M.)**

9   THE REGISTRAR:  Order.  This hearing is now resumed.

10  MR. CHANTLER:

11                   Q    Thank you, Ms. Gagnon.

12                   A    You're welcome.

13                   Q    We were -- we've been over the initial police  
14                                   response to your report of your sister's  
15                                   disappearance and you have expressed the view that  
16                                   the time it took for the police to attend the  
17                                   last-known residence was inadequate and surprising  
18                                   in the circumstances.  You have said, generally,  
19                                   that you had significant contact with Detective  
20                                   Steinbach over the following months and that you,  
21                                   yourself, were engaged in a thorough search for  
22                                   your sister and, and --

23                   A    Yes.

24                   Q    -- doing everything you could to speak to people  
25                                   in the Downtown Eastside, put posters up and try

1 and find your sister. Can you tell us generally  
2 how you feel about the Vancouver Police's  
3 involvement in the investigation in that time?

4 A Well, I find it, I find it really disturbing  
5 because our women, my sister, was a human being.  
6 Janet was a mother. Janet was a daughter and my  
7 sister. And why don't -- why didn't they take it  
8 seriously like they did with, like they do with  
9 other, other people who are missing? Like, if  
10 there was anything -- if there was something done  
11 right from the beginning, there wouldn't be so  
12 many women missing.

13 And, you know, it's really, it's one of the  
14 biggest things that I have ever been through in my  
15 life and it's like a living nightmare. And I just  
16 feel really, really sad that the police  
17 department, like, I have been watching this at  
18 home, and that I found it really sad on how they  
19 called the women down. I was really disturbed  
20 about that. And when you become police officers,  
21 you become police officers to help people. You  
22 don't become police officers to be judgmental.  
23 You are supposed to be there for -- to serve and  
24 protect.

25 Uhm, my grandson, Damian, wants to be an RCMP

1 when he grows up, and I am really proud of him.  
2 But my grandson also had to find out that I have a  
3 missing sister, because now that he's older, he  
4 would be seeing this on the news and, uhm, then he  
5 would be, "Well, I didn't know grandma had a  
6 missing sister." So, his mom had to explain it to  
7 him, and that was really hard for me, because I  
8 never wanted my grandson ever to, ever to even  
9 hear what happened to our women. Children  
10 shouldn't have to be going through this because  
11 the police didn't do, a lot of the police didn't  
12 do what they were supposed to be doing.

13 I've watched and I have listened to the  
14 inquiry and it's been really, really tough for me  
15 because, because I fought for Janet and I fought  
16 for -- you know, and I wanted to fight hard  
17 because I lost another sister who was raped and  
18 murdered, and it's been, it's been way too much.

19 But I, you know, I tell my grandson too, I  
20 say to my grandson, "You know, it's okay that you  
21 want to be an RCMP." I encourage him. He has a  
22 really good mom and stepdad. His stepdad was  
23 actually an RCMP, or his stepdad used to be an  
24 RCMP. And I have a cousin in Quebec, who is a  
25 police officer. And, uhm, no matter what, my

1 grandson still wants to be an RCMP. But it must  
2 make him wonder when he heard about this whole  
3 Pickton stuff and why it's -- why we're having an  
4 inquiry now, and kids shouldn't have to be going  
5 through this.

6 There is a lot of children from the missing  
7 women who have to suffer because, because of this  
8 living nightmare. I see young ones in here and it  
9 breaks my heart because you see, you see these  
10 ugly movies on thriller shows and stuff like that,  
11 not in real life.

12 Q Sandra, are you aware of whether or not there is  
13 an ongoing investigation into Janet's  
14 disappearance?

15 A No, it's closed now. Uhm, I talked to Donna, to  
16 Donna from the task force, and she said to me  
17 that, uhm, there isn't anything else that they can  
18 do. They, they have done everything. And, uhm --  
19 but, uhm, Wayne, Wayne from the task force did  
20 tell me that he felt almost certain that Janet  
21 ended up on that farm. He told me that just  
22 before I went to Alert Bay to have my sister's  
23 memorial. We had Janet's memorial April 10th.  
24 And he thinks Janet ended up there.

25 And from all the people that I have spoken to

1           that have seen Janet on that farm, we believe she  
2           ended up there. And all I wanted to do was find  
3           out so my family and I can rest. You know, it was  
4           hard -- I mean, I have got a strong faith and I  
5           will see Janet again, but it was hard to go home  
6           to Alert Bay with no body.

7           I am getting through. I am getting through  
8           in life. Uhm, I am going to trauma counselling  
9           and, uh, she helps people with -- who have been  
10          through so much trauma. And I am sober now, it's  
11          been a couple years, and I feel good about life  
12          again because I'm trying to live my life now. And  
13          after the court is over, after this is all over,  
14          uhm, I just want to rest, because it's -- you  
15          know, you always think about it every day. I  
16          mean, I don't live, live it every day, but I think  
17          about it.

18          I am just fortunate when I think, when I  
19          think about my mom, that my mom wasn't alive when  
20          this happened, because it would have took her.  
21          I've seen what it done to my mom when my sister,  
22          Levina, was raped and murdered. I was only 12  
23          then and there was a knock at the door at my  
24          apartment and my older sister, Dot, was there and,  
25          uhm, Dot went to answer the door and, uhm, I seen



1 an RCMP at the door and I tried going in the  
2 kitchen with her and my mom, and Dot told me to  
3 get in the living room, because I was just a kid  
4 then. And then I went to the living room and, all  
5 of a sudden, I heard a scream and I went to the  
6 corner and my mom fainted because my sister,  
7 Levina, was murdered. And this is why I have  
8 become a fighter. My mom went through so much.  
9 But that's why I became a fighter for Janet. You  
10 know, it really mattered whoever took her, you  
11 know, and the way our women were killed.

12 Q Ms. Gagnon, I know that my friend, Ms. Hunt, has  
13 some questions for you as well and, uhm, but  
14 before I leave off, is there anything that I  
15 didn't ask you that you hoped to be able to tell  
16 the commissioner?

17 A Uhm, no. I just want to say that I am glad that I  
18 was able to be here to speak up for my sister,  
19 Janet, and my family, and I hope one day that we  
20 will find answers for Janet. You know, we had her  
21 funeral, her memorial now, and I just want truth,  
22 that's all.

23 And I am really thankful for, uhm, Lori  
24 Shenher, for the help that she's helped me with,  
25 because she helped me through thick and thin.

1 Uhm, when my son died, I talked to Lori about it,  
2 talked to her a lot about it. And my son actually  
3 died 2002 the night that we heard about Robert  
4 Pickton. He hung himself. And, uh, I never  
5 thought I would ever be the same again. But I  
6 have a strong faith and I know I'm going to see my  
7 boy again.

8 But since Janet went missing, my sister,  
9 Dorothy, died. And eight months later, my  
10 brother, George, he drank himself to death. And  
11 then my son hung himself. And then my brother,  
12 Lance, was going to the voir dire, and it took its  
13 toll on him. I went to see him two weeks before  
14 he died, and I said, "Lance, I'm worried about  
15 you. I'm worried you're going to get really  
16 sick." He said, "Sands, it's something I have to  
17 do." And one day I was on the bus and, uhm, his  
18 ex-wife called me, and I thought she's calling me  
19 in the daytime, she usually works all the time.  
20 So, I was getting really worried, and she sounded  
21 really sad. And I said, "Brenda, what's wrong?"  
22 I said, "Something happened." I said, "What? Did  
23 your mom or dad die or" -- you know, because she  
24 was really sounding upset. And she said, "No,  
25 Sandra, Lance." So, my brother died after he left

1 court that day.

2 And his 15-year-old son went to see him the  
 3 next day and his dad was at the computer. He  
 4 thought his dad was joking around, so he said he  
 5 was going to spill cold water on him, and his dad  
 6 didn't move, and he was dead. And him and his dad  
 7 were really close. They were, like, best buddies.  
 8 Cody was 15 when his dad died, and when they had  
 9 to move all their belongings, Cody took his dad's  
 10 -- he slept on his dad's pillow, just to feel  
 11 close to him.

12 But it's been, been really tough. And I just  
 13 hope that something will come out of this inquiry,  
 14 because this is the second inquiry I have had in  
 15 my life. I had a twin brother who was hit by a  
 16 cop car in 1990. I didn't go because he was my  
 17 twin. It would have been too much for me. So,  
 18 this is the second time for me. I am losing all  
 19 my loved ones. Like, that was tough, but I am a  
 20 survivor, I am a grandma and auntie and, you know,  
 21 I keep my head up no matter what happened and  
 22 stuff. I am someone.

23 Q Thank you, Ms. Gagnon, for sharing --

24 A You're welcome.

25 Q -- your story with us.



1                   whatever you want to do.

2   THE WITNESS:   So, there is about 15 more minutes?

3   THE COMMISSIONER:  Well, we can do -- how long will you be?

4   MS. HUNT:   Five to 10 minutes.

5   THE COMMISSIONER:  Oh, okay.

6   MS. HUNT:   It depends on how much Ms. Gagnon would like to  
7                   share about the questions I am going to ask her.

8                   So, it could be 10 minutes to 25 minutes.

9   THE COMMISSIONER:  Do you have questions too, Mr. Dickson?

10  MR. DICKSON:   Just a few, Mr. Commissioner.

11  THE COMMISSIONER:  Okay.  You know, we can keep going, but I  
12                   just want to make sure you're comfortable, that's  
13                   all.

14  THE WITNESS:   I'm going to be okay.  Thanks.

15  THE COMMISSIONER:  All right.

16  THE WITNESS:   Yeah.

17  THE COMMISSIONER:  You let me know if you feel that you need a  
18                   break --

19  THE WITNESS:   All right.

20  THE COMMISSIONER:  -- or if you want to come back tomorrow,  
21                   rather than go on today.  So, we are in your  
22                   hands, okay?

23  THE WITNESS:   Yeah.  I was wondering if we could please, if you  
24                   don't mind, if we can finish it tomorrow.

25  THE COMMISSIONER:  Okay.

1 THE WITNESS: Because when, when I, uhm, go through too much,  
2 every now and then, I get panic attacks.

3 THE COMMISSIONER: We, we know, we know how difficult this is  
4 for you, and so if you feel comfortable going  
5 tomorrow, we will go tomorrow morning.

6 THE WITNESS: Please.

7 THE COMMISSIONER: All right. Thank you.

8 THE WITNESS: Thank you so much.

9 THE REGISTRAR: This hearing is now adjourned for the day and  
10 will resume at 9:30 tomorrow morning.

11 **(PROCEEDINGS ADJOURNED AT 4:06 P.M.)**

12  
13 I hereby certify the foregoing  
14 to be a true and accurate  
15 transcription of the proceedings  
16 herein to the best of my skill  
17 and ability.

18  
19  
20  
21 Gabriele Heise, RPR  
22 Official Reporter, BCSRA No. 399  
23 Realtime Certified Reporter  
24 United Reporting Service Ltd.

25

## INDEX OF PROCEEDINGS

	PAGE NO.
Proceedings	1
1) LILA PURCELL (for the Families)	
Examination in chief by Mr. Chantler	2
Cross-examination by Ms. Hunt	43
Cross-examination by Mr. Dickson	83
2) DAPHNE ANNE PIERRE (for the Families)	
Examination in chief by Mr. Chantler	95
Cross-examination by Mr. Dickson	131
3) SANDRA GAGNON (for the Families)	
Examination in chief by Mr. Chantler	141
Proceedings	172

EXHIBITS

NO.	DESCRIPTION	PAGE
(EXHIBIT NO. 136:	Colour photograph of Tanya Holyk)	4
(EXHIBIT NO. 137:	Photograph of Jackie Murdock)	97
(EXHIBIT NO. 138:	Photograph of Janet Henry and memorial card)	172
(EXHIBIT NO. 139(NR):	Black binder labeled "Cameron Ward & Company, Family Witness Brief #1")	172



<p style="text-align: center;"><b>\$</b></p> <p><b>\$1,500</b> [1] - 124:2  <b>\$200</b> [1] - 67:20  <b>\$25</b> [1] - 66:25</p>	<p>102:24, 102:25, 116:20, 143:5, 149:7, 149:12, 168:22  <b>12:16</b> [1] - 95:4  <b>13</b> [5] - 5:25, 6:1, 102:25, 104:12, 117:15  <b>131</b> [1] - 1:14  <b>136</b> [3] - 4:15, 4:16, 2:5  <b>137</b> [3] - 97:14, 97:15, 2:6  <b>138</b> [3] - 172:7, 172:9, 2:7  <b>139(NR)</b> [2] - 172:11, 2:9  <b>139(NR)</b> [1] - 172:8  <b>14</b> [4] - 5:19, 57:17, 104:12, 119:15  <b>141</b> [1] - 1:16  <b>14th</b> [4] - 111:20, 112:3, 114:2, 139:11  <b>15</b> [13] - 31:24, 43:2, 57:17, 80:16, 95:25, 96:1, 132:20, 163:17, 171:8, 172:15, 172:25, 173:2  <b>15-year-old</b> [1] - 171:2  <b>15th</b> [2] - 89:7, 139:14  <b>16</b> [5] - 1:2, 31:24, 32:8, 62:4, 121:5  <b>16th</b> [2] - 31:7, 87:7  <b>172</b> [3] - 1:18, 2:7, 2:9  <b>17th</b> [6] - 29:7, 87:16, 87:19, 91:10, 158:1, 158:14  <b>18</b> [7] - 59:17, 59:19, 59:21, 61:25, 62:20, 102:8  <b>18th</b> [1] - 7:22  <b>19</b> [4] - 102:8, 149:11, 158:15, 159:5  <b>19-year-old</b> [1] - 57:19  <b>1955</b> [1] - 142:22  <b>1961</b> [1] - 149:20  <b>1969</b> [1] - 47:4  <b>1970s</b> [2] - 144:3, 144:7  <b>1971</b> [3] - 97:22, 97:24, 102:1  <b>1974</b> [1] - 6:19  <b>1975</b> [1] - 8:11  <b>1978</b> [1] - 102:17  <b>1980s</b> [2] - 150:22, 151:13  <b>1987</b> [1] - 89:1  <b>1990</b> [1] - 171:16  <b>1990s</b> [1] - 152:2</p>	<p><b>1995</b> [2] - 10:24, 87:14  <b>1996</b> [8] - 3:11, 4:20, 10:24, 16:12, 83:18, 98:1, 98:2, 104:17  <b>1997</b> [15] - 21:22, 25:22, 29:7, 88:3, 88:15, 97:25, 112:4, 112:5, 114:2, 115:11, 116:9, 139:14, 141:23, 154:22, 154:25  <b>1998</b> [26] - 31:7, 32:1, 86:24, 87:7, 87:16, 87:20, 88:1, 88:22, 89:4, 89:7, 89:15, 90:7, 90:14, 90:17, 91:11, 91:22, 106:13, 117:18, 122:11, 123:7, 125:12, 132:13, 133:12, 133:21, 134:22  <b>1999</b> [9] - 92:9, 92:12, 130:8, 135:19, 135:22, 136:12, 136:22  <b>19th</b> [1] - 91:21  <b>1:45</b> [1] - 95:3  <b>1:57</b> [1] - 95:5</p>	<p><b>26th</b> [1] - 90:7  <b>27</b> [2] - 101:16, 151:10  <b>27th</b> [2] - 13:11, 134:23  <b>28th</b> [8] - 102:1, 134:23, 142:22, 154:25, 155:3, 156:11, 159:15, 159:21  <b>29th</b> [2] - 13:24, 19:11  <b>2:13</b> [1] - 108:19  <b>2:27</b> [1] - 108:20  <b>2:58</b> [1] - 141:8</p> <p style="text-align: center;"><b>3</b></p> <p><b>3</b> [3] - 25:18, 143:22, 1:15  <b>30th</b> [1] - 28:14  <b>3243</b> [1] - 32:3  <b>34</b> [2] - 7:21, 7:22  <b>367</b> [2] - 152:20, 158:18  <b>37</b> [1] - 101:17  <b>399</b> [1] - 174:22  <b>3:14</b> [1] - 141:9  <b>3:45</b> [1] - 164:7  <b>3:51</b> [1] - 164:8  <b>3rd</b> [3] - 16:12, 34:25, 114:11</p>	<p style="text-align: center;"><b>7</b></p> <p><b>7</b> [1] - 6:12  <b>76</b> [1] - 147:19</p> <p style="text-align: center;"><b>8</b></p> <p><b>83</b> [1] - 1:11  <b>84</b> [1] - 129:25  <b>8:30</b> [1] - 32:2  <b>8th</b> [4] - 8:11, 89:4, 122:10, 133:12</p> <p style="text-align: center;"><b>9</b></p> <p><b>911</b> [5] - 22:2, 154:8, 154:18, 155:8, 155:11  <b>95</b> [1] - 1:13  <b>97</b> [1] - 2:6  <b>9:30</b> [1] - 174:10  <b>9:38</b> [1] - 1:3  <b>9th</b> [1] - 133:21</p>
<p style="text-align: center;"><b>'</b></p>				
<p><b>'70s</b> [1] - 144:18  <b>'80s</b> [1] - 151:15  <b>'95</b> [1] - 7:7  <b>'96</b> [17] - 28:7, 34:25, 97:18, 97:20, 104:23, 105:7, 105:12, 106:9, 106:14, 106:18, 107:6, 107:20, 107:24, 109:5, 109:18, 123:20  <b>'97</b> [17] - 106:16, 111:13, 111:17, 114:12, 116:8, 116:12, 117:5, 123:22, 124:9, 124:17, 139:16, 139:21, 152:16, 156:11, 158:1, 158:14, 159:22  <b>'98</b> [5] - 106:16, 118:24, 118:25, 123:8, 124:21  <b>'98/09/08</b> [1] - 121:9  <b>'99</b> [1] - 33:25</p>				
<p style="text-align: center;"><b>0</b></p>				
<p><b>017-003876</b> [1] - 27:21</p>				
<p style="text-align: center;"><b>1</b></p>				
<p><b>1</b> [9] - 6:12, 6:14, 16:8, 136:22, 172:12, 1:7, 1:8, 2:10  <b>10</b> [6] - 113:24, 114:9, 114:19, 141:7, 173:4, 173:8  <b>10:40</b> [1] - 43:3  <b>10th</b> [2] - 149:20, 167:23  <b>11</b> [8] - 79:21, 95:23, 101:19, 102:12, 115:6, 116:2, 116:10, 143:5  <b>11-month</b> [1] - 17:16  <b>11:02</b> [1] - 43:4  <b>11th</b> [1] - 117:18  <b>12</b> [10] - 51:15, 56:6,</p>				
<p style="text-align: center;"><b>2</b></p>				
<p><b>2</b> [3] - 17:23, 1:9, 1:12  <b>200</b> [1] - 100:11  <b>2000</b> [4] - 33:25, 92:15, 92:24, 137:2  <b>2001</b> [2] - 33:25, 92:25  <b>2002</b> [5] - 4:23, 34:8, 35:23, 126:7, 170:3  <b>2004</b> [3] - 98:12, 126:23, 138:20  <b>2010</b> [6] - 5:1, 98:20, 99:13, 127:2, 127:7, 138:20  <b>2012</b> [1] - 1:2  <b>20s</b> [1] - 9:24  <b>21</b> [1] - 155:23  <b>21st</b> [3] - 32:1, 89:15, 134:22  <b>22nd</b> [2] - 21:20, 21:21  <b>23</b> [1] - 157:25  <b>23rd</b> [3] - 25:22, 28:1, 88:22  <b>24</b> [1] - 129:9  <b>25</b> [5] - 95:9, 97:24, 98:5, 104:22, 173:8  <b>25th</b> [5] - 117:5, 153:2, 153:25, 154:20, 155:6</p>				
<p style="text-align: center;"><b>3</b></p>				
<p style="text-align: center;"><b>4</b></p>				
<p><b>4</b> [3] - 27:19, 31:12, 2:5  <b>40</b> [1] - 97:22  <b>40s</b> [2] - 66:6, 69:12  <b>41</b> [1] - 97:22  <b>43</b> [1] - 1:10  <b>4:06</b> [1] - 174:11  <b>4th</b> [1] - 5:1</p>				
<p style="text-align: center;"><b>5</b></p>				
<p><b>5</b> [2] - 21:3, 21:8  <b>50</b> [1] - 44:19</p>				
<p style="text-align: center;"><b>6</b></p>				
<p><b>6</b> [3] - 6:14, 19:18, 143:24  <b>6088</b> [1] - 23:19  <b>69</b> [2] - 22:25, 88:18</p>				
<p style="text-align: center;"><b>7</b></p>				
<p><b>7</b> [1] - 6:12  <b>76</b> [1] - 147:19</p>				
<p style="text-align: center;"><b>8</b></p>				
<p><b>83</b> [1] - 1:11  <b>84</b> [1] - 129:25  <b>8:30</b> [1] - 32:2  <b>8th</b> [4] - 8:11, 89:4, 122:10, 133:12</p>				
<p style="text-align: center;"><b>9</b></p>				
<p><b>911</b> [5] - 22:2, 154:8, 154:18, 155:8, 155:11  <b>95</b> [1] - 1:13  <b>97</b> [1] - 2:6  <b>9:30</b> [1] - 174:10  <b>9:38</b> [1] - 1:3  <b>9th</b> [1] - 133:21</p>				
<p style="text-align: center;"><b>A</b></p>				
<p><b>a.m</b> [1] - 19:18  <b>A.M</b> [3] - 1:3, 43:3, 43:4  <b>abandoned</b> [4] - 22:10, 23:7, 23:14, 74:15  <b>ABC</b> [1] - 54:17  <b>ability</b> [2] - 61:23, 174:17  <b>able</b> [14] - 29:15, 33:19, 38:2, 41:19, 52:11, 68:2, 71:19, 84:4, 145:2, 145:6, 146:4, 146:24, 169:15, 169:18  <b>Aboriginal</b> [3] - 119:10, 119:25, 120:12  <b>aboriginal</b> [10] - 41:14, 43:10, 64:14, 68:16, 75:6, 75:14, 75:20, 76:3, 77:16, 79:6  <b>absence</b> [2] - 26:1, 26:2  <b>absurd</b> [1] - 159:15  <b>abuse</b> [7] - 11:17, 12:22, 56:19, 56:22, 71:4, 105:14, 153:4  <b>abused</b> [4] - 53:4, 63:14, 63:18, 73:16</p>				

<p><b>accept</b> [4] - 86:9, 132:15, 132:16, 132:17</p> <p><b>accident</b> [1] - 48:21</p> <p><b>accidentally</b> [1] - 69:17</p> <p><b>accompany</b> [2] - 99:16, 109:1</p> <p><b>accompanying</b> [1] - 149:21</p> <p><b>accord</b> [10] - 17:19, 18:7, 18:25, 25:14, 28:20, 31:20, 34:11, 122:19, 154:25, 156:25</p> <p><b>accurate</b> [2] - 92:23, 174:14</p> <p><b>accurately</b> [1] - 20:4</p> <p><b>achieve</b> [1] - 128:25</p> <p><b>achieves</b> [1] - 37:14</p> <p><b>acronym</b> [1] - 117:12</p> <p><b>Act</b> [4] - 49:4, 49:8, 49:12, 49:21</p> <p><b>action</b> [1] - 117:13</p> <p><b>actual</b> [1] - 98:17</p> <p><b>add</b> [1] - 117:21</p> <p><b>added</b> [1] - 90:17</p> <p><b>addictions</b> [1] - 134:3</p> <p><b>addicts</b> [1] - 145:5</p> <p><b>address</b> [3] - 117:8, 117:23, 157:14</p> <p><b>addresses</b> [1] - 87:17</p> <p><b>ADJOURNED</b> [6] - 43:3, 95:4, 108:19, 141:8, 164:7, 174:11</p> <p><b>adjourned</b> [2] - 95:3, 174:9</p> <p><b>admire</b> [1] - 131:14</p> <p><b>admitted</b> [1] - 12:5</p> <p><b>adopt</b> [1] - 52:10</p> <p><b>adopted</b> [1] - 47:17</p> <p><b>adoption</b> [1] - 47:6</p> <p><b>adult</b> [4] - 63:20, 64:1, 64:2, 67:5</p> <p><b>advice</b> [1] - 1:12</p> <p><b>advised</b> [6] - 19:21, 35:24, 112:21, 116:22, 117:6, 117:9</p> <p><b>advising</b> [1] - 114:14</p> <p><b>Affairs</b> [1] - 67:13</p> <p><b>affected</b> [1] - 80:21</p> <p><b>affirmed</b> [3] - 2:21, 95:12, 141:13</p> <p><b>afraid</b> [7] - 15:8, 36:24, 57:5, 57:10, 74:4, 74:5, 78:8</p> <p><b>Agassiz</b> [3] - 6:4, 54:11, 70:7</p> <p><b>age</b> [9] - 4:4, 8:3, 48:12, 64:1, 79:23, 81:20, 102:24,</p>	<p>102:25</p> <p><b>ages</b> [1] - 101:14</p> <p><b>aggravated</b> [1] - 154:15</p> <p><b>ago</b> [8] - 4:3, 6:15, 33:11, 57:24, 63:2, 120:21, 146:14, 163:17</p> <p><b>agree</b> [4] - 34:24, 118:11, 162:4, 162:14</p> <p><b>agreed</b> [2] - 19:24, 20:7</p> <p><b>agreeing</b> [1] - 28:24</p> <p><b>ahead</b> [2] - 21:25, 22:17</p> <p><b>ahold</b> [3] - 13:21, 15:17, 124:16</p> <p><b>AI</b> [3] - 31:9, 31:12, 31:23</p> <p><b>Alberta</b> [1] - 124:3</p> <p><b>alcohol</b> [4] - 80:9, 80:20, 105:4, 105:16</p> <p><b>alcoholic</b> [1] - 69:24</p> <p><b>alcoholics</b> [1] - 145:5</p> <p><b>Alec</b> [2] - 44:9, 45:18</p> <p><b>Alert</b> [6] - 142:22, 143:20, 143:21, 144:23, 167:22, 168:6</p> <p><b>Alfred</b> [1] - 60:16</p> <p><b>alienation</b> [1] - 68:18</p> <p><b>alive</b> [1] - 168:19</p> <p><b>alleged</b> [1] - 90:1</p> <p><b>allocations</b> [1] - 1:21</p> <p><b>allotted</b> [1] - 66:23</p> <p><b>allowed</b> [6] - 38:16, 54:23, 56:15, 57:21, 58:8, 59:4</p> <p><b>almost</b> [8] - 40:6, 40:7, 61:22, 71:2, 71:19, 153:16, 163:8, 167:20</p> <p><b>alone</b> [5] - 59:8, 61:11, 62:5, 144:11, 146:10</p> <p><b>alongside</b> [1] - 36:11</p> <p><b>aloud</b> [1] - 18:18</p> <p><b>altogether</b> [3] - 5:19, 6:1, 51:13</p> <p><b>amazing</b> [1] - 147:23</p> <p><b>America's</b> [1] - 145:25</p> <p><b>American</b> [2] - 90:17, 92:16</p> <p><b>amounts</b> [2] - 66:24, 66:25</p> <p><b>angry</b> [2] - 62:15, 84:9</p> <p><b>animals</b> [3] - 56:12, 56:14, 56:16</p> <p><b>ANNE</b> [2] - 95:12, 1:12</p> <p><b>Anne</b> [1] - 95:14</p>	<p><b>answer</b> [8] - 74:17, 137:24, 138:9, 139:3, 139:10, 148:11, 148:17, 168:25</p> <p><b>answered</b> [1] - 19:16</p> <p><b>answers</b> [1] - 169:20</p> <p><b>anxieties</b> [1] - 41:20</p> <p><b>anytime</b> [1] - 75:22</p> <p><b>anyway</b> [7] - 55:5, 61:14, 62:8, 63:5, 88:24, 104:13, 136:6</p> <p><b>anywhere's</b> [1] - 127:11</p> <p><b>apart</b> [1] - 8:4</p> <p><b>apartment</b> [6] - 53:25, 54:1, 152:2, 152:11, 162:2, 168:24</p> <p><b>apologize</b> [1] - 32:24</p> <p><b>apology</b> [1] - 93:7</p> <p><b>applications</b> [1] - 7:5</p> <p><b>appointment</b> [1] - 91:3</p> <p><b>appreciate</b> [2] - 1:11, 133:4</p> <p><b>apprehend</b> [1] - 22:13</p> <p><b>approach</b> [2] - 31:2, 74:4</p> <p><b>approachable</b> [1] - 76:4</p> <p><b>approached</b> [3] - 40:22, 75:23</p> <p><b>approaching</b> [2] - 30:23, 36:21</p> <p><b>appropriate</b> [3] - 91:15, 94:22, 141:4</p> <p><b>April</b> [9] - 1:2, 29:7, 32:1, 89:4, 89:7, 89:15, 137:2, 149:20, 167:23</p> <p><b>area</b> [15] - 7:15, 12:14, 30:5, 30:6, 30:12, 30:14, 39:8, 39:12, 44:6, 56:12, 70:6, 70:7, 70:19, 75:5</p> <p><b>areas</b> [2] - 70:20, 70:22</p> <p><b>Ariel</b> [5] - 19:18, 87:22, 88:2, 91:22</p> <p><b>Ariel"</b> [1] - 14:15</p> <p><b>army</b> [2] - 52:25, 70:5</p> <p><b>arranged</b> [1] - 91:4</p> <p><b>arrangements</b> [1] - 1:13</p> <p><b>arrested</b> [5] - 34:11, 97:2, 126:7, 128:18, 128:22</p> <p><b>aside</b> [3] - 40:18, 82:11, 160:24</p> <p><b>assault</b> [3] - 90:1,</p>	<p>154:15, 156:18</p> <p><b>assigned</b> [2] - 113:19, 136:21</p> <p><b>assisted</b> [2] - 162:8, 162:15</p> <p><b>assisting</b> [1] - 38:24</p> <p><b>associated</b> [1] - 87:18</p> <p><b>Association</b> [1] - 146:3</p> <p><b>assume</b> [3] - 33:15, 54:20, 85:13</p> <p><b>assumed</b> [3] - 28:18, 120:19, 123:2</p> <p><b>assuming</b> [1] - 72:9</p> <p><b>AT</b> [12] - 1:3, 43:3, 43:4, 95:4, 95:5, 108:19, 108:20, 141:8, 141:9, 164:7, 164:8, 174:11</p> <p><b>attached</b> [1] - 42:10</p> <p><b>attacks</b> [1] - 174:2</p> <p><b>attend</b> [4] - 37:10, 137:13, 162:17, 164:16</p> <p><b>attendance</b> [2] - 114:3, 158:22</p> <p><b>attended</b> [13] - 25:13, 32:3, 84:20, 85:2, 112:6, 116:7, 116:12, 119:12, 157:18, 158:16, 159:4, 159:18, 160:3</p> <p><b>attending</b> [3] - 26:14, 34:15, 34:17</p> <p><b>attention</b> [2] - 18:14, 90:20</p> <p><b>Au</b> [1] - 89:2</p> <p><b>audience</b> [1] - 4:11</p> <p><b>August</b> [4] - 5:1, 111:20, 112:3, 114:2</p> <p><b>aunt</b> [1] - 3:7</p> <p><b>auntie</b> [1] - 171:20</p> <p><b>author</b> [1] - 117:25</p> <p><b>available</b> [1] - 69:3</p> <p><b>avalanche</b> [1] - 148:24</p> <p><b>aware</b> [28] - 12:17, 12:21, 20:1, 23:22, 24:5, 24:17, 28:15, 30:23, 31:12, 32:9, 32:13, 32:15, 32:16, 33:22, 34:16, 34:22, 35:20, 80:8, 84:25, 86:11, 105:13, 118:1, 118:8, 133:7, 157:18, 160:24, 167:12</p> <p><b>awfully</b> [1] - 159:11</p> <p><b>awkward</b> [1] - 32:24</p>	<p style="text-align: center;"><b>B</b></p> <p><b>baby</b> [4] - 11:14, 22:8, 22:13, 52:3</p> <p><b>babysitter</b> [1] - 60:5</p> <p><b>background</b> [4] - 5:4, 42:15, 87:20, 110:21</p> <p><b>bad</b> [4] - 58:15, 78:5, 79:4</p> <p><b>bag</b> [2] - 161:24, 162:12</p> <p><b>balance</b> [1] - 78:14</p> <p><b>ball</b> [1] - 74:16</p> <p><b>Balmoral</b> [2] - 109:9, 109:11</p> <p><b>band</b> [8] - 43:24, 44:1, 44:17, 47:14, 47:18, 48:25, 49:2, 101:7</p> <p><b>Band</b> [3] - 5:9, 100:14, 100:15</p> <p><b>bands</b> [2] - 5:13, 44:3</p> <p><b>barn</b> [1] - 56:15</p> <p><b>bars</b> [1] - 163:7</p> <p><b>bartender</b> [1] - 156:19</p> <p><b>base</b> [1] - 53:6</p> <p><b>baseball</b> [1] - 13:6</p> <p><b>based</b> [1] - 118:7</p> <p><b>basement</b> [3] - 11:11, 11:12, 54:5</p> <p><b>Bates</b> [6] - 121:16, 121:24, 122:3, 122:4</p> <p><b>bath</b> [2] - 50:21</p> <p><b>bathroom</b> [1] - 50:23</p> <p><b>Bay</b> [6] - 142:22, 143:20, 143:21, 144:23, 167:22, 168:6</p> <p><b>BC</b> [6] - 1:1, 5:7, 8:18, 44:5, 80:13, 100:11</p> <p><b>BCSRA</b> [1] - 174:22</p> <p><b>beat</b> [1] - 29:10</p> <p><b>beautiful</b> [2] - 143:17, 148:12</p> <p><b>became</b> [1] - 169:9</p> <p><b>become</b> [8] - 40:17, 41:9, 71:10, 110:22, 165:20, 165:21, 165:22, 169:8</p> <p><b>becomes</b> [1] - 41:18</p> <p><b>bed</b> [1] - 63:18</p> <p><b>bedroom</b> [5] - 11:12, 11:14, 51:16, 53:25, 59:10</p> <p><b>bedside</b> [1] - 79:24</p> <p><b>began</b> [3] - 41:24, 106:24, 123:3</p> <p><b>begin</b> [4] - 41:12, 86:24, 86:25, 163:21</p> <p><b>beginning</b> [4] - 40:9,</p>
---	--	---	--	--

<p>59:11, 61:15, 165:11  <b>behalf</b> [3] - 2:11, 83:11, 131:24  <b>behaviour</b> [1] - 24:7  <b>behind</b> [3] - 15:19, 65:13, 81:8  <b>beliefs</b> [1] - 65:9  <b>believable</b> [1] - 75:18  <b>bell</b> [1] - 92:1  <b>belonging</b> [1] - 137:21  <b>belongings</b> [2] - 137:19, 171:9  <b>belongs</b> [1] - 139:5  <b>below</b> [1] - 11:12  <b>beneath</b> [1] - 117:12  <b>benefit</b> [3] - 21:15, 68:6, 113:17  <b>benefits</b> [4] - 66:5, 66:8, 67:7, 67:16  <b>Berner</b> [1] - 144:20  <b>Bernie</b> [2] - 161:9, 161:11  <b>beside</b> [1] - 43:15  <b>best</b> [3] - 61:14, 171:7, 174:16  <b>Better</b> [1] - 52:24  <b>better</b> [13] - 38:21, 40:8, 56:2, 83:3, 94:11, 129:1, 129:4, 129:7, 129:15, 129:17, 131:7, 139:10, 144:17  <b>between</b> [10] - 18:11, 35:2, 45:17, 69:6, 69:16, 114:10, 129:20, 135:16, 138:13, 138:20  <b>beyond</b> [4] - 33:24, 35:20, 61:23, 123:5  <b>big</b> [2] - 76:2  <b>biggest</b> [1] - 165:14  <b>bill</b> [1] - 124:2  <b>bills</b> [1] - 62:18  <b>binder</b> [4] - 132:20, 155:20, 172:11, 2:9  <b>birth</b> [5] - 8:20, 45:22, 52:14, 65:7, 133:2  <b>birthday</b> [4] - 13:11, 13:15, 16:20, 79:24  <b>bit</b> [26] - 5:6, 6:6, 8:10, 20:12, 28:13, 55:20, 57:2, 64:12, 74:11, 100:6, 103:3, 104:21, 106:8, 107:13, 112:12, 142:18, 144:12, 144:25, 145:21, 146:19, 146:22, 150:1, 150:16, 152:18, 153:5,</p>	<p>172:21  <b>black</b> [4] - 81:1, 130:12, 172:11, 2:9  <b>blamed</b> [3] - 105:2, 105:5  <b>blocked</b> [1] - 150:20  <b>blood</b> [1] - 127:24  <b>board</b> [2] - 3:14, 142:1  <b>Bob</b> [2] - 84:21, 85:8  <b>body</b> [2] - 135:24, 168:6  <b>bones</b> [2] - 127:10  <b>book</b> [2] - 163:8, 172:7  <b>born</b> [20] - 4:8, 4:9, 5:7, 5:12, 5:17, 8:11, 22:8, 47:4, 48:21, 77:1, 97:22, 97:24, 100:6, 100:7, 100:14, 101:25, 142:21, 142:22, 149:19, 149:20  <b>borne</b> [1] - 148:3  <b>bottom</b> [4] - 19:10, 26:3, 99:10, 115:8  <b>boundaries</b> [1] - 41:9  <b>boy</b> [2] - 54:13, 170:7  <b>boyfriend</b> [10] - 10:5, 10:22, 14:13, 29:9, 29:14, 29:20, 30:8, 30:21, 32:6, 152:12  <b>boyfriends</b> [2] - 30:19, 160:25  <b>boys</b> [3] - 50:6, 62:21, 104:2  <b>bracelets</b> [1] - 99:7  <b>brat</b> [1] - 56:23  <b>break</b> [10] - 42:23, 42:25, 94:23, 95:1, 108:15, 108:16, 141:4, 163:25, 164:4, 173:18  <b>breaks</b> [1] - 167:9  <b>Brenda</b> [1] - 170:21  <b>brief</b> [6] - 15:25, 16:4, 16:6, 17:24, 25:19, 113:24  <b>Brief</b> [2] - 172:12, 2:10  <b>briefly</b> [1] - 34:23  <b>bring</b> [9] - 11:8, 50:21, 58:25, 59:1, 59:17, 59:21, 130:4, 145:6  <b>Britannia</b> [1] - 9:20  <b>British</b> [1] - 44:3  <b>broadly</b> [1] - 91:20  <b>brochure</b> [1] - 149:22  <b>broken</b> [3] - 41:11, 42:12, 136:17  <b>brother</b> [26] - 46:9, 46:14, 46:17, 46:21,</p>	<p>48:24, 52:3, 53:11, 56:22, 57:19, 58:5, 58:12, 58:13, 58:14, 60:11, 60:12, 62:6, 62:24, 105:3, 144:9, 145:8, 170:10, 170:11, 170:25, 171:15  <b>brother's</b> [2] - 58:2, 58:19  <b>brothers</b> [16] - 36:14, 40:20, 52:19, 54:19, 54:20, 54:24, 55:12, 56:21, 57:25, 59:6, 59:18, 60:10, 61:2, 61:9, 64:19  <b>brought</b> [10] - 33:18, 36:11, 65:5, 76:24, 80:12, 80:13, 100:9, 100:10, 103:9, 124:9  <b>brush</b> [1] - 50:22  <b>buddies</b> [1] - 171:7  <b>build</b> [1] - 64:12  <b>builder</b> [1] - 51:7  <b>building</b> [1] - 11:13  <b>built</b> [4] - 6:8, 45:4, 51:4, 51:6  <b>bureau</b> [2] - 161:25  <b>Burnaby</b> [4] - 11:1, 11:10, 90:2, 90:4  <b>bus</b> [2] - 69:18, 170:17  <b>business</b> [5] - 7:2, 7:5, 51:8, 63:7, 110:7  <b>busy</b> [4] - 22:20, 103:25, 112:24, 145:15  <b>BY</b> [6] - 3:6, 43:13, 83:10, 95:16, 131:21, 141:17  <b>bye</b> [1] - 130:25</p>	<p><b>camp</b> [2] - 52:25, 70:5  <b>Campbell</b> [5] - 113:20, 114:24, 115:9, 116:3, 116:5  <b>Canada</b> [7] - 67:13, 91:23, 124:3, 124:4, 124:6, 129:3, 146:3  <b>cancel</b> [1] - 19:22  <b>cancer</b> [1] - 51:21  <b>capacity</b> [1] - 41:7  <b>car</b> [9] - 48:21, 58:6, 105:19, 105:21, 105:25, 107:8, 108:5, 125:7, 171:16  <b>card</b> [6] - 66:5, 66:6, 67:9, 172:6, 172:10, 2:8  <b>care</b> [19] - 1:22, 11:8, 22:19, 52:7, 60:4, 62:5, 62:10, 66:15, 66:20, 68:2, 68:14, 76:1, 80:2, 102:23, 103:4, 103:23, 104:10, 110:7, 131:5  <b>caring</b> [1] - 47:23  <b>Carnegie</b> [1] - 89:8  <b>carpenter</b> [1] - 51:7  <b>Carrier</b> [2] - 100:16, 100:18  <b>carry</b> [1] - 161:19  <b>case</b> [7] - 38:22, 39:7, 40:12, 74:7, 82:15, 83:14, 87:3  <b>cassettes</b> [1] - 162:12  <b>cat</b> [1] - 152:9  <b>catching</b> [1] - 132:4  <b>Catholic</b> [1] - 65:6  <b>caught</b> [4] - 73:2, 83:15, 88:10, 88:13  <b>celebrate</b> [2] - 13:12, 13:15  <b>cellphone</b> [2] - 109:21, 125:16  <b>Centre</b> [6] - 89:8, 119:10, 119:25, 120:12, 121:22, 122:6  <b>centre</b> [1] - 16:11  <b>centres</b> [1] - 112:19  <b>ceremony</b> [1] - 44:23  <b>certain</b> [5] - 66:24, 66:25, 70:20, 89:24, 167:20  <b>certainly</b> [7] - 20:25, 30:8, 30:9, 33:21, 38:9, 72:15, 118:17  <b>certificate</b> [1] - 139:13  <b>Certified</b> [1] - 174:23  <b>certify</b> [1] - 174:13  <b>chain</b> [3] - 41:11,</p>	<p>41:14  <b>chance</b> [2] - 70:20, 79:17  <b>change</b> [3] - 83:3, 93:17, 93:22  <b>changed</b> [1] - 151:12  <b>changes</b> [1] - 93:17  <b>Chantler</b> [17] - 1:6, 1:12, 2:1, 42:19, 87:8, 89:13, 95:7, 95:8, 108:16, 108:22, 132:8, 141:2, 141:11, 172:3, 1:9, 1:13, 1:16  <b>chantler</b> [1] - 2:16  <b>CHANTLER</b> [34] - 2:2, 2:17, 3:5, 3:6, 4:18, 11:21, 16:4, 20:15, 20:18, 20:21, 20:25, 32:24, 33:4, 33:7, 42:18, 94:21, 94:25, 95:8, 95:16, 97:10, 97:16, 101:24, 108:17, 108:22, 109:1, 109:3, 114:8, 141:3, 141:11, 141:17, 150:11, 164:10, 172:5, 172:13  <b>charge</b> [2] - 5:1, 127:15  <b>charged</b> [4] - 4:25, 100:1, 125:24, 154:15  <b>charges</b> [3] - 98:7, 99:22, 142:14  <b>check</b> [3] - 89:10, 154:18, 155:9  <b>checked</b> [5] - 87:13, 87:16, 89:21, 112:18, 134:7  <b>checking</b> [1] - 134:16  <b>checks</b> [1] - 134:15  <b>cheque</b> [1] - 117:11  <b>chicken</b> [1] - 72:24  <b>chief</b> [4] - 48:24, 1:9, 1:13, 1:16  <b>CHIEF</b> [3] - 3:6, 95:16, 141:17  <b>Chiefs</b> [1] - 79:19  <b>child</b> [18] - 5:21, 10:20, 17:16, 22:11, 23:8, 23:14, 32:7, 33:17, 37:8, 41:10, 72:2, 73:14, 74:15, 77:3, 80:5, 80:6, 89:18, 151:9  <b>childbirth</b> [2] - 46:12, 46:15</p>
<b>C</b>		<p><b>Cabaret</b> [1] - 30:14  <b>calm</b> [1] - 150:6  <b>camaraderie</b> [1] - 70:15  <b>cameron</b> [1] - 84:14  <b>Cameron</b> [20] - 18:1, 18:13, 18:22, 19:12, 20:6, 20:20, 21:4, 22:3, 24:10, 25:12, 35:4, 40:10, 83:20, 83:22, 83:25, 84:5, 84:24, 88:17, 172:12, 2:9  <b>Cameron's</b> [2] - 24:6, 28:10</p>		

<p><b>childhood</b> [5] - 6:4, 9:6, 9:12, 150:15, 150:21</p> <p><b>Children</b> [2] - 66:22, 67:4</p> <p><b>children</b> [49] - 5:19, 10:16, 37:25, 38:12, 39:1, 45:19, 46:6, 46:8, 46:23, 47:24, 50:3, 50:4, 51:12, 52:4, 52:8, 52:10, 52:12, 53:1, 53:6, 54:14, 57:2, 59:22, 60:4, 60:6, 61:7, 61:8, 62:5, 62:18, 64:24, 65:11, 65:13, 65:14, 65:15, 66:1, 78:22, 81:8, 82:22, 94:4, 94:10, 95:20, 101:9, 101:19, 104:1, 112:24, 145:15, 166:9, 167:6</p> <p><b>Chilliwack</b> [5] - 49:25, 50:2, 50:9, 50:13, 54:22</p> <p><b>Christmas</b> [1] - 106:3</p> <p><b>chubby</b> [1] - 102:9</p> <p><b>church</b> [5] - 45:2, 45:3, 45:4, 65:10, 65:11</p> <p><b>circle</b> [22] - 42:12, 76:6, 76:8, 76:20, 76:25, 77:2, 77:6, 77:8, 77:13, 77:14, 77:22, 77:25, 78:7, 78:13, 78:16, 78:21, 79:1, 79:2, 79:7</p> <p><b>circle"</b> [1] - 76:22</p> <p><b>circles</b> [2] - 42:11, 76:8</p> <p><b>circumstances</b> [3] - 17:20, 75:25, 164:18</p> <p><b>civilian</b> [1] - 18:2</p> <p><b>clean</b> [4] - 50:23, 53:12, 53:14, 61:12</p> <p><b>cleaners</b> [1] - 53:13</p> <p><b>cleaning</b> [1] - 162:2</p> <p><b>clear</b> [7] - 12:16, 33:8, 85:21, 87:1, 87:3, 113:5, 154:19</p> <p><b>clerk</b> [1] - 18:2</p> <p><b>Clifford</b> [3] - 151:16, 151:17, 151:22</p> <p><b>close</b> [16] - 7:25, 8:3, 10:15, 12:13, 15:12, 33:17, 36:10, 57:6, 57:10, 57:11, 150:25, 151:2, 152:1, 153:14, 171:7, 171:11</p>	<p><b>close-by</b> [1] - 12:13</p> <p><b>closed</b> [10] - 20:8, 25:12, 35:6, 87:25, 116:22, 118:6, 118:13, 127:4, 127:6, 167:15</p> <p><b>closely</b> [2] - 37:19, 38:23</p> <p><b>closeness</b> [1] - 70:15</p> <p><b>closer</b> [2] - 2:25, 3:1</p> <p><b>closing</b> [2] - 81:13, 81:15</p> <p><b>clothes</b> [2] - 22:5, 161:23</p> <p><b>clothing</b> [3] - 67:1, 127:11, 127:25</p> <p><b>clouded</b> [1] - 75:4</p> <p><b>clues</b> [1] - 34:19</p> <p><b>clumps</b> [1] - 74:16</p> <p><b>coat</b> [1] - 130:12</p> <p><b>cocaine</b> [4] - 11:18, 11:20, 17:15, 105:15</p> <p><b>Cody</b> [2] - 171:8, 171:9</p> <p><b>coffee</b> [1] - 110:2</p> <p><b>coke</b> [2] - 22:10, 23:13</p> <p><b>cold</b> [1] - 171:5</p> <p><b>collect</b> [1] - 162:20</p> <p><b>college</b> [1] - 7:2</p> <p><b>colonialism</b> [1] - 77:20</p> <p><b>colonialism"</b> [1] - 77:20</p> <p><b>Colour</b> [2] - 4:16, 2:5</p> <p><b>colour</b> [1] - 81:22</p> <p><b>Columbia</b> [1] - 44:3</p> <p><b>comfortable</b> [2] - 173:12, 174:4</p> <p><b>coming</b> [15] - 18:6, 77:9, 83:15, 83:22, 93:6, 93:11, 94:14, 94:17, 130:11, 131:15, 131:25, 140:5, 140:21, 154:1, 172:18</p> <p><b>comment</b> [2] - 145:17, 160:21</p> <p><b>comments</b> [1] - 159:25</p> <p><b>commission</b> [8] - 33:1, 33:4, 37:11, 38:20, 41:1, 83:23, 86:7, 128:25</p> <p><b>commissioner</b> [20] - 1:5, 2:2, 4:11, 15:25, 21:2, 42:21, 43:6, 83:5, 83:8, 94:21, 97:8, 108:23, 113:17, 128:4, 130:6, 131:22,</p>	<p>140:4, 141:3, 169:16, 173:10</p> <p><b>Commissioner</b> [2] - 32:24, 95:10</p> <p><b>COMMISSIONER</b> [62] - 1:10, 1:24, 2:1, 2:16, 4:14, 11:19, 16:3, 20:13, 20:16, 20:19, 20:23, 33:3, 33:6, 41:5, 42:17, 42:19, 42:25, 43:12, 83:6, 93:9, 94:4, 94:14, 94:17, 94:19, 94:24, 95:2, 95:7, 97:9, 97:13, 101:21, 108:15, 108:25, 109:2, 114:7, 131:16, 131:18, 131:20, 140:5, 140:9, 140:14, 140:21, 140:24, 141:2, 141:6, 150:9, 164:3, 164:5, 172:3, 172:14, 172:20, 172:22, 172:24, 173:3, 173:5, 173:9, 173:11, 173:15, 173:17, 173:20, 173:25, 174:3, 174:7</p> <p><b>commissioner's</b> [1] - 21:15</p> <p><b>committed</b> [2] - 57:20, 58:5</p> <p><b>committing</b> [1] - 58:14</p> <p><b>common</b> [2] - 70:17, 75:17</p> <p><b>communication</b> [1] - 35:2</p> <p><b>communities</b> [3] - 68:16, 76:9, 78:11</p> <p><b>community</b> [17] - 45:3, 45:5, 46:3, 47:9, 64:15, 65:24, 66:3, 68:19, 68:20, 68:21, 68:22, 69:3, 69:4, 69:6, 69:20, 76:20, 78:1</p> <p><b>companionship</b> [1] - 41:18</p> <p><b>Company</b> [2] - 172:12, 2:10</p> <p><b>complainant</b> [2] - 117:2, 117:6</p> <p><b>complaint</b> [2] - 85:3, 85:8</p> <p><b>complaints</b> [1] - 84:23</p> <p><b>completed</b> [2] - 7:23, 89:18</p> <p><b>completely</b> [1] - 15:11</p> <p><b>component</b> [1] - 39:14</p>	<p><b>computer</b> [7] - 17:24, 89:22, 89:24, 90:18, 92:16, 134:5, 171:3</p> <p><b>computer-typed</b> [1] - 17:24</p> <p><b>concern</b> [2] - 11:25, 74:22</p> <p><b>concerned</b> [2] - 19:3, 94:1</p> <p><b>concerning</b> [1] - 72:5</p> <p><b>condom</b> [2] - 99:4, 127:12</p> <p><b>conduct</b> [2] - 113:20, 129:7</p> <p><b>confirm</b> [4] - 3:13, 96:9, 96:21, 141:25</p> <p><b>confirmed</b> [1] - 118:12</p> <p><b>confirms</b> [1] - 26:15</p> <p><b>confused</b> [1] - 81:3</p> <p><b>confusing</b> [2] - 139:18, 139:24</p> <p><b>connected</b> [1] - 78:2</p> <p><b>connection</b> [2] - 98:8, 142:14</p> <p><b>consider</b> [2] - 37:23, 78:3</p> <p><b>consideration</b> [1] - 38:3</p> <p><b>considered</b> [2] - 38:8, 64:2</p> <p><b>Constable</b> [20] - 26:8, 28:17, 28:21, 28:24, 29:3, 30:17, 35:17, 92:18, 113:20, 114:24, 115:9, 116:3, 116:5, 133:17, 135:14, 135:17, 136:23, 158:5, 163:20, 163:21</p> <p><b>constantly</b> [1] - 160:15</p> <p><b>construction</b> [2] - 51:7, 51:8</p> <p><b>constructive</b> [1] - 82:21</p> <p><b>consulted</b> [1] - 74:9</p> <p><b>contact</b> [21] - 18:11, 36:25, 54:18, 54:24, 55:2, 55:13, 86:1, 87:13, 103:22, 108:10, 111:18, 113:3, 114:9, 117:8, 117:9, 120:7, 126:20, 131:13, 157:4, 163:12, 164:19</p> <p><b>contacted</b> [7] - 29:8, 54:6, 88:7, 90:8, 98:23, 124:22, 136:6</p>	<p><b>contained</b> [1] - 161:23</p> <p><b>context</b> [2] - 27:23, 106:5</p> <p><b>continuation</b> [3] - 115:7, 116:21, 117:17</p> <p><b>continue</b> [2] - 148:8, 164:1</p> <p><b>continues</b> [1] - 35:8</p> <p><b>continuing</b> [1] - 126:24</p> <p><b>control</b> [1] - 65:7</p> <p><b>conversation</b> [4] - 109:13, 111:11, 120:4, 125:1</p> <p><b>conviction</b> [1] - 98:21</p> <p><b>Cooper</b> [2] - 84:22, 85:8</p> <p><b>cop</b> [2] - 111:21, 171:16</p> <p><b>coped</b> [1] - 148:7</p> <p><b>copies</b> [1] - 96:18</p> <p><b>copy</b> [5] - 16:6, 49:7, 97:9, 97:10, 150:9</p> <p><b>corner</b> [2] - 121:11, 169:6</p> <p><b>coroners</b> [2] - 126:3, 126:8</p> <p><b>corporal</b> [1] - 52:25</p> <p><b>correct</b> [20] - 3:8, 3:11, 24:3, 35:18, 95:18, 95:24, 97:18, 98:9, 98:14, 98:25, 99:24, 107:18, 127:1, 141:20, 142:12, 142:16, 149:24, 157:16, 158:19, 162:25</p> <p><b>correctly</b> [1] - 133:14</p> <p><b>counsel</b> [5] - 3:4, 43:11, 95:8, 95:15, 141:16</p> <p><b>counselling</b> [2] - 39:11, 168:8</p> <p><b>counter</b> [1] - 117:2</p> <p><b>country</b> [2] - 92:5, 92:9</p> <p><b>couple</b> [16] - 14:7, 14:18, 14:19, 16:21, 25:7, 25:9, 31:19, 35:9, 73:21, 110:11, 113:16, 135:11, 144:24, 145:11, 161:16, 168:11</p> <p><b>courage</b> [3] - 37:11, 131:14, 140:25</p> <p><b>courageous</b> [1] - 148:20</p> <p><b>course</b> [6] - 16:5, 41:4, 73:13, 146:20,</p>
--	---	---	--	--

<p>151:12, 158:9  <b>court</b> [5] - 52:7, 52:13, 89:18, 168:13, 171:1  <b>cousin</b> [1] - 166:24  <b>cousins</b> [1] - 69:17  <b>cover</b> [1] - 119:23  <b>covered</b> [1] - 66:8  <b>cow</b> [1] - 56:17  <b>CPIC</b> [5] - 89:23, 116:11, 117:21, 121:15, 134:7  <b>credible</b> [1] - 93:25  <b>Creek</b> [1] - 100:13  <b>Crescent</b> [1] - 32:3  <b>crew</b> [1] - 159:23  <b>criticism</b> [1] - 82:20  <b>Cross</b> [3] - 1:10, 1:11, 1:14  <b>CROSS</b> [3] - 43:13, 83:10, 131:21  <b>Cross-examination</b> [3] - 1:10, 1:11, 1:14  <b>CROSS-EXAMINATION</b> [3] - 43:13, 83:10, 131:21  <b>Crossing</b> [1] - 52:24  <b>crying</b> [5] - 50:19, 103:16, 108:11, 130:19, 130:20  <b>cryptic</b> [1] - 33:2  <b>Crystal</b> [2] - 47:2, 47:3  <b>cul</b> [1] - 80:25  <b>culture</b> [4] - 77:18, 81:1, 81:2  <b>cultures</b> [1] - 81:1  <b>Cultus</b> [1] - 54:21  <b>curious</b> [1] - 72:20  <b>current</b> [1] - 117:22  <b>custody</b> [2] - 87:23, 89:18  <b>cute</b> [1] - 102:10</p>	<p>1:12  <b>databases</b> [1] - 134:15  <b>date</b> [16] - 16:11, 19:10, 21:20, 25:21, 28:2, 29:5, 32:1, 112:2, 114:4, 114:5, 114:6, 116:17, 117:4, 121:10, 133:2, 156:10  <b>dated</b> [4] - 28:1, 117:18, 133:12, 158:1  <b>dates</b> [4] - 17:25, 52:14, 88:6, 163:14  <b>daughter</b> [25] - 7:19, 7:25, 9:7, 10:3, 10:14, 10:17, 18:20, 22:16, 27:9, 28:6, 36:11, 36:12, 36:18, 47:1, 47:2, 53:5, 68:3, 73:14, 91:14, 96:4, 96:6, 96:7, 128:14, 149:6, 165:6  <b>daughter's</b> [2] - 46:8, 111:5  <b>Dave</b> [1] - 136:21  <b>David</b> [2] - 144:20, 159:19  <b>days</b> [19] - 1:8, 1:9, 4:3, 13:24, 14:7, 14:19, 16:21, 16:23, 22:9, 79:24, 87:20, 88:1, 110:11, 150:5, 155:3, 155:8, 156:11, 158:15, 159:5  <b>daytime</b> [2] - 30:1, 170:19  <b>DC</b> [1] - 29:8  <b>dead</b> [1] - 171:6  <b>deal</b> [1] - 71:10  <b>dealing</b> [4] - 38:23, 84:2, 119:9, 123:9  <b>dealings</b> [7] - 18:17, 18:19, 18:23, 123:4, 126:6, 158:8, 163:20  <b>dear</b> [1] - 147:21  <b>death</b> [5] - 93:14, 99:24, 100:1, 139:13, 170:10  <b>Debbie</b> [3] - 143:7, 144:6, 144:11  <b>Deborah</b> [3] - 149:6, 149:16, 151:10  <b>deceased</b> [2] - 61:4, 143:3  <b>December</b> [6] - 8:11, 88:3, 88:15, 109:18, 135:15, 136:22  <b>deep</b> [2] - 130:20,</p>	<p>132:1  <b>deeper</b> [2] - 38:5, 38:16  <b>deeply</b> [1] - 83:13  <b>definitely</b> [1] - 162:22  <b>deflect</b> [1] - 41:20  <b>degree</b> [1] - 148:4  <b>delivered</b> [3] - 45:23, 46:5, 89:7  <b>dental</b> [12] - 66:21, 68:8, 87:24, 89:10, 89:11, 90:6, 90:12, 90:23, 136:13, 136:14, 136:16  <b>dentist</b> [4] - 88:23, 90:7, 90:23  <b>dentist's</b> [1] - 88:25  <b>Department</b> [28] - 14:24, 16:10, 23:24, 24:3, 24:6, 25:20, 26:17, 33:10, 38:21, 75:8, 83:9, 83:12, 85:3, 85:22, 86:1, 89:16, 90:15, 90:22, 91:1, 91:11, 92:10, 92:25, 113:12, 123:5, 124:20, 131:23, 131:25, 156:2  <b>department</b> [4] - 74:23, 75:14, 85:11, 165:17  <b>Department's</b> [5] - 18:3, 31:10, 93:4, 93:6, 132:1  <b>deported</b> [2] - 88:3, 88:15  <b>depressed</b> [3] - 60:3, 62:15, 71:21  <b>depth</b> [1] - 148:4  <b>describe</b> [1] - 128:12  <b>described</b> [2] - 20:1, 22:5  <b>description</b> [2] - 109:16, 2:3  <b>deserves</b> [1] - 148:17  <b>desire</b> [1] - 2:13  <b>desperate</b> [1] - 163:4  <b>detachment</b> [7] - 112:7, 112:13, 113:7, 114:3, 114:10, 115:19, 116:15  <b>Detachment</b> [1] - 115:1  <b>details</b> [5] - 43:9, 90:5, 91:7, 98:16, 98:24  <b>Detective</b> [17] - 31:9, 31:12, 31:23, 87:10, 92:18, 133:17,</p>	<p>135:14, 135:16, 136:23, 158:6, 158:8, 158:13, 159:17, 161:19, 163:12, 163:21, 164:19  <b>determines</b> [1] - 114:23  <b>determining</b> [1] - 86:8  <b>developed</b> [1] - 59:25  <b>Diana</b> [1] - 104:5  <b>Diana's</b> [1] - 111:4  <b>DICKSON</b> [7] - 83:8, 83:10, 131:19, 131:21, 131:22, 140:4, 173:10  <b>Dickson</b> [6] - 83:8, 131:22, 136:21, 173:9, 1:11, 1:14  <b>die</b> [2] - 77:12, 170:23  <b>died</b> [13] - 45:22, 46:11, 46:14, 48:20, 58:12, 80:15, 105:4, 170:1, 170:3, 170:9, 170:14, 170:25, 171:8  <b>dies</b> [1] - 62:17  <b>different</b> [11] - 9:19, 20:19, 57:2, 70:22, 74:18, 76:9, 80:25, 81:22, 81:25, 90:7  <b>difficult</b> [9] - 33:7, 60:4, 61:15, 80:23, 81:19, 93:15, 93:20, 140:6, 174:3  <b>dignified</b> [1] - 148:12  <b>dignity</b> [2] - 41:17, 148:20  <b>dinners</b> [1] - 61:12  <b>diploma</b> [1] - 7:3  <b>dire</b> [1] - 170:12  <b>directions</b> [1] - 39:11  <b>directly</b> [1] - 114:2  <b>dirty</b> [2] - 50:25, 154:14  <b>disability</b> [2] - 7:9, 100:21  <b>disagree</b> [1] - 31:21  <b>disappearance</b> [29] - 5:5, 16:16, 17:4, 26:9, 27:12, 28:4, 28:19, 31:25, 32:8, 33:10, 36:4, 93:14, 98:8, 116:18, 120:4, 126:25, 128:7, 129:14, 133:25, 142:7, 142:15, 145:18, 148:5, 157:1, 159:21, 161:1, 162:19,</p>	<p>164:15, 167:14  <b>disappearances</b> [1] - 132:24  <b>disappeared</b> [9] - 4:19, 10:24, 13:8, 19:5, 25:5, 97:17, 98:1, 141:22, 152:15  <b>disbelieve</b> [2] - 32:20, 122:24  <b>disclosed</b> [1] - 89:24  <b>discover</b> [1] - 12:19  <b>discovered</b> [1] - 50:14  <b>discussed</b> [2] - 12:4, 28:15  <b>discussing</b> [1] - 109:5  <b>discussions</b> [1] - 29:2  <b>dishes</b> [2] - 53:15, 130:9  <b>dismissing</b> [1] - 41:16  <b>dispatch</b> [2] - 155:11, 155:13  <b>distance</b> [1] - 57:8  <b>distributed</b> [3] - 89:5, 91:18, 91:19  <b>disturbed</b> [1] - 165:19  <b>disturbing</b> [1] - 165:4  <b>divorced</b> [1] - 151:8  <b>DNA</b> [14] - 4:22, 34:2, 34:7, 35:25, 98:13, 98:16, 98:18, 99:3, 99:5, 126:22, 127:2, 127:3, 137:25, 139:15  <b>Doc</b> [1] - 121:6  <b>doctor</b> [1] - 67:21  <b>doctor's</b> [1] - 68:1  <b>document</b> [18] - 16:8, 16:12, 17:1, 18:9, 18:12, 25:18, 25:22, 26:12, 26:15, 89:14, 113:23, 114:5, 119:15, 119:18, 121:5, 121:8, 155:23, 156:5  <b>documents</b> [10] - 16:1, 86:25, 113:16, 114:9, 132:6, 134:14, 136:19, 155:18, 172:3, 172:8  <b>Dodson</b> [1] - 156:19  <b>doll</b> [1] - 102:11  <b>Dominic</b> [1] - 46:14  <b>done</b> [45] - 15:13, 24:15, 27:15, 31:5, 35:20, 36:6, 36:15, 36:17, 37:2, 37:3, 37:9, 38:18, 40:6, 40:16, 40:17, 40:19, 41:20, 71:9, 71:25, 74:8, 75:3, 78:5,</p>
<b>D</b>				
<p><b>dad</b> [12] - 105:1, 111:4, 111:5, 142:25, 143:16, 143:17, 170:23, 171:3, 171:4, 171:5, 171:6, 171:8  <b>Dad</b> [1] - 105:2  <b>dad's</b> [2] - 171:9, 171:10  <b>daily</b> [1] - 148:21  <b>Damian</b> [1] - 165:25  <b>dancing</b> [1] - 102:13  <b>Daphne</b> [3] - 95:10, 95:14, 120:9  <b>DAPHNE</b> [2] - 95:12,</p>				

78:19, 79:4, 79:17, 82:21, 84:17, 85:23, 86:6, 86:9, 89:17, 145:24, 148:1, 149:5, 149:9, 149:17, 154:8, 157:21, 157:22, 159:7, 162:24, 163:9, 165:10, 167:18, 168:21 <b>Donna</b> [3] - 143:13, 167:15, 167:16 <b>door</b> [7] - 105:23, 130:11, 130:14, 168:23, 168:25, 169:1 <b>Dorothy</b> [39] - 3:10, 5:20, 6:2, 8:5, 8:16, 8:25, 14:4, 16:14, 17:4, 17:21, 18:5, 18:11, 18:23, 20:13, 23:19, 26:2, 29:16, 29:20, 30:23, 31:2, 46:18, 46:19, 46:23, 62:3, 62:25, 83:17, 84:19, 84:25, 85:7, 85:25, 87:14, 87:19, 88:17, 91:11, 91:22, 152:7, 170:9 <b>Dorothy's</b> [1] - 84:11 <b>Dot</b> [3] - 168:24, 168:25, 169:2 <b>dots</b> [1] - 44:3 <b>doubt</b> [1] - 83:24 <b>Douglas</b> [8] - 5:7, 5:9, 5:17, 44:12, 44:13, 44:14, 45:7, 45:8 <b>down</b> [35] - 17:3, 17:13, 25:25, 28:12, 41:2, 44:18, 70:6, 70:16, 78:23, 90:19, 90:21, 104:23, 105:4, 105:20, 106:1, 106:10, 106:12, 106:13, 106:14, 106:16, 107:1, 107:10, 109:7, 113:14, 114:19, 114:23, 122:18, 128:9, 130:19, 137:22, 142:2, 154:3, 156:14, 159:16, 165:19 <b>downstairs</b> [1] - 11:14 <b>Downtown</b> [15] - 4:19, 12:7, 30:2, 39:14, 70:15, 97:17, 107:5, 107:11, 132:25, 141:22, 152:6, 152:10, 152:15, 154:11, 164:25 <b>downtown</b> [5] - 107:2, 107:3, 152:14, 153:11, 163:6 <b>Dr</b> [3] - 89:2, 89:3, 90:8 <b>drank</b> [2] - 153:5, 170:10 <b>draw</b> [1] - 57:5 <b>dream</b> [2] - 130:9, 130:14 <b>dreaming</b> [1] - 130:9 <b>dress</b> [1] - 102:11 <b>drink</b> [4] - 41:17, 71:14, 71:16, 71:18 <b>drinking</b> [2] - 60:1, 105:16 <b>drive</b> [1] - 44:7 <b>driving</b> [2] - 58:6, 109:22 <b>drug</b> [5] - 12:2, 22:7, 80:9, 145:5, 156:17 <b>drugged</b> [1] - 151:17 <b>drugs</b> [7] - 23:7, 41:17, 80:19, 82:6, 105:3, 105:16, 153:6 <b>dumb</b> [1] - 69:24 <b>duress</b> [1] - 75:24 <b>during</b> [1] - 13:2	<b>E</b>	<b>Earl</b> [1] - 60:14 <b>early</b> [8] - 9:24, 22:23, 25:11, 90:22, 92:24, 134:18, 151:15, 162:18 <b>earrings</b> [4] - 99:7, 99:8, 99:10, 127:25 <b>ears</b> [2] - 99:9 <b>earth</b> [2] - 77:17, 131:3 <b>easier</b> [1] - 148:23 <b>East</b> [3] - 10:4, 152:20, 158:18 <b>Eastside</b> [15] - 4:19, 12:7, 30:3, 39:14, 70:16, 97:18, 107:5, 107:11, 133:1, 141:22, 152:6, 152:11, 152:16, 154:11, 164:25 <b>easy</b> [3] - 63:24, 64:3, 71:12 <b>educated</b> [1] - 77:18 <b>education</b> [2] - 6:25, 70:9 <b>effect</b> [2] - 21:6, 29:17	<b>efforts</b> [4] - 12:21, 26:10, 36:4, 93:5 <b>eight</b> [7] - 6:2, 34:10, 45:19, 51:14, 52:2, 101:9, 170:9 <b>either</b> [2] - 73:18, 115:24 <b>elaborate</b> [1] - 56:7 <b>elder</b> [1] - 80:5 <b>eldest</b> [4] - 46:9, 48:24, 58:5, 62:6 <b>eleven</b> [1] - 101:19 <b>Elizabeth</b> [1] - 142:24 <b>embarked</b> [1] - 14:4 <b>embarks</b> [1] - 35:8 <b>emergency</b> [1] - 159:14 <b>employee</b> [1] - 67:16 <b>employment</b> [1] - 100:23 <b>empty</b> [1] - 162:1 <b>encourage</b> [1] - 166:21 <b>encouraging</b> [1] - 149:4 <b>end</b> [10] - 2:7, 23:2, 24:18, 25:11, 35:6, 44:20, 79:12, 86:15, 133:7, 148:10 <b>endeavors</b> [1] - 145:19 <b>ended</b> [12] - 50:11, 50:12, 51:21, 67:19, 102:23, 144:8, 151:7, 152:13, 167:21, 167:24, 168:2 <b>ending</b> [2] - 103:3, 125:12 <b>endure</b> [1] - 148:22 <b>enforcement</b> [2] - 42:2, 75:5 <b>engage</b> [3] - 36:5, 85:22, 131:10 <b>engaged</b> [3] - 27:3, 160:7, 164:21 <b>engages</b> [1] - 35:14 <b>English</b> [3] - 48:5, 48:8, 55:23 <b>enjoyed</b> [2] - 56:4, 56:9 <b>Ens</b> [7] - 27:5, 35:14, 84:21, 85:6, 85:7, 99:14, 126:10 <b>ensure</b> [1] - 79:17 <b>entered</b> [1] - 134:4 <b>entire</b> [1] - 53:17 <b>entry</b> [10] - 19:10, 28:1, 28:12, 28:14, 29:6, 29:7, 32:1,	32:5, 159:24, 160:22 <b>especially</b> [1] - 162:23 <b>essentially</b> [2] - 2:5, 8:25 <b>Eva</b> [1] - 102:10 <b>Evelyn</b> [2] - 95:20, 135:22 <b>Evenhanded</b> [3] - 98:12, 139:6, 140:2 <b>evenings</b> [2] - 30:1, 107:4 <b>event</b> [6] - 20:1, 51:17, 62:21, 106:6, 106:8, 151:11 <b>events</b> [1] - 83:24 <b>eventually</b> [4] - 5:4, 73:1, 105:4, 157:11 <b>everywhere</b> [3] - 123:24, 124:3, 124:13 <b>evidence</b> [14] - 2:14, 20:17, 32:25, 34:23, 71:24, 87:11, 99:21, 127:14, 131:25, 162:5, 162:14, 162:19, 162:20, 172:17 <b>ex</b> [2] - 32:6, 170:18 <b>ex-boyfriend</b> [1] - 32:6 <b>ex-wife</b> [1] - 170:18 <b>exactly</b> [3] - 51:22, 62:7, 71:8 <b>Examination</b> [3] - 1:9, 1:13, 1:16 <b>examination</b> [4] - 130:7, 1:10, 1:11, 1:14 <b>EXAMINATION</b> [6] - 3:6, 43:13, 83:10, 95:16, 131:21, 141:17 <b>example</b> [2] - 68:7, 121:1 <b>exchange</b> [1] - 89:8 <b>excuse</b> [2] - 122:3, 138:3 <b>EXCUSED</b> [1] - 94:20 <b>exhibit</b> [2] - 4:13, 97:11 <b>Exhibit</b> [4] - 4:15, 97:14, 172:7, 172:8 <b>EXHIBIT</b> [8] - 4:16, 97:15, 172:9, 172:11, 2:5, 2:6, 2:7, 2:9 <b>eXHIBITS</b> [1] - 2:1 <b>existence</b> [1] - 148:25 <b>exists</b> [1] - 43:24 <b>expected</b> [2] - 15:15, 153:20	<b>expecting</b> [1] - 125:14 <b>experience</b> [17] - 43:11, 48:18, 50:7, 50:10, 53:3, 57:11, 64:14, 64:22, 66:19, 67:15, 70:17, 70:21, 71:23, 72:13, 75:17, 76:13, 128:5 <b>experienced</b> [1] - 74:9 <b>experiences</b> [8] - 56:2, 65:22, 68:4, 70:25, 72:1, 72:3, 72:4, 74:3 <b>experiencing</b> [1] - 48:19 <b>explain</b> [2] - 44:4, 166:6 <b>explanation</b> [4] - 115:23, 128:2, 129:15, 129:18 <b>express</b> [2] - 132:1, 160:20 <b>expressed</b> [2] - 2:13, 164:15 <b>expressing</b> [1] - 86:15 <b>expression</b> [1] - 71:18 <b>extend</b> [1] - 93:6 <b>extensively</b> [1] - 36:13 <b>extra</b> [1] - 7:14	<b>F</b>	<b>face</b> [2] - 137:9 <b>face-to-face</b> [1] - 137:9 <b>fact</b> [8] - 20:10, 20:25, 24:2, 29:13, 43:7, 76:18, 125:6, 132:17 <b>faded</b> [1] - 41:8 <b>failed</b> [1] - 16:20 <b>fainted</b> [1] - 169:6 <b>fair</b> [2] - 30:7, 67:5 <b>faith</b> [6] - 75:4, 75:11, 79:14, 148:21, 168:4, 170:6 <b>familial</b> [3] - 41:10, 41:11, 77:14 <b>familiar</b> [2] - 82:3, 156:10 <b>families</b> [11] - 37:6, 37:25, 39:15, 42:11, 66:24, 69:13, 95:9, 125:25, 126:1, 145:3, 146:11 <b>Families</b> [5] - 66:22, 67:4, 1:8, 1:12, 1:15 <b>families'</b> [1] - 2:7 <b>Family</b> [2] - 172:12, 2:10
--	----------	--	--	--	--	----------	---

<p><b>family</b> [64] - 1:6, 2:3, 2:9, 5:18, 16:2, 16:21, 23:23, 24:11, 25:6, 25:13, 27:11, 28:22, 28:25, 34:21, 34:24, 35:3, 35:8, 35:23, 36:8, 36:13, 38:24, 39:6, 41:14, 48:18, 49:22, 51:5, 51:10, 51:18, 51:19, 53:6, 53:9, 53:17, 54:13, 56:3, 56:10, 56:25, 57:3, 57:7, 59:12, 63:13, 64:16, 65:23, 69:8, 77:4, 77:6, 77:7, 77:15, 79:25, 80:14, 85:22, 86:14, 93:13, 93:15, 102:18, 118:17, 133:25, 137:14, 140:11, 142:25, 148:3, 148:5, 148:9, 168:3, 169:19</p> <p><b>family's</b> [2] - 36:3, 38:22</p> <p><b>far</b> [22] - 19:3, 32:12, 32:14, 32:15, 36:25, 39:8, 44:23, 53:8, 64:6, 64:23, 66:8, 68:14, 69:1, 69:13, 69:15, 94:1, 101:19, 103:10, 103:14, 103:20, 105:15, 158:21</p> <p><b>farm</b> [14] - 42:1, 42:7, 54:12, 56:4, 56:9, 60:22, 127:14, 127:24, 137:25, 139:15, 142:10, 167:21, 168:1</p> <p><b>fashion</b> [1] - 122:25</p> <p><b>father</b> [13] - 5:16, 8:16, 9:2, 32:7, 41:6, 47:21, 48:20, 48:22, 56:15, 79:22, 79:25, 81:20, 82:13</p> <p><b>father's</b> [2] - 44:9, 80:6</p> <p><b>fax</b> [4] - 119:23, 119:24, 122:8, 122:15</p> <p><b>February</b> [5] - 111:12, 123:22, 135:19, 139:11, 139:14</p> <p><b>fees</b> [1] - 68:1</p> <p><b>fell</b> [1] - 38:3</p> <p><b>Fell</b> [1] - 136:23</p> <p><b>felt</b> [4] - 50:25, 56:25, 154:13, 167:20</p> <p><b>female</b> [1] - 133:2</p>	<p><b>females</b> [1] - 133:7</p> <p><b>few</b> [23] - 4:3, 9:10, 9:19, 16:4, 22:9, 37:4, 41:12, 44:25, 58:1, 69:15, 70:19, 70:21, 77:21, 80:17, 84:7, 86:20, 88:1, 115:10, 128:24, 131:19, 155:8, 163:15, 173:10</p> <p><b>fifty</b> [1] - 49:17</p> <p><b>fifty-five</b> [1] - 49:17</p> <p><b>fight</b> [1] - 166:16</p> <p><b>fighter</b> [2] - 169:8, 169:9</p> <p><b>fighting</b> [1] - 148:19</p> <p><b>figured</b> [1] - 22:21</p> <p><b>file</b> [40] - 20:7, 25:12, 31:5, 31:11, 31:23, 33:23, 35:6, 40:17, 86:21, 87:2, 87:9, 87:11, 113:19, 113:21, 114:17, 115:4, 115:20, 116:22, 117:6, 117:20, 117:21, 118:6, 118:13, 121:15, 121:18, 122:2, 122:10, 122:17, 124:18, 127:4, 127:5, 128:9, 129:16, 132:6, 132:9, 133:5, 133:16, 134:4, 134:12, 135:10</p> <p><b>filed</b> [3] - 18:5, 26:15, 28:5</p> <p><b>files</b> [3] - 33:5, 35:17, 120:20</p> <p><b>filing</b> [1] - 113:6</p> <p><b>fill</b> [1] - 43:9</p> <p><b>finally</b> [4] - 12:19, 22:17, 53:24, 54:2</p> <p><b>fine</b> [1] - 17:7</p> <p><b>finish</b> [6] - 71:2, 130:6, 141:5, 172:17, 172:24, 173:24</p> <p><b>finished</b> [1] - 57:12</p> <p><b>First</b> [5] - 5:11, 47:9, 78:10, 100:19, 146:6</p> <p><b>first</b> [38] - 2:17, 5:24, 16:2, 18:13, 25:6, 25:10, 28:1, 29:5, 32:5, 32:21, 46:9, 46:11, 48:8, 48:17, 56:6, 57:25, 58:11, 58:12, 59:13, 69:12, 71:6, 83:17, 91:5, 97:20, 105:12,</p>	<p>107:23, 109:6, 112:9, 113:23, 114:6, 121:10, 122:12, 122:22, 124:19, 154:6, 157:18, 158:21, 161:6</p> <p><b>fisherman</b> [1] - 143:18</p> <p><b>fishermen</b> [1] - 45:15</p> <p><b>fishing</b> [1] - 47:21</p> <p><b>fit</b> [3] - 5:23, 96:5, 133:8</p> <p><b>five</b> [9] - 16:23, 49:17, 58:9, 70:3, 104:2, 108:17, 108:18, 164:6, 173:4</p> <p><b>fixed</b> [1] - 102:14</p> <p><b>flagged</b> [1] - 90:19</p> <p><b>flew</b> [2] - 144:22, 146:3</p> <p><b>focus</b> [2] - 10:23, 152:16</p> <p><b>follow</b> [1] - 73:20</p> <p><b>followed</b> [1] - 5:6</p> <p><b>following</b> [7] - 18:6, 31:8, 92:19, 113:13, 113:22, 158:9, 164:20</p> <p><b>food</b> [1] - 162:1</p> <p><b>force</b> [4] - 63:24, 138:13, 167:16, 167:19</p> <p><b>forced</b> [2] - 49:1, 65:24</p> <p><b>forces</b> [1] - 65:19</p> <p><b>foregoing</b> [1] - 174:13</p> <p><b>forget</b> [6] - 38:14, 71:5, 71:13, 71:14, 71:16, 71:18</p> <p><b>form</b> [2] - 25:21, 156:23</p> <p><b>Fort</b> [11] - 100:10, 102:2, 102:21, 103:6, 103:8, 103:11, 106:10, 111:3, 129:21, 142:24</p> <p><b>fortunate</b> [3] - 75:22, 151:23, 168:18</p> <p><b>forward</b> [6] - 2:12, 32:25, 42:14, 72:12, 75:2, 131:15</p> <p><b>foster</b> [29] - 52:16, 52:18, 53:2, 54:7, 56:2, 56:15, 57:1, 57:4, 58:4, 58:13, 59:22, 59:24, 60:8, 66:18, 66:20, 66:24, 72:14, 72:17, 73:1, 73:3, 73:4, 80:11,</p>	<p>102:23, 103:4, 103:12, 103:23, 104:9, 144:8, 144:22</p> <p><b>fought</b> [3] - 148:13, 166:15</p> <p><b>Foundation</b> [2] - 144:21, 145:1</p> <p><b>four</b> [11] - 16:22, 18:10, 50:6, 52:15, 52:16, 59:18, 61:9, 87:17, 117:15, 117:19, 118:6</p> <p><b>fourth</b> [1] - 5:20</p> <p><b>Freda</b> [8] - 27:5, 35:14, 39:10, 84:21, 85:6, 99:14, 99:16, 126:10</p> <p><b>freedom</b> [1] - 56:4</p> <p><b>friend</b> [10] - 2:2, 62:12, 72:17, 73:1, 109:23, 109:24, 109:25, 110:18, 125:7, 169:12</p> <p><b>friends</b> [3] - 14:8, 23:16, 68:5</p> <p><b>Friendship</b> [5] - 119:10, 119:25, 120:12, 121:21, 122:6</p> <p><b>front</b> [1] - 155:20</p> <p><b>fruit</b> [1] - 56:18</p> <p><b>frustrated</b> [1] - 86:5</p> <p><b>frustrating</b> [2] - 36:7, 40:5</p> <p><b>fun</b> [4] - 23:7, 71:19, 102:14, 102:15</p> <p><b>funeral</b> [5] - 57:22, 58:2, 58:8, 58:20, 169:21</p> <p><b>future</b> [2] - 94:4, 94:8</p> <p style="text-align: center;"><b>G</b></p> <p><b>G-a-g-n-o-n</b> [1] - 141:15</p> <p><b>Gabereau</b> [1] - 147:1</p> <p><b>Gabriele</b> [1] - 174:21</p> <p><b>Gagnon</b> [9] - 141:12, 141:15, 147:18, 148:18, 163:25, 164:11, 169:12, 171:23, 173:6</p> <p><b>GAGNON</b> [2] - 141:13, 1:15</p> <p><b>gagnon</b> [1] - 141:18</p> <p><b>gallery</b> [1] - 150:7</p> <p><b>garden</b> [2] - 56:18, 61:13</p> <p><b>Gary</b> [17] - 10:19,</p>	<p>10:21, 11:1, 11:11, 14:10, 14:12, 32:4, 32:7, 32:22, 79:13, 81:18, 87:22, 89:14, 89:25, 90:16, 91:2, 91:8</p> <p><b>Gary"</b> [1] - 10:7</p> <p><b>general</b> [3] - 40:14, 40:15, 53:16</p> <p><b>General</b> [3] - 50:14, 100:7, 116:7</p> <p><b>generally</b> [5] - 44:1, 44:4, 72:7, 164:18, 165:1</p> <p><b>generation</b> [5] - 77:11, 77:12, 77:13, 78:24, 78:25</p> <p><b>generations</b> [3] - 41:12, 73:21, 78:23</p> <p><b>George</b> [32] - 100:11, 102:20, 102:22, 103:2, 103:5, 103:8, 103:10, 103:11, 104:4, 104:25, 106:11, 106:12, 106:15, 111:16, 112:7, 112:18, 113:6, 113:18, 114:25, 115:20, 116:15, 121:15, 122:1, 122:10, 124:10, 128:6, 129:20, 129:21, 132:23, 134:12, 139:21, 170:10</p> <p><b>girl</b> [4] - 23:1, 102:8, 102:16, 150:12</p> <p><b>girls</b> [3] - 50:6, 54:13, 104:2</p> <p><b>given</b> [10] - 42:21, 47:6, 56:4, 66:25, 70:4, 98:16, 108:9, 109:14, 117:22, 147:14</p> <p><b>glad</b> [1] - 169:17</p> <p><b>Gladys</b> [1] - 108:23</p> <p><b>glasses</b> [1] - 17:6</p> <p><b>God</b> [2] - 82:12, 130:15</p> <p><b>government</b> [3] - 54:6, 68:23, 68:24</p> <p><b>Grace</b> [1] - 8:14</p> <p><b>gracious</b> [1] - 148:13</p> <p><b>Grade</b> [3] - 6:11, 143:22, 143:24</p> <p><b>graduate</b> [1] - 63:10</p> <p><b>graduated</b> [1] - 6:23</p> <p><b>grandchildren</b> [3] - 101:20, 104:7, 131:2</p> <p><b>grandfather</b> [1] -</p>
--	---	--	---	---

<p>64:25  <b>grandma</b> [2] - 166:5, 171:20  <b>grandmother</b> [5] - 45:23, 46:2, 48:5, 64:24, 101:18  <b>grandparents</b> [4] - 48:3, 48:4, 64:20, 64:23  <b>grandson</b> [6] - 165:25, 166:2, 166:8, 166:19, 166:20, 167:1  <b>granted</b> [1] - 2:10  <b>great</b> [1] - 48:4  <b>greatly</b> [1] - 133:4  <b>grew</b> [7] - 8:2, 9:7, 9:14, 40:22, 54:11, 69:7, 143:15  <b>group</b> [2] - 52:20, 133:3  <b>groups</b> [1] - 44:25  <b>grow</b> [1] - 40:23  <b>growing</b> [11] - 7:25, 9:4, 68:10, 69:22, 70:7, 70:25, 72:8, 77:4, 77:6, 80:23, 102:7  <b>grown</b> [1] - 101:13  <b>grows</b> [2] - 82:8, 166:1  <b>guess</b> [37] - 6:12, 6:14, 10:11, 40:15, 48:14, 51:11, 53:2, 53:23, 56:20, 57:9, 59:3, 59:25, 60:2, 62:7, 62:8, 62:12, 62:14, 62:15, 62:16, 65:3, 66:7, 66:8, 69:25, 70:12, 73:19, 76:23, 77:19, 80:7, 80:12, 82:1, 82:6, 82:16, 84:2, 98:4, 135:25, 151:22, 153:12  <b>guidance</b> [1] - 41:9  <b>guy</b> [5] - 110:3, 110:4, 110:20, 127:23, 154:14  <b>guys</b> [4] - 29:10, 112:22, 127:10, 137:12</p>	<p><b>hand</b> [4] - 3:18, 121:10, 142:2, 154:12  <b>handed</b> [2] - 96:17, 149:21  <b>handful</b> [4] - 61:17, 61:19, 61:20, 61:22  <b>handle</b> [3] - 64:10, 80:10, 82:16  <b>handled</b> [2] - 82:18, 83:14  <b>hands</b> [5] - 101:13, 130:23, 142:5, 172:25, 173:22  <b>handwriting</b> [2] - 28:9, 28:10  <b>handwritten</b> [4] - 17:14, 27:20, 156:15, 158:1  <b>hang</b> [1] - 126:23  <b>hanging</b> [1] - 12:15  <b>happier</b> [2] - 4:3, 150:4  <b>happy</b> [7] - 9:6, 9:12, 9:16, 102:16, 152:9, 152:10  <b>hard</b> [12] - 60:5, 63:3, 65:18, 81:3, 127:13, 144:14, 158:3, 163:24, 166:7, 166:16, 168:4, 168:5  <b>Harrison</b> [1] - 44:19  <b>hassle</b> [1] - 61:18  <b>Hastings</b> [5] - 12:9, 30:5, 152:20, 158:18  <b>Hazel</b> [1] - 46:11  <b>head</b> [4] - 22:10, 23:13, 65:9, 171:21  <b>heal</b> [1] - 78:17  <b>healing</b> [2] - 78:20, 79:7  <b>health</b> [5] - 11:15, 50:10, 51:20, 80:3, 130:2  <b>hear</b> [13] - 93:19, 105:10, 105:11, 109:17, 110:3, 110:20, 112:25, 113:12, 124:19, 129:12, 153:20, 154:5, 166:9  <b>heard</b> [25] - 14:1, 22:21, 71:6, 84:19, 85:6, 85:17, 86:15, 91:22, 92:4, 103:21, 107:17, 110:16, 120:25, 125:6, 146:3, 147:7, 148:3, 153:6, 153:11, 155:5, 157:7,</p>	<p>159:20, 167:2, 169:5, 170:3  <b>hearing</b> [15] - 1:4, 21:12, 43:2, 43:5, 88:4, 95:3, 95:6, 108:18, 108:21, 119:20, 141:7, 141:10, 164:6, 164:9, 174:9  <b>hearings</b> [2] - 26:13, 156:6  <b>heart</b> [1] - 167:9  <b>hearts</b> [1] - 140:18  <b>heavy</b> [1] - 156:17  <b>Hector</b> [3] - 46:21, 52:20, 61:3  <b>Heise</b> [1] - 174:21  <b>held</b> [1] - 37:19  <b>help</b> [18] - 23:16, 28:24, 35:14, 42:3, 42:4, 53:13, 59:21, 61:6, 66:15, 75:6, 82:18, 109:2, 119:13, 120:14, 133:10, 163:3, 165:21, 169:24  <b>helped</b> [9] - 39:22, 40:1, 61:12, 71:5, 94:15, 146:10, 146:22, 169:24, 169:25  <b>helpful</b> [3] - 2:15, 27:14, 39:6  <b>helping</b> [4] - 28:22, 36:23, 38:25, 39:1  <b>helps</b> [1] - 168:9  <b>Henry</b> [7] - 141:20, 142:24, 143:1, 147:20, 156:13, 172:9, 2:7  <b>hereby</b> [1] - 174:13  <b>herein</b> [1] - 174:16  <b>hero</b> [1] - 148:18  <b>herself</b> [3] - 62:11, 152:9, 154:13  <b>high</b> [6] - 6:11, 6:18, 6:23, 63:9, 125:19, 145:7  <b>High</b> [1] - 54:17  <b>high-tech</b> [1] - 125:19  <b>Hill</b> [2] - 146:5  <b>him</b>] [1] - 32:4  <b>himself</b> [5] - 60:13, 60:14, 170:4, 170:10, 170:11  <b>hindsight</b> [1] - 91:16  <b>historical</b> [1] - 134:19  <b>hit</b> [2] - 71:7, 171:15  <b>hitchhike</b> [1] - 129:22  <b>hitchhiked</b> [3] -</p>	<p>104:17, 104:18, 105:8  <b>HIV</b> [1] - 156:18  <b>hm</b> [36] - 6:10, 6:13, 6:16, 7:16, 13:1, 13:3, 14:13, 27:7, 102:23, 104:6, 111:8, 114:13, 114:18, 114:22, 115:13, 115:15, 117:16, 118:10, 121:20, 121:23, 123:21, 124:1, 124:7, 132:14, 133:13, 133:22, 135:13, 138:22, 140:20, 142:11, 143:6, 144:1, 144:7, 159:16, 160:16, 161:18  <b>hm-hmm</b> [36] - 6:10, 6:13, 6:16, 7:16, 13:1, 13:3, 14:13, 27:7, 102:23, 104:6, 111:8, 114:13, 114:18, 114:22, 115:13, 115:15, 117:16, 118:10, 121:20, 121:23, 123:21, 124:1, 124:7, 132:14, 133:13, 133:22, 135:13, 138:22, 140:20, 142:11, 143:6, 144:1, 144:7, 159:16, 160:16, 161:18  <b>hmm</b> [42] - 6:10, 6:13, 6:16, 7:16, 13:1, 13:3, 14:13, 27:7, 48:15, 97:6, 102:23, 104:6, 111:8, 114:13, 114:18, 114:22, 115:13, 115:15, 117:14, 117:16, 118:10, 121:20, 121:23, 123:21, 124:7, 132:14, 133:13, 133:22, 135:13, 138:22, 140:20, 142:11, 143:6, 144:1, 144:7, 159:16, 160:16, 161:18  <b>hop</b> [1] - 107:8  <b>hope</b> [10] - 2:14, 37:12, 37:13, 38:9, 42:6, 42:13, 83:3, 131:6, 169:19, 171:13  <b>hoped</b> [1] - 169:15  <b>hopefully</b> [2] - 82:5, 82:18  <b>hoping</b> [4] - 12:1, 128:25, 129:1, 148:21  <b>Hospital</b> [9] - 8:14, 50:13, 50:14, 100:7, 112:18, 116:7, 116:8, 116:12, 117:23  <b>hospital</b> [7] - 52:1, 67:17, 72:3, 116:5, 116:16, 118:7  <b>hospitals</b> [2] - 45:23, 115:12  <b>Hot</b> [1] - 44:19  <b>Hotel</b> [4] - 109:9, 109:11, 152:21, 160:17  <b>hotel</b> [1] - 156:20  <b>hour's</b> [1] - 44:7  <b>hours</b> [1] - 129:9  <b>house</b> [20] - 6:8, 9:10, 11:12, 12:25, 49:2,</p>	<p>150:7  <b>Holland</b> [1] - 8:16  <b>Holyk</b> [5] - 3:7, 4:17, 17:3, 25:24, 2:5  <b>home</b> [39] - 13:2, 13:25, 15:10, 33:18, 45:25, 52:18, 53:2, 54:7, 54:21, 55:24, 56:3, 57:16, 57:19, 58:4, 58:10, 60:11, 60:12, 60:13, 63:14, 72:14, 73:12, 80:11, 92:4, 103:7, 103:12, 104:16, 104:18, 106:2, 106:3, 106:25, 108:7, 108:12, 130:4, 152:24, 157:14, 160:14, 165:18, 168:5  <b>homes</b> [10] - 52:16, 52:20, 59:22, 59:24, 60:8, 60:9, 60:20, 66:18, 144:8, 144:22  <b>honest</b> [3] - 82:12, 150:14, 155:14  <b>honest-to-God</b> [1] - 82:12  <b>honour</b> [1] - 150:24  <b>hop</b> [1] - 107:8  <b>hope</b> [10] - 2:14, 37:12, 37:13, 38:9, 42:6, 42:13, 83:3, 131:6, 169:19, 171:13  <b>hoped</b> [1] - 169:15  <b>hopefully</b> [2] - 82:5, 82:18  <b>hoping</b> [4] - 12:1, 128:25, 129:1, 148:21  <b>Hospital</b> [9] - 8:14, 50:13, 50:14, 100:7, 112:18, 116:7, 116:8, 116:12, 117:23  <b>hospital</b> [7] - 52:1, 67:17, 72:3, 116:5, 116:16, 118:7  <b>hospitals</b> [2] - 45:23, 115:12  <b>Hot</b> [1] - 44:19  <b>Hotel</b> [4] - 109:9, 109:11, 152:21, 160:17  <b>hotel</b> [1] - 156:20  <b>hour's</b> [1] - 44:7  <b>hours</b> [1] - 129:9  <b>house</b> [20] - 6:8, 9:10, 11:12, 12:25, 49:2,</p>
--	---	--	---	---



<p>51:4, 51:7, 51:16, 51:24, 53:13, 53:23, 53:24, 54:3, 54:4, 55:23, 57:24, 59:10, 61:12, 110:13</p> <p><b>housecleaning</b> [1] - 53:10</p> <p><b>housework</b> [1] - 53:16</p> <p><b>Howlett</b> [4] - 31:9, 31:12, 31:23, 87:11</p> <p><b>hug</b> [1] - 105:24</p> <p><b>huge</b> [2] - 79:2, 149:18</p> <p><b>hugging</b> [2] - 130:18, 130:24</p> <p><b>Human</b> [2] - 90:25, 134:17</p> <p><b>human</b> [2] - 148:15, 165:5</p> <p><b>hung</b> [6] - 19:14, 23:14, 30:2, 30:11, 170:4, 170:11</p> <p><b>hunt</b> [4] - 42:20, 86:16, 169:12, 172:15</p> <p><b>Hunt</b> [2] - 142:25, 1:10</p> <p><b>HUNT</b> [7] - 42:21, 43:1, 43:6, 43:13, 131:17, 173:4, 173:6</p> <p><b>hurt</b> [3] - 38:13, 41:20, 71:9</p> <p><b>husband</b> [11] - 100:16, 101:1, 102:18, 103:10, 105:19, 106:9, 107:2, 107:8, 109:7, 130:21, 151:3</p>	<p><b>IN</b> [3] - 3:6, 95:16, 141:17</p> <p><b>inadequate</b> [1] - 164:17</p> <p><b>incident</b> [6] - 88:16, 90:16, 91:3, 103:14, 109:4, 115:25</p> <p><b>incidents</b> [1] - 90:1</p> <p><b>include</b> [2] - 78:1, 78:3</p> <p><b>included</b> [1] - 36:9</p> <p><b>including</b> [4] - 39:16, 45:18, 79:5, 84:24</p> <p><b>inclusion</b> [1] - 78:12</p> <p><b>indeterminate</b> [1] - 41:15</p> <p><b>INDEX</b> [1] - 1:3</p> <p><b>Indian</b> [9] - 49:4, 49:7, 49:11, 49:21, 50:25, 51:3, 67:10, 159:24, 160:22</p> <p><b>indicated</b> [1] - 89:14</p> <p><b>indicating</b> [1] - 142:4</p> <p><b>individual</b> [2] - 41:24, 79:4</p> <p><b>industry</b> [1] - 7:14</p> <p><b>info</b> [1] - 121:16</p> <p><b>inform</b> [2] - 79:14, 81:10</p> <p><b>information</b> [28] - 1:15, 17:19, 30:4, 30:7, 30:18, 89:10, 89:23, 89:25, 90:6, 92:14, 93:2, 93:3, 99:13, 114:15, 116:15, 119:6, 119:8, 123:16, 126:15, 133:6, 133:23, 134:19, 136:10, 140:22, 147:17, 157:1, 158:24, 159:3</p> <p><b>informed</b> [2] - 98:11, 118:17</p> <p><b>initial</b> [4] - 35:2, 125:11, 158:15, 164:13</p> <p><b>initiative</b> [1] - 41:24</p> <p><b>injuries</b> [1] - 116:13</p> <p><b>Inlet</b> [3] - 143:1, 143:15, 143:16</p> <p><b>inner</b> [2] - 77:15, 79:2</p> <p><b>input</b> [1] - 82:25</p> <p><b>inquiries</b> [5] - 28:16, 28:22, 28:25, 135:15, 139:7</p> <p><b>inquiry</b> [12] - 2:14, 79:14, 81:10, 82:13, 84:19, 87:12, 93:24, 147:7, 166:14,</p>	<p>167:4, 171:13, 171:14</p> <p><b>Inquiry</b> [1] - 79:19</p> <p><b>inside</b> [2] - 79:11, 146:5</p> <p><b>insistence</b> [1] - 106:20</p> <p><b>instances</b> [1] - 18:11</p> <p><b>institution</b> [1] - 68:7</p> <p><b>institutions</b> [7] - 71:23, 72:6, 72:7, 74:18, 75:15, 75:20, 79:5</p> <p><b>instructed</b> [1] - 55:11</p> <p><b>intend</b> [1] - 2:3</p> <p><b>interaction</b> [2] - 83:20, 84:13</p> <p><b>interactions</b> [1] - 123:14</p> <p><b>interest</b> [1] - 135:11</p> <p><b>interested</b> [1] - 68:25</p> <p><b>interview</b> [6] - 32:9, 32:18, 32:21, 91:7, 121:3, 123:23</p> <p><b>interviewed</b> [15] - 29:9, 32:3, 32:6, 33:9, 33:13, 33:19, 34:21, 36:9, 36:12, 39:22, 87:19, 89:15, 90:3, 91:5, 92:13</p> <p><b>interviewing</b> [3] - 30:24, 39:20, 136:24</p> <p><b>introduce</b> [1] - 108:23</p> <p><b>introduction</b> [3] - 145:16, 146:15, 147:18</p> <p><b>investigate</b> [2] - 24:6, 84:23</p> <p><b>investigated</b> [1] - 90:3</p> <p><b>investigating</b> [2] - 129:13, 132:24</p> <p><b>investigation</b> [22] - 5:5, 28:19, 31:7, 33:23, 37:1, 38:15, 39:3, 40:1, 40:4, 72:4, 74:10, 84:3, 86:7, 86:8, 118:4, 126:25, 138:11, 139:6, 146:21, 163:2, 165:3, 167:13</p> <p><b>investigations</b> [3] - 37:18, 37:22, 140:10</p> <p><b>investigative</b> [1] - 113:21</p> <p><b>investigator</b> [2] - 87:10, 88:22</p> <p><b>investigators</b> [1] - 136:21</p> <p><b>invited</b> [1] - 147:1</p> <p><b>involved</b> [10] - 5:14,</p>	<p>24:23, 25:1, 25:3, 25:6, 31:13, 82:5, 121:24, 121:25, 145:18</p> <p><b>involvement</b> [2] - 125:21, 165:3</p> <p><b>involving</b> [1] - 90:16</p> <p><b>irregardless</b> [1] - 55:5</p> <p><b>isolated</b> [1] - 70:12</p> <p><b>issues</b> [14] - 11:17, 12:22, 52:7, 63:12, 63:21, 63:25, 64:7, 66:16, 71:5, 80:3, 80:7, 80:9, 105:14, 153:4</p> <p><b>itself</b> [2] - 63:20, 117:1</p>	<p>147:21, 149:5, 149:13, 149:19, 149:20, 149:23, 150:4, 150:12, 150:18, 150:19, 151:6, 151:11, 151:15, 151:23, 152:1, 152:6, 152:8, 152:23, 153:3, 154:10, 154:16, 155:5, 156:13, 160:6, 160:11, 160:13, 162:16, 163:9, 163:16, 163:18, 165:6, 166:15, 167:20, 167:24, 168:1, 168:5, 169:9, 169:19, 169:20, 170:8, 172:9, 2:7</p> <p><b>Janet's</b> [5] - 142:6, 142:15, 142:18, 167:13, 167:23</p> <p><b>January</b> [8] - 21:20, 21:21, 25:13, 25:22, 28:1, 28:13, 92:24, 102:1</p> <p><b>jaw</b> [1] - 136:17</p> <p><b>Jay</b> [6] - 26:4, 26:8, 28:17, 28:21, 28:24, 35:17</p> <p><b>job</b> [6] - 59:15, 128:8, 129:1, 129:4, 129:7, 131:7</p> <p><b>jobs</b> [1] - 69:3</p> <p><b>Joe</b> [3] - 61:3, 62:24, 95:20</p> <p><b>jogs</b> [1] - 26:23</p> <p><b>John</b> [7] - 48:22, 48:23, 50:3, 51:10, 52:4, 111:4, 129:21</p> <p><b>John's</b> [1] - 54:19</p> <p><b>Johnny</b> [4] - 27:6, 35:15, 99:16, 126:10</p> <p><b>Johns</b> [10] - 26:4, 26:8, 28:15, 28:18, 28:21, 28:24, 29:3, 29:8, 30:17, 35:17</p> <p><b>joint</b> [1] - 138:13</p> <p><b>joking</b> [1] - 171:4</p> <p><b>Joseph</b> [3] - 46:20, 46:21, 52:19</p> <p><b>Jr</b> [2] - 10:19, 79:13</p> <p><b>judgmental</b> [1] - 165:22</p> <p><b>Judy</b> [1] - 143:13</p> <p><b>July</b> [10] - 90:22, 104:23, 105:7, 106:15, 111:17, 116:9, 116:12,</p>
<b>I</b>				
<p><b>ID</b> [2] - 121:6, 162:1</p> <p><b>idea</b> [4] - 29:24, 49:14, 65:12, 114:20</p> <p><b>ideally</b> [1] - 33:1</p> <p><b>identified</b> [1] - 27:22</p> <p><b>ignorant</b> [1] - 41:23</p> <p><b>ignore</b> [1] - 78:16</p> <p><b>illness</b> [2] - 65:17, 80:11</p> <p><b>imagine</b> [1] - 148:15</p> <p><b>immediate</b> [1] - 64:18</p> <p><b>Immigration</b> [1] - 88:2</p> <p><b>impact</b> [1] - 48:18</p> <p><b>important</b> [11] - 1:16, 17:7, 28:11, 39:2, 39:11, 39:13, 39:17, 40:3, 82:22, 83:1, 162:17</p> <p><b>impression</b> [3] - 40:13, 40:14, 40:15</p>				

158:1, 158:14, 159:22 <b>June</b> [10] - 116:8, 141:23, 152:16, 153:2, 153:25, 154:20, 154:25, 155:3, 155:6, 156:11 <b>justice</b> [2] - 76:12, 76:19 <b>justice"</b> [1] - 76:11	<b>knows</b> [3] - 1:7, 82:10, 129:23	<b>leave</b> [6] - 49:1, 65:24, 100:21, 147:5, 152:25, 169:14 <b>leaving</b> [1] - 50:19 <b>left</b> [32] - 2:9, 3:14, 9:2, 10:2, 15:19, 17:17, 17:18, 48:13, 50:9, 61:11, 62:4, 62:8, 62:10, 62:17, 62:19, 64:7, 64:25, 81:8, 81:19, 96:10, 102:17, 104:18, 105:7, 105:10, 114:11, 115:8, 121:10, 123:19, 124:17, 142:1, 156:21, 170:25 <b>left-hand</b> [1] - 121:10 <b>legally</b> [1] - 44:21 <b>length</b> [1] - 40:2 <b>less</b> [1] - 56:20 <b>letter</b> [13] - 20:13, 21:6, 21:8, 21:14, 23:25, 24:2, 24:9, 24:13, 24:16, 24:19, 84:11, 85:9 <b>Letter</b> [2] - 147:11, 147:20 <b>letters</b> [1] - 111:6 <b>letting</b> [1] - 147:5 <b>Levesque</b> [2] - 161:2, 161:5 <b>Levina</b> [3] - 149:10, 168:22, 169:7 <b>Liaison</b> [15] - 23:17, 24:20, 26:5, 26:20, 27:3, 27:5, 28:6, 35:12, 39:5, 85:5, 85:18, 85:20, 121:17, 125:22, 126:9 <b>life</b> [46] - 5:4, 8:11, 9:4, 9:10, 9:14, 9:25, 10:25, 38:2, 43:10, 48:18, 51:10, 51:18, 51:19, 63:12, 63:21, 64:9, 64:11, 64:16, 66:14, 66:16, 69:5, 69:8, 70:23, 76:23, 76:25, 79:17, 80:19, 81:19, 82:6, 105:13, 116:13, 142:18, 144:13, 148:22, 150:16, 151:13, 152:17, 152:18, 154:17, 155:10, 165:15, 167:11, 168:8, 168:11, 168:12, 171:15 <b>lifestyle</b> [2] - 45:13,	47:20 <b>light</b> [1] - 149:1 <b>Lila</b> [5] - 2:17, 2:23, 3:3, 54:19, 60:21 <b>LILA</b> [2] - 2:21, 1:8 <b>Lillian</b> [2] - 43:20, 45:18 <b>listen</b> [2] - 37:20, 146:24 <b>listened</b> [1] - 166:13 <b>live</b> [9] - 6:21, 12:12, 54:3, 58:22, 104:4, 131:3, 168:12, 168:16 <b>lived</b> [14] - 8:5, 9:9, 45:14, 51:5, 54:12, 69:13, 80:6, 102:19, 102:20, 102:21, 103:24, 106:13, 143:16, 144:24 <b>lives</b> [6] - 37:5, 37:8, 37:15, 42:3, 94:11, 104:5 <b>living</b> [43] - 8:18, 9:25, 10:1, 10:4, 11:1, 11:4, 11:10, 45:6, 45:7, 47:8, 47:19, 47:20, 49:22, 51:15, 53:14, 53:25, 56:4, 57:7, 57:12, 57:18, 63:1, 64:15, 65:22, 68:19, 68:21, 80:13, 80:14, 103:5, 103:8, 103:13, 104:3, 106:17, 145:11, 152:6, 152:18, 152:20, 157:14, 158:19, 165:15, 167:8, 169:3, 169:4 <b>local</b> [2] - 68:23, 68:24 <b>locate</b> [3] - 92:11, 115:11, 124:11 <b>located</b> [3] - 44:2, 44:5, 117:6 <b>logger</b> [2] - 101:5, 143:18 <b>loggers</b> [1] - 45:15 <b>logging</b> [1] - 47:21 <b>look</b> [12] - 40:9, 42:14, 42:15, 78:15, 94:4, 94:8, 107:1, 107:11, 121:5, 133:16, 135:24, 159:16 <b>looked</b> [3] - 28:3, 37:19, 54:7 <b>looking</b> [29] - 12:20, 23:12, 23:15, 28:6, 29:10, 29:14, 34:19, 38:6, 59:16, 62:20, 62:22, 81:7, 81:10,	86:7, 87:23, 90:15, 90:23, 90:24, 91:12, 93:1, 105:20, 107:3, 107:20, 123:3, 130:16, 131:4, 131:8, 132:5, 155:22 <b>looks</b> [4] - 4:4, 38:9, 79:14, 119:23 <b>Lori</b> [15] - 123:9, 123:11, 124:23, 132:22, 133:11, 134:4, 134:22, 136:7, 136:15, 137:3, 146:22, 147:2, 163:22, 169:23, 170:1 <b>lose</b> [2] - 49:4, 66:1 <b>losing</b> [3] - 37:7, 37:8, 171:18 <b>loss</b> [2] - 132:2, 148:7 <b>losses</b> [1] - 148:8 <b>lost</b> [8] - 42:3, 60:2, 65:25, 79:20, 79:22, 81:20, 152:11, 166:17 <b>loudest</b> [1] - 148:14 <b>Louie</b> [3] - 161:2, 161:9, 161:10 <b>Louis</b> [2] - 161:5, 161:14 <b>love</b> [8] - 38:1, 41:16, 41:17, 81:5, 108:13, 130:3, 131:1, 152:25 <b>loved</b> [7] - 2:5, 126:20, 129:5, 131:8, 146:8, 171:19 <b>Lower</b> [1] - 118:23 <b>Ltd</b> [1] - 174:24 <b>lunch</b> [2] - 94:23, 95:1 <b>lungs</b> [2] - 50:16, 50:17 <b>Lunn</b> [1] - 99:19 <b>Lytton</b> [2] - 8:18, 8:20
<b>K</b>	<b>labeled</b> [2] - 172:11, 2:9 <b>laid</b> [3] - 62:23, 98:7, 142:14 <b>Lake</b> [2] - 54:21, 100:14 <b>lake</b> [1] - 44:20 <b>Lance</b> [6] - 143:7, 144:6, 144:10, 170:12, 170:14, 170:25 <b>landlady</b> [1] - 160:12 <b>landlord</b> [1] - 159:19 <b>language</b> [8] - 48:1, 48:6, 48:7, 48:8, 48:10, 49:13, 55:15, 135:12 <b>large</b> [4] - 5:18, 37:7, 56:11, 132:25 <b>larger</b> [3] - 61:16, 77:7, 79:3 <b>last</b> [27] - 13:4, 31:1, 34:16, 34:17, 41:2, 52:11, 57:7, 57:11, 79:18, 97:19, 110:15, 112:16, 112:17, 125:6, 125:13, 133:3, 152:17, 153:1, 153:3, 153:24, 154:19, 155:5, 156:12, 157:19, 159:4, 164:17 <b>last-known</b> [5] - 34:16, 34:17, 157:19, 159:4, 164:17 <b>late</b> [5] - 90:16, 91:21, 124:21, 151:13, 172:21 <b>law</b> [2] - 42:2, 75:5 <b>lay</b> [2] - 99:21, 148:2 <b>leading</b> [1] - 138:18 <b>leads</b> [2] - 92:21, 136:20 <b>leaned</b> [1] - 105:21 <b>learn</b> [7] - 34:2, 82:17, 86:18, 94:6, 94:7, 94:11, 107:14 <b>learned</b> [3] - 88:2, 146:6, 157:22 <b>learns</b> [2] - 35:11, 87:22 <b>least</b> [2] - 9:11, 15:14	<b>least</b> [2] - 9:11, 15:14	<b>M</b>	
<b>Kalay</b> [3] - 144:21, 144:25, 145:11 <b>Karen</b> [1] - 60:18 <b>keep</b> [4] - 52:12, 53:11, 171:21, 173:11 <b>keeps</b> [2] - 77:6, 79:2 <b>Kenny</b> [1] - 60:16 <b>kept</b> [10] - 54:9, 57:8, 58:13, 58:14, 73:8, 111:18, 131:13, 145:15, 163:3, 163:19 <b>kicked</b> [1] - 105:2 <b>kid</b> [1] - 169:3 <b>kids</b> [7] - 51:13, 54:19, 103:25, 104:8, 106:3, 145:6, 167:4 <b>kill</b> [1] - 154:13 <b>killed</b> [5] - 127:9, 127:20, 127:23, 138:23, 169:11 <b>kind</b> [16] - 39:10, 57:7, 68:1, 69:5, 69:17, 71:3, 73:19, 74:15, 74:25, 75:4, 82:20, 99:3, 127:3, 139:18, 145:3, 146:9 <b>kindly</b> [1] - 38:10 <b>Kingcome</b> [3] - 143:1, 143:15, 143:16 <b>kitchen</b> [1] - 169:2 <b>Kitsilano</b> [1] - 145:7 <b>Klemtu</b> [3] - 47:8, 47:10, 47:16 <b>knees</b> [1] - 130:19 <b>knock</b> [1] - 168:23 <b>knowing</b> [2] - 72:9, 80:24 <b>knowledge</b> [3] - 19:8, 37:1, 84:16 <b>known</b> [10] - 17:17, 34:16, 34:17, 55:19, 129:22, 148:6, 148:16, 157:19, 159:4, 164:17		<b>maid</b> [1] - 150:24 <b>Main</b> [1] - 30:5 <b>Mainland</b> [1] - 118:23 <b>maintained</b> [2] - 113:20, 118:20 <b>major</b> [3] - 51:17, 62:21, 76:23 <b>male</b> [2] - 159:24, 160:22 <b>man</b> [5] - 14:14, 14:17, 37:3, 122:4, 129:6 <b>managed</b> [1] - 61:24 <b>Manson</b> [1] - 100:13		

<p><b>manuscript</b> [4] - 146:17, 147:6, 147:9, 147:19</p> <p><b>map</b> [4] - 43:14, 44:2, 44:17, 47:12</p> <p><b>Maple</b> [5] - 150:17, 151:21, 152:2, 152:8, 152:12</p> <p><b>March</b> [14] - 31:7, 86:24, 87:7, 87:16, 87:19, 88:1, 88:22, 111:13, 117:18, 123:22, 135:22, 139:13, 139:15</p> <p><b>Marie</b> [1] - 133:1</p> <p><b>Marilyn</b> [5] - 27:6, 35:14, 39:10, 99:16, 126:10</p> <p><b>marked</b> [6] - 4:12, 4:15, 97:11, 172:4, 172:7, 172:8</p> <p><b>Marlo</b> [2] - 17:2, 25:24</p> <p><b>marriage</b> [4] - 5:24, 45:17, 65:15, 65:24</p> <p><b>married</b> [17] - 6:9, 44:21, 44:23, 45:1, 48:22, 48:25, 54:2, 100:15, 100:25, 102:17, 103:24, 150:4, 150:18, 150:22, 150:23</p> <p><b>marry</b> [1] - 49:4</p> <p><b>matches</b> [1] - 92:17</p> <p><b>matter</b> [3] - 89:18, 166:25, 171:21</p> <p><b>mattered</b> [1] - 169:10</p> <p><b>McEachern</b> [1] - 155:16</p> <p><b>McKinnon</b> [1] - 23:19</p> <p><b>mean</b> [20] - 11:16, 13:24, 40:22, 49:23, 56:8, 63:17, 65:13, 69:1, 76:5, 76:16, 76:22, 79:1, 79:2, 79:8, 101:21, 132:17, 138:25, 168:4, 168:16</p> <p><b>meaning</b> [1] - 148:24</p> <p><b>meaningful</b> [1] - 94:1</p> <p><b>media</b> [9] - 38:9, 124:14, 145:25, 160:4, 160:7, 160:10, 160:19, 163:3</p> <p><b>medical</b> [11] - 66:7, 66:9, 66:16, 66:20, 67:18, 67:19, 67:21, 68:7, 68:14, 68:24, 89:10</p> <p><b>medicate</b> [1] - 71:7</p>	<p><b>medicated</b> [1] - 41:19</p> <p><b>medication</b> [1] - 41:18</p> <p><b>medicine</b> [1] - 65:21</p> <p><b>meet</b> [6] - 13:10, 85:7, 109:25, 110:1, 119:24, 126:13</p> <p><b>meeting</b> [11] - 26:7, 27:4, 84:20, 85:2, 85:14, 120:11, 126:3, 127:7, 137:9, 137:13, 137:14</p> <p><b>meetings</b> [3] - 125:23, 125:25, 126:12</p> <p><b>member</b> [3] - 5:9, 33:9, 100:15</p> <p><b>members</b> [9] - 2:9, 4:11, 34:21, 47:14, 47:17, 47:18, 70:16, 98:12, 140:11</p> <p><b>memorial</b> [7] - 149:23, 167:23, 169:21, 172:6, 172:10, 2:8</p> <p><b>memory</b> [2] - 26:23, 148:19</p> <p><b>men</b> [2] - 75:20, 136:25</p> <p><b>mend</b> [1] - 42:13</p> <p><b>mention</b> [2] - 81:17, 84:6</p> <p><b>mentioned</b> [7] - 2:3, 8:15, 31:14, 88:5, 92:2, 92:3, 104:9</p> <p><b>mentioning</b> [1] - 29:16</p> <p><b>mentions</b> [1] - 24:18</p> <p><b>merely</b> [1] - 26:15</p> <p><b>message</b> [6] - 114:11, 114:16, 117:10, 133:20, 135:23, 152:25</p> <p><b>met</b> [9] - 14:18, 25:3, 73:24, 85:17, 125:25, 131:2, 146:7, 146:10</p> <p><b>microcomputer</b> [1] - 7:5</p> <p><b>mid</b> [3] - 91:1, 91:10, 91:17</p> <p><b>mid-1990s</b> [1] - 9:24</p> <p><b>mid-October</b> [1] - 91:17</p> <p><b>mid-September</b> [2] - 91:1, 91:10</p> <p><b>middle</b> [1] - 87:7</p> <p><b>midway</b> [7] - 17:3, 17:13, 25:25, 28:12, 114:19, 120:6, 156:14</p> <p><b>midwife</b> [1] - 46:2</p> <p><b>might</b> [22] - 13:14, 15:8, 29:25, 30:18,</p>	<p>33:12, 36:19, 39:19, 55:19, 67:1, 80:17, 82:24, 90:19, 92:8, 110:23, 113:3, 141:3, 154:6, 154:17, 155:10, 159:4, 162:8, 162:15</p> <p><b>mike</b> [2] - 2:25</p> <p><b>miles</b> [2] - 44:19, 100:11</p> <p><b>milk</b> [1] - 56:16</p> <p><b>mind</b> [2] - 172:16, 173:24</p> <p><b>mine</b> [2] - 38:1, 69:12</p> <p><b>Ministry</b> [4] - 66:21, 67:4, 90:24, 134:16</p> <p><b>ministry</b> [4] - 55:2, 66:15, 72:2, 103:6</p> <p><b>minor</b> [1] - 67:3</p> <p><b>minute</b> [1] - 17:10</p> <p><b>minutes</b> [11] - 43:2, 108:17, 108:18, 141:7, 164:6, 172:15, 172:25, 173:2, 173:4, 173:8</p> <p><b>misinformation</b> [2] - 117:22, 118:7</p> <p><b>miss</b> [4] - 106:3, 117:7, 131:1</p> <p><b>missed</b> [2] - 80:17, 144:14</p> <p><b>missing</b> [73] - 2:6, 3:14, 14:25, 15:5, 17:2, 17:15, 17:16, 21:18, 22:2, 25:10, 25:20, 25:23, 26:16, 27:10, 28:2, 28:18, 34:25, 37:15, 37:22, 38:7, 42:8, 74:7, 74:14, 83:14, 83:18, 89:4, 89:19, 91:9, 91:17, 95:9, 96:10, 107:15, 111:21, 112:9, 113:8, 114:1, 114:5, 115:3, 117:2, 117:7, 117:21, 118:20, 122:2, 126:2, 126:20, 129:4, 129:5, 131:9, 132:9, 142:1, 145:23, 146:7, 146:8, 146:21, 146:23, 147:4, 149:13, 156:13, 156:24, 157:20, 158:15, 159:20, 160:6, 160:11, 163:16, 165:9, 165:12, 166:3, 166:6, 167:6, 170:8</p>	<p><b>Missing</b> [19] - 14:22, 15:1, 16:10, 16:15, 17:21, 18:3, 27:25, 31:10, 35:3, 111:24, 119:5, 121:7, 121:25, 123:3, 124:6, 139:12, 155:12, 156:2</p> <p><b>mistakes</b> [1] - 94:7</p> <p><b>mix</b> [1] - 96:5</p> <p><b>mom</b> [49] - 45:18, 100:8, 102:21, 103:5, 103:8, 103:11, 103:15, 103:16, 104:13, 104:16, 104:20, 104:23, 104:25, 105:1, 105:2, 105:6, 108:9, 110:25, 111:3, 111:7, 111:10, 111:19, 112:17, 112:21, 112:23, 128:13, 129:24, 130:1, 135:22, 136:6, 136:8, 137:22, 142:24, 143:16, 143:19, 144:22, 149:8, 149:17, 151:20, 166:6, 166:22, 168:19, 168:21, 169:2, 169:6, 169:8, 170:23</p> <p><b>Mom</b> [2] - 106:2, 108:6</p> <p><b>mom's</b> [2] - 65:23, 151:22</p> <p><b>moment</b> [5] - 17:8, 88:14, 100:5, 130:22, 161:17</p> <p><b>moments</b> [1] - 148:15</p> <p><b>money</b> [1] - 152:13</p> <p><b>Monica</b> [8] - 46:11, 46:21, 52:23, 53:22, 60:23, 60:24, 63:1, 73:7</p> <p><b>month</b> [4] - 7:22, 48:21, 67:1, 89:19</p> <p><b>months</b> [22] - 25:7, 25:10, 31:5, 31:24, 32:8, 34:10, 35:9, 44:25, 58:9, 79:21, 100:8, 102:8, 111:14, 113:13, 113:22, 116:17, 117:15, 117:19, 118:7, 163:1, 164:20, 170:9</p> <p><b>morgue</b> [1] - 135:23</p> <p><b>morning</b> [6] - 1:14, 2:19, 2:20, 22:23,</p>	<p>174:5, 174:10</p> <p><b>Morris</b> [8] - 119:24, 121:16, 121:24, 122:3, 122:4, 122:8</p> <p><b>Most</b> [1] - 145:25</p> <p><b>most</b> [4] - 6:5, 38:13, 41:15, 80:19</p> <p><b>mostly</b> [1] - 7:15</p> <p><b>mother</b> [50] - 3:10, 4:4, 5:12, 5:19, 5:20, 6:8, 8:15, 10:1, 11:24, 12:4, 12:5, 12:10, 12:16, 12:17, 13:13, 13:20, 13:23, 15:16, 15:18, 17:17, 18:19, 28:5, 41:6, 43:19, 46:19, 47:23, 48:13, 48:22, 48:23, 50:3, 50:18, 51:6, 51:10, 51:21, 55:20, 57:4, 60:1, 62:11, 62:16, 65:1, 65:25, 79:20, 81:21, 82:13, 106:20, 137:18, 143:18, 144:15, 165:6</p> <p><b>mother's</b> [8] - 4:2, 5:24, 11:3, 11:4, 46:5, 51:20, 82:14, 82:15</p> <p><b>mother</b> [1] - 17:5</p> <p><b>mount</b> [1] - 148:8</p> <p><b>move</b> [8] - 53:21, 54:8, 57:13, 77:1, 102:18, 111:16, 171:6, 171:9</p> <p><b>moved</b> [35] - 6:7, 6:19, 8:20, 11:2, 45:11, 49:21, 49:25, 54:3, 54:11, 56:6, 58:23, 62:9, 63:4, 63:5, 102:21, 106:10, 106:13, 106:14, 106:15, 106:16, 111:12, 111:17, 113:14, 118:23, 119:2, 123:19, 124:10, 143:20, 143:21, 144:18, 145:9, 145:10, 150:17, 152:8</p> <p><b>movie</b> [1] - 7:14</p> <p><b>movies</b> [1] - 167:10</p> <p><b>moving</b> [1] - 70:10</p> <p><b>MR</b> [46] - 1:5, 1:11, 1:25, 2:2, 2:17, 3:5, 3:6, 4:18, 11:21, 16:4, 20:15, 20:18, 20:21, 20:25, 32:24, 33:4, 33:7, 42:18, 83:8, 83:10, 94:21,</p>
--	--	--	---	--

<p>94:25, 95:8, 95:16, 97:10, 97:16, 101:24, 108:17, 108:22, 109:1, 109:3, 114:8, 131:19, 131:21, 131:22, 140:4, 141:3, 141:11, 141:17, 150:11, 164:10, 172:5, 172:13, 172:15, 172:21, 173:10</p> <p><b>MS</b> [7] - 42:21, 43:1, 43:6, 43:13, 131:17, 173:4, 173:6</p> <p><b>murder</b> [3] - 4:25, 100:3, 142:15</p> <p><b>murdered</b> [7] - 95:9, 138:24, 138:25, 149:11, 166:18, 168:22, 169:7</p> <p><b>murders</b> [1] - 146:9</p> <p><b>Murdock</b> [8] - 95:18, 95:21, 97:15, 116:11, 122:2, 133:1, 2:6</p> <p><b>Murdock's</b> [2] - 114:14, 117:24</p> <p><b>Murray</b> [1] - 99:19</p> <p><b>must</b> [5] - 22:18, 57:17, 98:4, 149:1, 167:1</p> <p><b>mystery</b> [1] - 142:6</p>	<p>27:3, 27:5, 28:5, 35:11, 39:5, 85:5, 85:18, 85:19, 121:16, 125:22, 126:9, 146:2</p> <p><b>native</b> [7] - 49:1, 49:5, 69:23, 78:1, 81:1, 133:2, 156:17</p> <p><b>natives</b> [5] - 69:24, 70:4, 70:8, 70:9, 70:21</p> <p><b>natural</b> [1] - 52:12</p> <p><b>neat</b> [1] - 162:3</p> <p><b>necklaces</b> [1] - 99:7</p> <p><b>need</b> [7] - 2:24, 67:2, 76:2, 78:13, 79:6, 137:6, 173:17</p> <p><b>needed</b> [2] - 59:19, 85:22</p> <p><b>needle</b> [1] - 89:8</p> <p><b>needs</b> [1] - 79:16</p> <p><b>negative</b> [1] - 48:18</p> <p><b>Neil</b> [5] - 95:8, 135:25, 136:4, 136:5, 141:11</p> <p><b>never</b> [27] - 19:5, 36:24, 38:14, 48:14, 67:16, 67:23, 69:8, 72:12, 73:11, 73:16, 73:22, 74:2, 94:9, 110:16, 123:1, 124:8, 128:16, 131:2, 142:7, 148:3, 148:16, 149:1, 149:17, 151:6, 157:10, 166:8, 170:4</p> <p><b>new</b> [5] - 77:9, 87:10, 92:14, 123:15, 135:20</p> <p><b>New</b> [1] - 150:23</p> <p><b>news</b> [1] - 166:4</p> <p><b>newspaper</b> [1] - 146:1</p> <p><b>next</b> [23] - 4:12, 13:19, 14:7, 17:23, 18:10, 19:20, 25:18, 46:17, 51:17, 62:21, 77:11, 77:12, 78:22, 87:16, 91:6, 95:10, 97:11, 108:14, 109:17, 141:11, 157:4, 162:25, 171:3</p> <p><b>NFAR</b> [1] - 117:12</p> <p><b>nice</b> [1] - 56:3</p> <p><b>nicer</b> [1] - 4:5</p> <p><b>niece</b> [1] - 37:16</p> <p><b>niece's</b> [2] - 46:19, 83:13</p> <p><b>night</b> [4] - 19:17, 41:2, 91:8, 170:3</p> <p><b>nightmare</b> [2] - 165:15, 167:8</p>	<p><b>nine</b> [1] - 49:18</p> <p><b>NO</b> [10] - 4:16, 97:15, 172:9, 172:11, 1:5, 2:3, 2:5, 2:6, 2:7, 2:9</p> <p><b>no"</b> [1] - 111:19</p> <p><b>nobody</b> [6] - 36:8, 36:12, 40:19, 67:24, 70:11, 118:15</p> <p><b>non</b> [3] - 49:1, 78:1, 116:13</p> <p><b>non-life</b> [1] - 116:13</p> <p><b>non-native</b> [2] - 49:1, 78:1</p> <p><b>none</b> [4] - 24:8, 69:9, 99:6, 99:11</p> <p><b>norm</b> [1] - 70:23</p> <p><b>normal</b> [2] - 9:12, 51:11</p> <p><b>Northern</b> [1] - 67:13</p> <p><b>northwest</b> [1] - 100:11</p> <p><b>nose</b> [1] - 71:7</p> <p><b>notation</b> [2] - 117:18, 157:25</p> <p><b>note</b> [20] - 21:19, 28:4, 31:8, 42:21, 76:7, 89:9, 90:14, 91:22, 92:25, 113:25, 114:19, 117:1, 117:20, 121:14, 132:22, 134:21, 136:7, 141:3, 156:21, 159:16</p> <p><b>noted</b> [1] - 2:8</p> <p><b>notes</b> [22] - 17:14, 17:24, 18:1, 20:1, 27:20, 27:21, 27:23, 31:6, 31:20, 41:3, 92:10, 114:15, 115:6, 115:9, 116:2, 118:1, 121:11, 156:15, 158:1, 158:3, 158:14, 160:1</p> <p><b>nothing</b> [8] - 24:17, 31:4, 40:5, 40:16, 55:23, 84:17, 135:20</p> <p><b>November</b> [17] - 16:12, 19:11, 25:11, 25:12, 34:25, 35:6, 92:12, 97:18, 97:20, 105:12, 107:23, 107:24, 108:2, 109:5, 117:5, 142:22</p> <p><b>number</b> [16] - 19:15, 19:16, 23:1, 40:18, 88:17, 91:12, 97:14, 101:5, 108:9, 125:15, 132:25, 143:4, 145:18, 151:23, 155:22, 161:21</p>	<p><b>Number</b> [2] - 4:15, 172:7</p> <p><b>number</b> [1] - 156:21</p> <p><b>numbers</b> [1] - 114:21</p> <p><b>numerous</b> [1] - 158:8</p> <p><b>nurse</b> [2] - 50:20</p>	<p>129:24, 129:25, 149:7</p> <p><b>older</b> [13] - 3:10, 6:2, 8:15, 9:15, 47:4, 58:19, 59:19, 60:12, 77:9, 82:25, 150:17, 166:3, 168:24</p> <p><b>oldest</b> [7] - 5:20, 52:17, 96:6, 96:7, 101:15, 101:16, 143:8</p> <p><b>Olsen</b> [2] - 151:17, 151:22</p> <p><b>Olsen's</b> [1] - 151:16</p> <p><b>once</b> [13] - 31:14, 41:10, 41:12, 44:25, 45:2, 60:8, 67:21, 69:13, 75:16, 77:11, 137:22, 148:11</p> <p><b>one</b> [52] - 2:5, 3:13, 4:3, 4:5, 7:19, 9:20, 22:15, 22:18, 28:3, 31:1, 33:15, 34:6, 46:23, 48:16, 52:11, 54:21, 54:22, 56:2, 59:20, 69:11, 69:14, 77:17, 79:1, 82:10, 84:24, 90:2, 96:9, 96:18, 100:1, 104:5, 122:15, 122:18, 123:12, 126:2, 126:20, 128:9, 128:19, 137:12, 141:25, 144:9, 144:16, 147:5, 147:13, 150:19, 151:9, 151:15, 153:23, 154:10, 165:13, 169:19, 170:17</p> <p><b>ones</b> [11] - 9:19, 38:13, 52:16, 52:17, 78:5, 129:5, 129:6, 131:8, 146:8, 167:8, 171:19</p> <p><b>ongoing</b> [1] - 167:13</p> <p><b>open</b> [1] - 161:22</p> <p><b>opened</b> [3] - 105:23, 130:10, 130:14</p> <p><b>opportune</b> [1] - 42:22</p> <p><b>opportunity</b> [1] - 2:11</p> <p><b>opposed</b> [1] - 85:18</p> <p><b>opposite</b> [1] - 44:20</p> <p><b>order</b> [9] - 1:4, 2:5, 43:5, 78:14, 95:6, 108:21, 141:10, 162:19, 164:9</p> <p><b>ordered</b> [1] - 87:21</p> <p><b>original</b> [1] - 80:14</p> <p><b>originally</b> [2] - 1:7,</p>
<b>O</b>				
			<p><b>obscure</b> [1] - 28:13</p> <p><b>obscured</b> [1] - 29:6</p> <p><b>observant</b> [1] - 43:7</p> <p><b>observing</b> [1] - 41:7</p> <p><b>obsessed</b> [1] - 161:14</p> <p><b>obtained</b> [1] - 88:18</p> <p><b>obtaining</b> [1] - 134:11</p> <p><b>obviously</b> [2] - 147:13, 160:11</p> <p><b>occasion</b> [1] - 159:1</p> <p><b>occasionally</b> [1] - 92:20</p> <p><b>occurred</b> [1] - 23:10</p> <p><b>October</b> [20] - 2:8, 4:20, 4:23, 13:8, 13:11, 16:17, 28:7, 34:7, 91:17, 91:19, 91:21, 106:21, 106:22, 107:6, 107:20, 115:11, 134:18, 134:22, 137:11</p> <p><b>OD'd</b> [1] - 154:9</p> <p><b>OF</b> [1] - 1:3</p> <p><b>offer</b> [1] - 2:15</p> <p><b>office</b> [8] - 24:24, 25:1, 25:6, 27:3, 27:12, 87:24, 88:25, 112:7</p> <p><b>officer</b> [11] - 22:4, 26:5, 28:21, 30:17, 84:21, 85:3, 111:22, 114:25, 124:16, 128:19, 166:25</p> <p><b>officer's</b> [1] - 99:15</p> <p><b>officers</b> [6] - 123:10, 131:7, 136:23, 165:20, 165:21, 165:22</p> <p><b>Official</b> [1] - 174:22</p> <p><b>officially</b> [1] - 127:5</p> <p><b>often</b> [5] - 10:12, 10:13, 126:11, 135:12, 157:6</p> <p><b>OK</b> [1] - 117:8</p> <p><b>old</b> [16] - 6:7, 7:21, 8:23, 47:7, 49:15, 52:2, 79:21, 79:22, 82:23, 97:4, 97:21, 101:11, 125:15,</p>	

**N**

**name** [25] - 2:22, 3:1, 9:18, 26:4, 30:9, 44:9, 46:11, 52:13, 87:10, 95:13, 99:15, 110:19, 119:22, 120:6, 124:5, 124:8, 135:7, 141:14, 146:25, 155:15, 155:17, 156:14, 156:23, 158:2

**named** [4] - 14:14, 19:19, 46:17, 47:2

**names** [4] - 52:14, 136:24, 161:6, 163:18

**narrative** [1] - 138:10

**nation** [1] - 44:15

**Nation** [7] - 5:11, 5:15, 47:9, 78:10, 100:16, 100:19, 102:19

**Nations** [1] - 146:6

**Native** [16] - 23:17, 24:20, 26:5, 26:18,

<p>43:23  <b>otherwise</b> [1] - 158:25  <b>Ottawa</b> [3] - 124:3, 145:21, 146:4  <b>outlet</b> [1] - 146:1  <b>outline</b> [2] - 1:5, 1:23  <b>outside</b> [1] - 109:9  <b>outskirts</b> [1] - 50:2  <b>overall</b> [1] - 36:3  <b>own</b> [28] - 14:5, 33:18, 35:8, 35:9, 36:18, 37:8, 37:25, 45:4, 48:7, 49:12, 51:8, 52:5, 52:17, 53:12, 54:14, 55:15, 56:18, 62:9, 63:12, 66:13, 66:16, 67:18, 68:19, 73:14, 80:8, 80:9, 103:25</p> <p style="text-align: center;"><b>P</b></p> <p><b>P.M</b> [9] - 95:4, 95:5, 108:19, 108:20, 141:8, 141:9, 164:7, 164:8, 174:11  <b>packed</b> [1] - 162:11  <b>page</b> [26] - 17:3, 17:13, 17:23, 19:10, 25:25, 26:3, 28:8, 28:12, 29:5, 31:11, 31:25, 114:19, 114:23, 115:8, 116:2, 116:10, 120:6, 121:11, 132:21, 147:19, 156:1, 156:14, 158:2, 159:17, 161:19  <b>PAGE</b> [2] - 1:5, 2:3  <b>paid</b> [3] - 67:20, 159:21, 160:14  <b>pain</b> [4] - 51:24, 148:6, 148:10, 148:24  <b>panic</b> [1] - 174:2  <b>paper</b> [2] - 161:21, 161:24  <b>paragraph</b> [3] - 18:14, 19:20, 20:7  <b>pardon</b> [4] - 6:14, 71:15, 143:11, 155:2  <b>parent</b> [1] - 41:7  <b>parental</b> [1] - 41:9  <b>parents</b> [14] - 44:21, 45:5, 45:14, 47:20, 48:1, 48:7, 64:20, 73:3, 73:4, 73:5, 82:9, 102:2, 142:23, 145:6</p>	<p><b>Park</b> [2] - 30:12, 58:7  <b>parked</b> [1] - 107:4  <b>Parliament</b> [2] - 146:5  <b>part</b> [33] - 37:7, 38:8, 39:2, 53:9, 56:9, 56:25, 64:21, 66:3, 68:9, 68:11, 68:22, 68:23, 69:2, 69:4, 69:20, 74:12, 76:23, 78:6, 78:19, 78:21, 79:6, 80:24, 80:25, 81:11, 82:23, 84:2, 93:23, 94:5, 133:3, 138:2, 138:9, 138:10  <b>particular</b> [1] - 121:14  <b>party</b> [1] - 19:17  <b>partying</b> [3] - 19:23, 23:2, 74:14  <b>pass</b> [3] - 77:2, 77:10, 77:11  <b>passage</b> [1] - 146:16  <b>passed</b> [10] - 3:11, 15:25, 48:20, 52:1, 60:1, 62:11, 77:10, 77:12, 79:25, 80:4  <b>past</b> [6] - 18:20, 18:24, 18:25, 44:6, 90:16, 94:6  <b>pastor</b> [1] - 44:24  <b>path</b> [2] - 73:20, 73:24  <b>Patrick</b> [1] - 143:1  <b>Paul's</b> [3] - 116:8, 116:12, 117:23  <b>pause</b> [1] - 19:25  <b>pay</b> [3] - 62:18, 67:18, 67:25  <b>paying</b> [1] - 67:19  <b>PD</b> [3] - 97:1, 119:4, 124:17  <b>peers</b> [1] - 70:13  <b>Pemberton</b> [1] - 44:6  <b>pension</b> [1] - 68:8  <b>people</b> [43] - 14:8, 25:3, 31:1, 33:16, 36:20, 36:23, 37:19, 37:23, 37:24, 38:24, 42:10, 43:16, 58:16, 68:16, 69:7, 69:21, 69:23, 70:19, 70:21, 70:23, 71:8, 73:23, 77:7, 78:5, 78:6, 78:17, 78:20, 79:4, 79:6, 80:20, 81:4, 82:6, 135:7, 145:2, 153:11, 159:23, 164:24, 165:9, 165:21, 167:25, 168:9  <b>people's</b> [1] - 49:12  <b>per</b> [1] - 114:1</p>	<p><b>perhaps</b> [19] - 31:19, 35:9, 37:3, 37:4, 37:17, 38:3, 38:5, 38:23, 39:19, 39:21, 39:24, 42:6, 42:8, 70:3, 74:12, 80:23, 159:22, 172:15, 172:23  <b>period</b> [3] - 33:20, 118:6, 135:3  <b>periods</b> [1] - 153:22  <b>perpetrators</b> [1] - 78:4  <b>person</b> [36] - 17:2, 17:3, 17:15, 18:4, 25:10, 25:23, 26:1, 26:16, 28:2, 28:19, 42:15, 77:16, 79:11, 81:22, 89:4, 91:15, 91:18, 96:10, 113:8, 114:1, 114:5, 115:3, 117:3, 120:3, 120:7, 122:2, 130:12, 134:24, 142:1, 148:20, 156:13, 156:23, 156:24, 157:20, 158:15, 159:20  <b>Person</b> [6] - 17:21, 121:7, 121:25, 123:3, 124:6, 155:12  <b>personal</b> [2] - 63:12, 137:19  <b>personally</b> [1] - 112:6  <b>Persons</b> [11] - 14:22, 15:1, 16:10, 16:15, 18:3, 27:25, 31:10, 35:3, 111:25, 119:5, 156:2  <b>persons</b> [5] - 25:21, 83:14, 83:18, 132:9, 135:11  <b>pertains</b> [1] - 43:10  <b>Peter</b> [1] - 8:16  <b>phone</b> [20] - 15:14, 22:22, 36:18, 108:8, 108:9, 109:20, 110:10, 110:12, 110:24, 114:21, 123:23, 124:14, 125:15, 134:24, 134:25, 151:21, 151:22, 152:23, 154:24, 156:20  <b>phoned</b> [9] - 16:24, 106:21, 110:25, 119:4, 123:24, 124:2, 124:13, 124:16  <b>phoning</b> [1] - 16:14  <b>photo</b> [15] - 3:18,</p>	<p>3:21, 3:23, 3:25, 4:12, 96:14, 96:21, 96:24, 97:4, 97:7, 149:21, 149:22, 150:1, 150:2, 150:7  <b>photocopy</b> [1] - 133:5  <b>Photograph</b> [2] - 172:9, 2:7  <b>photograph</b> [6] - 4:16, 96:18, 97:15, 172:6, 2:5, 2:6  <b>photographs</b> [1] - 87:21  <b>photos</b> [3] - 4:5, 137:18, 161:21  <b>picked</b> [2] - 129:19, 134:8  <b>picks</b> [1] - 117:10  <b>Pickton</b> [16] - 4:25, 34:10, 35:24, 42:1, 42:7, 83:14, 99:22, 125:24, 126:6, 127:9, 127:14, 127:15, 132:4, 138:23, 167:3, 170:4  <b>Pickton's</b> [4] - 98:20, 137:25, 142:10, 151:24  <b>Picktons'</b> [5] - 4:22, 34:3, 35:25, 98:13, 98:25  <b>picture</b> [11] - 124:8, 128:11, 128:13, 128:14, 128:16, 128:17, 128:21, 128:23, 131:9, 150:5  <b>pictures</b> [1] - 129:8  <b>piece</b> [1] - 121:19  <b>pierced</b> [2] - 99:9  <b>Pierre</b> [12] - 95:11, 95:14, 109:1, 109:4, 114:10, 120:9, 130:5, 131:14, 131:24, 132:5, 137:23, 140:5  <b>PIERRE</b> [2] - 95:12, 1:12  <b>pierre</b> [4] - 95:17, 96:21, 97:17, 114:3  <b>pig</b> [3] - 42:1, 42:7, 139:15  <b>Pigeon</b> [1] - 30:12  <b>pile</b> [1] - 154:12  <b>pillow</b> [1] - 171:10  <b>pills</b> [2] - 105:17, 154:12  <b>pink</b> [1] - 130:13  <b>PIRS</b> [2] - 117:6, 134:16  <b>place</b> [14] - 4:2, 11:3,</p>	<p>34:16, 52:24, 70:10, 78:8, 78:12, 109:5, 119:12, 145:2, 145:14, 154:1, 157:12, 163:11  <b>placed</b> [1] - 54:6  <b>places</b> [1] - 36:19  <b>plan</b> [2] - 1:16, 68:9  <b>play</b> [1] - 63:20  <b>played</b> [2] - 13:6, 41:6  <b>POI"</b> [1] - 23:4  <b>POI3603</b> [2] - 23:5, 23:10  <b>point</b> [4] - 36:20, 44:1, 96:14, 125:5  <b>pointing</b> [2] - 39:10, 43:16  <b>poisoning</b> [1] - 105:4  <b>pole</b> [1] - 58:7  <b>Police</b> [44] - 14:24, 16:10, 18:3, 23:17, 23:24, 24:3, 24:6, 24:20, 25:20, 26:5, 26:17, 26:18, 27:5, 27:25, 31:10, 33:9, 34:15, 35:11, 38:20, 39:5, 83:9, 83:12, 85:3, 85:5, 85:19, 113:12, 114:4, 120:17, 120:23, 121:7, 121:25, 122:9, 123:5, 124:19, 125:22, 126:9, 126:17, 128:5, 128:15, 131:6, 131:11, 131:23, 138:4, 156:2  <b>police</b> [71] - 5:5, 14:23, 16:14, 21:17, 22:1, 22:4, 23:8, 23:11, 30:17, 31:2, 32:6, 34:17, 36:3, 36:25, 39:19, 40:3, 72:4, 74:4, 74:23, 75:14, 75:23, 76:2, 84:14, 84:20, 84:21, 85:11, 85:17, 86:10, 87:12, 89:21, 89:23, 90:17, 90:20, 92:3, 98:11, 98:24, 99:21, 118:17, 124:4, 125:5, 125:18, 126:8, 128:1, 129:3, 129:12, 131:7, 134:5, 134:15, 135:12, 157:2, 157:5, 157:10, 157:13, 157:18, 158:22, 158:25, 159:4, 161:10,</p>
--	---	--	--	---

<p>162:15, 162:17, 164:13, 164:16, 165:16, 165:20, 165:21, 165:22, 166:11, 166:25</p> <p><b>Police's</b> [1] - 165:2</p> <p><b>policing</b> [2] - 39:14, 71:23</p> <p><b>Pony's</b> [1] - 30:14</p> <p><b>ponytails</b> [2] - 102:12, 102:13</p> <p><b>popsicles</b> [1] - 72:22</p> <p><b>Port</b> [6] - 5:7, 5:17, 44:13, 44:14, 45:7, 45:8</p> <p><b>positive</b> [1] - 156:19</p> <p><b>possible</b> [6] - 16:23, 16:25, 86:12, 92:17, 136:20, 162:18</p> <p><b>possibly</b> [1] - 70:14</p> <p><b>poster</b> [4] - 89:4, 89:7, 91:18, 96:10</p> <p><b>posters</b> [6] - 27:18, 119:14, 157:11, 163:10, 164:25</p> <p><b>pounded</b> [1] - 65:8</p> <p><b>power</b> [1] - 149:8</p> <p><b>powerlessnesses</b> [1] - 41:21</p> <p><b>precisely</b> [1] - 112:1</p> <p><b>pregnancy</b> [1] - 13:2</p> <p><b>pregnant</b> [2] - 12:23, 90:12</p> <p><b>prejudice</b> [1] - 69:23</p> <p><b>preparation</b> [4] - 21:12, 26:13, 119:20, 156:6</p> <p><b>prepared</b> [1] - 149:22</p> <p><b>present</b> [1] - 75:7</p> <p><b>preserve</b> [1] - 162:19</p> <p><b>presumably</b> [1] - 157:13</p> <p><b>pretty</b> [10] - 10:10, 56:23, 58:15, 66:10, 66:14, 68:15, 81:23, 126:13, 145:14, 159:15</p> <p><b>priest</b> [1] - 44:24</p> <p><b>Prince</b> [33] - 100:11, 102:20, 102:22, 103:2, 103:5, 103:7, 103:9, 103:11, 104:4, 104:24, 106:11, 106:12, 106:15, 111:16, 111:18, 112:6, 112:18, 113:6, 113:18, 114:25, 115:20, 116:14, 121:15, 122:1,</p>	<p>122:10, 124:10, 128:6, 129:20, 129:21, 132:23, 134:12, 139:20</p> <p><b>private</b> [1] - 54:1</p> <p><b>privileged</b> [1] - 147:17</p> <p><b>privy</b> [1] - 147:8</p> <p><b>problem</b> [2] - 22:7, 60:1</p> <p><b>problems</b> [1] - 17:18</p> <p><b>PROCEEDINGS</b> [13] - 1:3, 43:3, 43:4, 95:4, 95:5, 108:19, 108:20, 141:8, 141:9, 164:7, 164:8, 174:11, 1:3</p> <p><b>Proceedings</b> [1] - 1:18</p> <p><b>proceedings</b> [2] - 174:15, 1:7</p> <p><b>process</b> [4] - 37:13, 76:14, 76:18, 78:19</p> <p><b>profile</b> [1] - 133:8</p> <p><b>program</b> [2] - 22:8, 67:7</p> <p><b>programs</b> [1] - 68:6</p> <p><b>Project</b> [1] - 98:12</p> <p><b>promised</b> [1] - 149:6</p> <p><b>properly</b> [1] - 37:3</p> <p><b>property</b> [5] - 4:22, 34:3, 35:25, 98:14, 98:25</p> <p><b>proposing</b> [1] - 43:8</p> <p><b>prostitutes</b> [1] - 132:25</p> <p><b>protect</b> [1] - 165:24</p> <p><b>proud</b> [3] - 145:19, 147:25, 166:1</p> <p><b>provide</b> [3] - 129:14, 129:17, 139:8</p> <p><b>provided</b> [5] - 90:5, 91:7, 114:21, 133:23, 137:18</p> <p><b>providing</b> [1] - 114:15</p> <p><b>province</b> [1] - 80:7</p> <p><b>provisions</b> [2] - 49:3, 49:20</p> <p><b>punished</b> [1] - 73:10</p> <p><b>Purcell</b> [29] - 2:18, 2:23, 3:3, 3:11, 3:21, 16:8, 16:13, 17:4, 20:14, 21:2, 21:3, 23:19, 23:22, 33:8, 38:19, 42:5, 43:9, 43:14, 44:10, 46:17, 52:10, 83:11, 84:20, 84:25, 85:7, 85:21, 87:19, 91:12, 93:10</p> <p><b>PURCELL</b> [2] - 2:21, 1:8</p>	<p><b>purcell</b> [1] - 3:7</p> <p><b>Purcell's</b> [3] - 16:5, 42:21, 83:17</p> <p><b>purpose</b> [1] - 94:18</p> <p><b>purposes</b> [1] - 28:11</p> <p><b>put</b> [31] - 15:1, 24:19, 27:18, 32:25, 40:18, 41:21, 52:16, 52:19, 52:20, 53:23, 59:23, 59:24, 60:8, 60:9, 60:11, 60:12, 62:6, 63:5, 69:25, 80:4, 80:11, 81:25, 96:19, 102:12, 103:7, 119:4, 155:12, 157:11, 163:10, 164:25</p> <p><b>putting</b> [1] - 72:23</p>	<p>62:3, 62:4, 69:17, 103:20, 104:9, 124:2</p> <p><b>range</b> [1] - 101:14</p> <p><b>raped</b> [4] - 149:10, 154:14, 166:17, 168:22</p> <p><b>rarely</b> [1] - 69:12</p> <p><b>rather</b> [5] - 36:7, 100:3, 113:19, 172:24, 173:21</p> <p><b>ray</b> [1] - 50:16</p> <p><b>rays</b> [1] - 90:11</p> <p><b>RCMP</b> [31] - 27:20, 90:3, 112:7, 112:25, 113:7, 113:18, 113:23, 114:1, 114:25, 115:6, 115:19, 116:15, 116:21, 117:17, 121:6, 128:6, 129:2, 131:11, 132:23, 134:20, 137:14, 137:16, 138:14, 138:18, 151:21, 165:25, 166:21, 166:23, 166:24, 167:1, 169:1</p> <p><b>RCMP-017-000066</b> [1] - 155:24</p> <p><b>RCMP-017-003894</b> [1] - 17:25</p> <p><b>RCMP-017-003896</b> [1] - 16:9</p> <p><b>RCMP-017-003897</b> [1] - 25:19</p> <p><b>RCMP-017-003943</b> [1] - 21:24</p> <p><b>RCMP-017-005782</b> [1] - 121:6</p> <p><b>RCMP-017-05804</b> [1] - 115:7</p> <p><b>RCMP-17-003879</b> [1] - 32:1</p> <p><b>reach</b> [1] - 87:15</p> <p><b>read</b> [10] - 18:14, 18:18, 19:11, 21:14, 38:12, 49:9, 133:14, 146:16, 147:16, 158:3</p> <p><b>read]</b> [1] - 19:15</p> <p><b>reading</b> [3] - 17:6, 27:23, 149:3</p> <p><b>reads</b> [3] - 28:14, 29:7, 121:14</p> <p><b>real</b> [4] - 36:24, 93:22, 102:14, 167:11</p> <p><b>reality</b> [1] - 68:9</p> <p><b>realize</b> [4] - 36:22, 41:8, 71:12, 154:6</p> <p><b>realizes</b> [1] - 38:10</p>	<p><b>really</b> [59] - 15:8, 36:7, 38:1, 38:7, 39:25, 40:11, 46:4, 52:22, 66:11, 69:16, 97:6, 102:9, 102:10, 102:15, 103:16, 104:14, 125:19, 127:22, 130:3, 130:20, 139:18, 143:17, 144:2, 150:21, 151:2, 151:6, 151:25, 152:9, 154:3, 154:14, 155:13, 160:11, 161:14, 162:10, 163:17, 165:4, 165:13, 165:16, 165:18, 165:19, 166:1, 166:7, 166:14, 166:22, 169:10, 169:23, 170:15, 170:20, 170:21, 170:24, 171:7, 171:12</p> <p><b>Realtime</b> [1] - 174:23</p> <p><b>reason</b> [12] - 31:21, 32:20, 33:13, 72:12, 81:18, 82:2, 97:2, 122:24, 130:24, 138:8, 149:9, 151:20</p> <p><b>receive</b> [1] - 135:23</p> <p><b>received</b> [8] - 7:3, 19:13, 23:23, 27:12, 87:9, 116:5, 116:15, 121:16</p> <p><b>receives</b> [1] - 31:10</p> <p><b>receiving</b> [1] - 24:13</p> <p><b>recently</b> [2] - 21:10, 149:23</p> <p><b>reception</b> [1] - 7:17</p> <p><b>recess</b> [4] - 43:2, 108:18, 141:7, 164:6</p> <p><b>recipient</b> [1] - 114:16</p> <p><b>recollect</b> [2] - 99:17, 99:18</p> <p><b>recollection</b> [12] - 18:7, 19:1, 20:4, 20:22, 25:14, 28:20, 29:13, 31:21, 34:12, 116:24, 155:1, 156:25</p> <p><b>reconnected</b> [1] - 8:22</p> <p><b>RECONVENED</b> [1] - 1:3</p> <p><b>record</b> [27] - 2:9, 15:24, 16:9, 17:25, 18:4, 18:18, 19:11, 21:14, 21:24, 25:9, 25:19, 31:4, 32:20,</p>
<b>Q</b>				
<p><b>quarters</b> [1] - 54:2</p> <p><b>Quebec</b> [1] - 166:24</p> <p><b>query</b> [1] - 88:20</p> <p><b>questions</b> [22] - 5:3, 30:24, 42:18, 42:19, 42:23, 64:13, 77:21, 81:14, 83:4, 83:6, 100:4, 112:15, 131:16, 131:18, 137:25, 140:4, 161:16, 169:13, 172:2, 172:14, 173:7, 173:9</p> <p><b>quiet</b> [1] - 64:3</p> <p><b>quit</b> [1] - 131:4</p> <p><b>quite</b> [34] - 4:2, 6:15, 8:8, 9:10, 9:19, 11:16, 13:3, 20:10, 20:19, 21:4, 51:23, 56:3, 57:16, 58:1, 59:3, 61:22, 63:2, 70:19, 70:21, 79:21, 81:3, 84:8, 86:12, 115:10, 126:10, 133:18, 146:22, 150:25, 152:1, 153:5, 157:6, 163:15</p> <p><b>quote</b> [1] - 156:16</p>	<p style="text-align: center;"><b>R</b></p>	<p><b>race</b> [1] - 70:6</p> <p><b>Radek</b> [1] - 108:24</p> <p><b>raise</b> [1] - 52:4</p> <p><b>raised</b> [4] - 8:25, 100:12, 102:2</p> <p><b>raising</b> [1] - 103:25</p> <p><b>ran</b> [8] - 57:15, 58:20,</p>	<p>14</p>	

<p>33:2, 34:7, 34:15, 95:8, 108:22, 113:15, 115:14, 115:25, 141:11, 146:16, 154:24, 155:23, 157:24, 158:21</p> <p><b>records</b> [15] - 87:12, 87:17, 87:24, 89:9, 89:11, 89:21, 90:24, 90:25, 93:1, 116:5, 134:8, 134:17, 136:13, 136:14, 136:16</p> <p><b>red</b> [1] - 44:3</p> <p><b>refer</b> [7] - 14:15, 16:1, 16:4, 41:3, 121:13, 155:18, 161:6</p> <p><b>reference</b> [2] - 43:8, 81:11</p> <p><b>referred</b> [3] - 18:12, 22:3, 146:17</p> <p><b>reflect</b> [2] - 20:5, 42:6</p> <p><b>reflects</b> [1] - 115:25</p> <p><b>reform</b> [2] - 62:7, 62:8</p> <p><b>regards</b> [4] - 99:3, 119:3, 119:14, 123:24</p> <p><b>Registrar</b> [1] - 16:7</p> <p><b>REGISTRAR</b> [23] - 1:4, 2:19, 2:22, 2:24, 3:4, 4:15, 43:2, 43:5, 95:3, 95:6, 95:13, 95:15, 97:14, 108:18, 108:21, 141:7, 141:10, 141:14, 141:16, 164:6, 164:9, 172:6, 174:9</p> <p><b>registrar</b> [2] - 96:18, 172:13</p> <p><b>regrets</b> [3] - 83:13, 132:4</p> <p><b>regularly</b> [3] - 13:4, 22:20, 152:22</p> <p><b>rehab</b> [1] - 22:8</p> <p><b>rehabilitation</b> [1] - 12:25</p> <p><b>related</b> [6] - 69:7, 69:19, 69:21, 77:15, 77:16, 114:2</p> <p><b>relates</b> [2] - 76:13, 82:15</p> <p><b>relation</b> [4] - 28:3, 33:10, 113:24, 115:3</p> <p><b>relationship</b> [5] - 10:9, 91:8, 102:7, 146:19, 151:5</p> <p><b>relationships</b> [2] - 77:23, 77:25</p>	<p><b>relative</b> [1] - 63:14</p> <p><b>relay</b> [3] - 86:12, 86:14, 117:10</p> <p><b>remains</b> [6] - 98:17, 99:6, 126:4, 127:21, 129:23, 131:5</p> <p><b>Remarks</b> [2] - 17:13, 156:15</p> <p><b>remember</b> [28] - 27:4, 42:10, 48:16, 51:23, 63:3, 84:6, 88:6, 99:14, 99:17, 113:2, 123:10, 124:24, 124:25, 135:9, 136:4, 137:1, 137:10, 144:2, 150:14, 150:21, 151:18, 155:14, 155:17, 157:6, 159:7, 163:14, 163:17, 163:22</p> <p><b>remembers</b> [1] - 38:11</p> <p><b>remind</b> [1] - 79:20</p> <p><b>reminded</b> [1] - 37:24</p> <p><b>removed</b> [2] - 116:11, 156:22</p> <p><b>renovating</b> [1] - 59:10</p> <p><b>rent</b> [2] - 152:13, 160:14</p> <p><b>reopen</b> [1] - 117:19</p> <p><b>reopened</b> [1] - 117:21</p> <p><b>repeat</b> [3] - 3:1, 28:23, 34:23</p> <p><b>repeated</b> [1] - 94:9</p> <p><b>Report</b> [2] - 16:11, 156:3</p> <p><b>report</b> [36] - 14:23, 14:25, 18:5, 19:22, 21:17, 22:1, 25:11, 25:21, 26:16, 27:11, 28:2, 28:5, 35:17, 36:4, 83:18, 111:21, 111:23, 111:24, 113:6, 113:8, 114:1, 114:5, 115:7, 116:17, 116:21, 117:2, 117:17, 122:12, 125:12, 132:9, 135:20, 156:13, 157:20, 158:15, 159:5, 164:14</p> <p><b>reported</b> [7] - 17:2, 25:23, 26:3, 29:19, 39:23, 90:1, 112:9</p> <p><b>reportee</b> [4] - 18:12, 19:13, 19:21, 19:24</p> <p><b>Reporter</b> [2] - 174:22, 174:23</p> <p><b>reporting</b> [7] - 16:15,</p>	<p>17:4, 26:1, 26:2, 26:8, 156:24, 156:25</p> <p><b>Reporting</b> [1] - 174:24</p> <p><b>reports</b> [3] - 19:12, 34:24, 158:13</p> <p><b>represent</b> [1] - 138:4</p> <p><b>representation</b> [1] - 75:13</p> <p><b>representative</b> [1] - 43:11</p> <p><b>request</b> [2] - 122:1, 172:23</p> <p><b>requested</b> [2] - 132:12, 134:19</p> <p><b>requesting</b> [1] - 122:9</p> <p><b>required</b> [2] - 1:9, 117:13</p> <p><b>reserve</b> [3] - 49:21, 69:8, 104:24</p> <p><b>residence</b> [5] - 34:16, 34:17, 157:19, 159:5, 164:17</p> <p><b>residential</b> [6] - 64:17, 64:21, 65:2, 70:24, 73:25, 78:18</p> <p><b>residing</b> [1] - 57:21</p> <p><b>resolve</b> [1] - 12:22</p> <p><b>Resources</b> [2] - 90:25, 134:17</p> <p><b>respect</b> [7] - 76:1, 108:12, 108:13, 133:6, 137:24, 163:1, 172:17</p> <p><b>respond</b> [1] - 24:10</p> <p><b>responded</b> [1] - 38:21</p> <p><b>response</b> [11] - 20:5, 23:22, 24:5, 24:9, 24:15, 36:3, 84:17, 112:25, 128:6, 157:19, 164:14</p> <p><b>responsibility</b> [2] - 28:18, 67:22</p> <p><b>responsible</b> [1] - 37:21</p> <p><b>rest</b> [8] - 28:8, 57:3, 64:9, 148:2, 151:12, 161:25, 168:3, 168:14</p> <p><b>restaurant</b> [1] - 154:2</p> <p><b>restorative</b> [3] - 76:11, 76:12, 76:19</p> <p><b>restoring</b> [1] - 76:7</p> <p><b>result</b> [3] - 65:25, 79:15, 156:18</p> <p><b>resume</b> [1] - 174:10</p> <p><b>RESUMED</b> [5] - 43:4, 95:5, 108:20, 141:9, 164:8</p> <p><b>resumed</b> [6] - 1:4, 43:5, 95:6, 108:21,</p>	<p>141:10, 164:9</p> <p><b>retired</b> [1] - 101:3</p> <p><b>return</b> [1] - 91:23</p> <p><b>review</b> [3] - 121:18, 134:3, 135:10</p> <p><b>ride</b> [1] - 103:11</p> <p><b>Ridge</b> [5] - 150:18, 151:21, 152:3, 152:8, 152:12</p> <p><b>right-hand</b> [1] - 142:2</p> <p><b>ring</b> [1] - 92:1</p> <p><b>river</b> [1] - 44:8</p> <p><b>RMS</b> [1] - 134:16</p> <p><b>road</b> [1] - 82:4</p> <p><b>Robert</b> [7] - 4:25, 34:10, 98:20, 99:22, 142:9, 151:24, 170:3</p> <p><b>role</b> [1] - 41:6</p> <p><b>Romano</b> [1] - 1:19</p> <p><b>Ron</b> [2] - 46:16, 46:17</p> <p><b>room</b> [16] - 53:12, 53:14, 54:4, 140:17, 154:10, 154:18, 155:9, 159:21, 159:23, 160:3, 161:22, 162:6, 162:15, 162:18, 169:3, 169:4</p> <p><b>Rooms</b> [3] - 158:16, 158:22, 159:18</p> <p><b>roughly</b> [1] - 25:7</p> <p><b>row</b> [1] - 142:2</p> <p><b>Roxana</b> [1] - 1:13</p> <p><b>RPR</b> [1] - 174:21</p> <p><b>rug</b> [1] - 42:10</p> <p><b>run</b> [3] - 18:20, 18:24, 144:20</p> <p><b>running</b> [1] - 70:22</p> <p><b>Rupert</b> [2] - 129:21, 142:25</p> <p><b>Rusty</b> [4] - 119:23, 119:24, 122:5, 122:6</p>	<p>23:6, 24:6, 24:10, 28:9, 35:3, 40:10, 83:20, 84:5, 147:24, 148:7, 148:10</p> <p><b>satisfactory</b> [1] - 87:5</p> <p><b>satisfied</b> [1] - 128:3</p> <p><b>save</b> [1] - 38:2</p> <p><b>saved</b> [1] - 37:5</p> <p><b>savings</b> [1] - 60:3</p> <p><b>saw</b> [6] - 10:10, 25:21, 40:22, 55:4, 55:5, 69:12</p> <p><b>sawmill</b> [1] - 100:24</p> <p><b>schedule</b> [2] - 94:21, 94:25</p> <p><b>scheduled</b> [2] - 1:17, 1:19</p> <p><b>school</b> [31] - 6:11, 6:18, 6:23, 9:17, 9:18, 54:16, 55:3, 55:7, 58:16, 59:15, 61:13, 62:7, 62:9, 63:6, 63:7, 63:9, 63:16, 64:17, 64:21, 65:2, 69:18, 70:3, 70:9, 70:24, 73:25, 78:18, 80:16, 107:2, 143:23, 143:24, 145:7</p> <p><b>School</b> [1] - 54:17</p> <p><b>scraping</b> [1] - 51:1</p> <p><b>scream</b> [1] - 169:5</p> <p><b>screaming</b> [1] - 130:17</p> <p><b>scrub</b> [1] - 50:22</p> <p><b>scrubbing</b> [1] - 50:24</p> <p><b>se</b> [1] - 114:1</p> <p><b>search</b> [14] - 14:5, 31:13, 35:8, 35:9, 36:5, 37:21, 39:16, 42:14, 106:24, 119:3, 120:14, 131:11, 158:11, 164:21</p> <p><b>searched</b> [2] - 16:22, 109:8</p> <p><b>searching</b> [3] - 14:20, 120:18, 127:17</p> <p><b>Seattle</b> [1] - 91:23</p> <p><b>second</b> [10] - 21:19, 28:3, 48:8, 65:14, 109:18, 116:2, 116:9, 132:21, 171:14, 171:18</p> <p><b>secretary</b> [1] - 7:17</p> <p><b>secure</b> [1] - 41:12</p> <p><b>Secwepemc</b> [1] - 43:17</p> <p><b>see</b> [49] - 10:11, 12:13, 13:18, 17:1, 17:14,</p>
<b>S</b>				
			<p><b>SA</b> [1] - 67:6</p> <p><b>sad</b> [3] - 165:16, 165:18, 170:21</p> <p><b>sadly</b> [1] - 148:5</p> <p><b>safe</b> [1] - 61:17</p> <p><b>Sandra</b> [6] - 141:12, 141:15, 145:16, 148:18, 167:12, 170:25</p> <p><b>SANDRA</b> [2] - 141:13, 1:15</p> <p><b>Sands</b> [1] - 170:16</p> <p><b>Sandy</b> [15] - 18:1, 18:22, 22:3, 23:2,</p>	

<p>18:15, 25:25, 26:4, 31:20, 34:14, 39:24, 41:20, 62:25, 74:7, 78:23, 82:21, 85:21, 88:14, 92:14, 92:19, 96:15, 97:8, 103:22, 104:23, 104:25, 111:19, 115:8, 115:10, 118:9, 119:13, 128:23, 134:8, 135:10, 135:15, 136:18, 137:2, 139:24, 140:1, 150:7, 156:13, 157:7, 167:8, 167:9, 168:5, 170:6, 170:13, 171:2</p> <p><b>seedier</b> [1] - 82:6</p> <p><b>seeing</b> [2] - 33:16, 166:4</p> <p><b>seem</b> [2] - 81:24, 147:22</p> <p><b>sees</b> [1] - 83:2</p> <p><b>seized</b> [1] - 161:21</p> <p><b>Sekani</b> [1] - 100:17</p> <p><b>self</b> [4] - 41:17, 41:18, 41:19, 71:6</p> <p><b>self-love</b> [1] - 41:17</p> <p><b>self-medicated</b> [1] - 41:19</p> <p><b>self-medication</b> [1] - 41:18</p> <p><b>send</b> [5] - 111:24, 113:18, 115:20, 122:15, 128:9</p> <p><b>sending</b> [2] - 113:7, 119:24</p> <p><b>sense</b> [1] - 36:2</p> <p><b>sent</b> [9] - 24:2, 84:14, 120:20, 122:1, 122:8, 132:10, 133:5, 136:19, 139:13</p> <p><b>separate</b> [1] - 52:20</p> <p><b>September</b> [14] - 91:1, 91:10, 92:15, 106:9, 106:14, 106:17, 114:11, 115:11, 122:10, 132:13, 133:12, 133:21, 134:11</p> <p><b>Sergeant</b> [2] - 84:21, 85:8</p> <p><b>series</b> [1] - 115:6</p> <p><b>serious</b> [2] - 59:4, 160:20</p> <p><b>seriously</b> [1] - 165:8</p> <p><b>serve</b> [1] - 165:23</p> <p><b>service</b> [2] - 39:6, 39:13</p>	<p><b>Service</b> [1] - 174:24</p> <p><b>Services</b> [4] - 22:12, 58:24, 66:17, 117:9</p> <p><b>set</b> [3] - 23:11, 27:19, 160:1</p> <p><b>sets</b> [1] - 44:2</p> <p><b>settle</b> [1] - 129:24</p> <p><b>settling</b> [1] - 130:1</p> <p><b>seven</b> [1] - 51:16</p> <p><b>seven-bedroom</b> [1] - 51:16</p> <p><b>several</b> [2] - 18:10, 116:17</p> <p><b>severely</b> [1] - 71:21</p> <p><b>sex</b> [5] - 12:17, 90:2, 91:2, 92:13, 156:18</p> <p><b>sexually</b> [4] - 53:4, 63:14, 63:18, 73:15</p> <p><b>shaking</b> [1] - 142:5</p> <p><b>shall</b> [1] - 75:24</p> <p><b>share</b> [3] - 63:17, 89:23, 173:7</p> <p><b>shared</b> [2] - 9:9, 11:13</p> <p><b>sharing</b> [4] - 70:9, 81:12, 93:11, 171:23</p> <p><b>sheet</b> [2] - 89:3, 119:23</p> <p><b>Shenher</b> [23] - 92:18, 123:9, 123:11, 124:23, 132:22, 133:11, 133:17, 134:4, 134:22, 135:14, 135:17, 136:7, 136:15, 137:3, 146:20, 146:22, 147:2, 147:6, 147:19, 163:20, 163:21, 163:23, 169:24</p> <p><b>Shenher's</b> [1] - 146:17</p> <p><b>Sheri</b> [1] - 104:7</p> <p><b>shipped</b> [2] - 80:1, 80:2</p> <p><b>shirts</b> [1] - 72:23</p> <p><b>shop</b> [1] - 111:21</p> <p><b>shoplifting</b> [1] - 128:22</p> <p><b>short</b> [1] - 147:16</p> <p><b>shortly</b> [2] - 8:20, 13:8</p> <p><b>show</b> [12] - 4:10, 13:16, 13:22, 16:20, 43:14, 44:4, 44:14, 86:25, 91:5, 114:9, 146:25</p> <p><b>Show</b> [1] - 147:1</p> <p><b>showed</b> [2] - 92:25, 128:23</p> <p><b>shows</b> [4] - 18:9, 87:12, 158:21, 167:10</p>	<p><b>shroud</b> [1] - 41:19</p> <p><b>shut</b> [2] - 22:14, 22:17</p> <p><b>siblings</b> [7] - 5:25, 55:9, 95:23, 102:5, 143:4, 143:9, 143:12</p> <p><b>sic</b> [1] - 41:21</p> <p><b>sic</b> [1] - 125:20</p> <p><b>sick</b> [3] - 51:23, 151:25, 170:16</p> <p><b>side</b> [4] - 69:11, 81:25, 82:6, 142:3</p> <p><b>signed</b> [1] - 23:18</p> <p><b>significant</b> [1] - 164:19</p> <p><b>similar</b> [2] - 70:25, 133:8</p> <p><b>sin</b> [1] - 65:7</p> <p><b>single</b> [2] - 41:6, 151:18</p> <p><b>sister</b> [107] - 3:10, 8:5, 8:16, 8:22, 9:8, 13:24, 14:4, 14:21, 20:3, 20:10, 21:3, 23:23, 24:10, 24:18, 26:2, 26:7, 26:14, 26:15, 27:3, 27:9, 29:2, 31:14, 32:12, 32:15, 34:6, 35:11, 36:10, 36:17, 40:20, 46:10, 46:21, 47:6, 52:18, 53:11, 53:12, 54:9, 55:19, 55:25, 57:13, 57:15, 57:22, 60:21, 62:10, 62:25, 63:1, 63:17, 72:17, 73:2, 73:3, 73:7, 80:4, 80:5, 80:15, 84:1, 84:4, 84:8, 84:11, 86:12, 88:5, 95:17, 99:4, 102:10, 114:14, 119:14, 120:9, 123:25, 124:12, 125:6, 130:10, 131:12, 133:23, 134:20, 138:24, 141:20, 143:13, 144:10, 144:11, 147:3, 147:24, 148:18, 149:6, 149:10, 152:7, 154:4, 154:9, 156:12, 158:11, 158:19, 159:22, 160:25, 161:14, 163:4, 163:7, 164:22, 165:1, 165:5, 165:7, 166:3, 166:6, 166:17, 168:21, 168:24, 169:6, 169:18, 170:8</p>	<p><b>sister's</b> [12] - 20:5, 26:8, 128:7, 130:23, 145:17, 146:20, 157:1, 157:14, 162:6, 163:1, 164:14, 167:22</p> <p><b>sisters</b> [11] - 8:2, 9:8, 54:24, 55:12, 56:21, 57:25, 59:7, 60:8, 60:9, 64:19, 64:20</p> <p><b>sit</b> [1] - 172:21</p> <p><b>sitter</b> [1] - 60:5</p> <p><b>sitting</b> [1] - 159:11</p> <p><b>situation</b> [1] - 134:1</p> <p><b>situations</b> [1] - 39:23</p> <p><b>six</b> [8] - 2:3, 16:23, 50:4, 60:6, 65:15, 100:8, 101:23, 146:14</p> <p><b>Skatin</b> [7] - 5:11, 5:13, 5:14, 43:21, 43:22, 45:11, 49:23</p> <p><b>skill</b> [1] - 174:16</p> <p><b>skin</b> [2] - 50:24, 51:1</p> <p><b>Skookumchuk</b> [4] - 5:12, 45:12, 49:23, 50:9</p> <p><b>Skookumchuk</b> [1] - 43:23</p> <p><b>sleep</b> [1] - 130:20</p> <p><b>slept</b> [2] - 54:5, 171:10</p> <p><b>slide</b> [1] - 2:25</p> <p><b>slowly</b> [1] - 51:24</p> <p><b>Smith</b> [2] - 1:13, 1:17</p> <p><b>so-called</b> [1] - 152:12</p> <p><b>sober</b> [1] - 168:10</p> <p><b>Social</b> [4] - 22:12, 58:24, 66:17, 117:9</p> <p><b>social</b> [1] - 39:8</p> <p><b>Society</b> [7] - 24:20, 35:12, 39:6, 119:10, 120:1, 125:22, 126:9</p> <p><b>society</b> [4] - 38:8, 41:22, 42:2, 78:4</p> <p><b>soft</b> [1] - 148:12</p> <p><b>soft-spoken</b> [1] - 148:12</p> <p><b>solider</b> [1] - 78:11</p> <p><b>solved</b> [1] - 142:7</p> <p><b>someone</b> [13] - 1:14, 23:16, 28:8, 41:16, 49:5, 124:23, 135:5, 139:8, 140:1, 155:12, 155:15, 171:22</p> <p><b>sometime</b> [2] - 66:7, 111:12</p> <p><b>sometimes</b> [2] - 66:14, 129:9</p> <p><b>somewhere</b> [8] - 12:9,</p>	<p>49:10, 58:6, 62:9, 78:8, 104:5, 124:21, 127:22</p> <p><b>son</b> [13] - 4:8, 11:6, 11:7, 15:12, 15:19, 53:4, 79:13, 170:1, 170:2, 170:11, 171:2</p> <p><b>sons</b> [2] - 59:18, 101:23</p> <p><b>soon</b> [1] - 88:16</p> <p><b>sooner</b> [4] - 37:4, 83:15, 89:17, 132:4</p> <p><b>sorry</b> [26] - 9:23, 11:16, 17:6, 25:8, 26:24, 28:23, 29:1, 30:16, 35:24, 47:5, 47:13, 57:23, 60:24, 66:13, 75:3, 90:10, 94:24, 96:1, 96:15, 98:2, 116:7, 116:9, 138:7, 139:3, 139:4, 161:7</p> <p><b>sort</b> [4] - 46:2, 48:17, 134:25, 148:24</p> <p><b>sound</b> [2] - 16:13, 155:3</p> <p><b>sounded</b> [1] - 170:20</p> <p><b>sounding</b> [1] - 170:24</p> <p><b>sounds</b> [2] - 25:15, 34:9</p> <p><b>speaking</b> [13] - 11:25, 16:15, 22:16, 48:7, 55:15, 79:12, 83:24, 114:24, 135:1, 155:15, 157:10, 163:3</p> <p><b>specific</b> [1] - 30:4</p> <p><b>spent</b> [5] - 6:4, 29:25, 38:6, 40:12, 152:13</p> <p><b>spill</b> [1] - 171:5</p> <p><b>spirit</b> [1] - 147:23</p> <p><b>split</b> [2] - 14:11, 52:21</p> <p><b>spoken</b> [4] - 13:14, 118:15, 148:12, 167:25</p> <p><b>spring</b> [1] - 92:9</p> <p><b>Springs</b> [1] - 44:19</p> <p><b>squint</b> [1] - 26:4</p> <p><b>St</b> [13] - 100:10, 102:3, 102:21, 103:6, 103:8, 103:11, 106:10, 111:4, 116:7, 116:12, 117:23, 129:21</p> <p><b>stable</b> [1] - 145:14</p> <p><b>staff</b> [1] - 156:21</p> <p><b>stages</b> [1] - 41:15</p> <p><b>stairs</b> [1] - 53:14</p> <p><b>stale</b> [1] - 38:16</p> <p><b>Stan</b> [2] - 143:7, 144:6</p>
---	---	---	---	---



<p><b>standards</b> [1] - 81:23  <b>standing</b> [1] - 50:24  <b>Stanley</b> [1] - 58:7  <b>star</b> [1] - 22:25  <b>start</b> [6] - 42:23,  63:20, 70:1, 71:11,  77:2, 110:22  <b>started</b> [9] - 59:12,  67:10, 73:19, 73:20,  74:10, 102:18,  108:10, 123:9,  130:18  <b>starts</b> [2] - 18:17, 71:1  <b>state</b> [4] - 2:22, 95:13,  117:4, 141:14  <b>statement</b> [1] - 75:1  <b>States</b> [1] - 90:19  <b>station</b> [4] - 21:17,  22:1, 129:3, 137:3  <b>status</b> [8] - 49:4,  65:25, 66:1, 66:4,  66:5, 66:6, 67:9,  69:10  <b>stay</b> [5] - 53:19, 55:25,  59:4, 103:22, 110:12  <b>stayed</b> [6] - 5:1, 54:20,  54:21, 59:13, 62:20,  100:8  <b>stays</b> [1] - 77:13  <b>stealing</b> [1] - 72:22  <b>steered</b> [1] - 23:16  <b>Steinbach</b> [11] -  158:4, 158:5, 158:6,  158:8, 158:13,  159:17, 161:19,  163:13, 163:15,  164:20  <b>stepbrothers</b> [1] -  59:18  <b>stepdad</b> [3] - 166:22,  166:23  <b>stepfather</b> [12] - 6:8,  48:23, 48:25, 50:19,  51:6, 55:1, 58:21,  59:8, 59:14, 59:25,  61:7, 62:14  <b>steps</b> [9] - 33:22, 40:3,  86:10, 86:20, 86:25,  87:4, 113:21,  115:10, 124:11  <b>still</b> [28] - 9:16, 10:4,  10:10, 10:15, 11:3,  13:17, 14:10, 41:14,  50:16, 52:3, 55:15,  57:1, 57:16, 62:15,  64:6, 88:1, 90:23,  92:25, 101:1, 103:5,  117:24, 129:13,  129:18, 130:23,  143:9, 143:12,</p>	<p>152:1, 167:1  <b>stop</b> [7] - 12:1, 18:22,  21:19, 23:12, 23:21,  127:16, 131:4  <b>stopped</b> [3] - 64:5,  153:1, 157:10  <b>store</b> [2] - 72:18,  72:20  <b>storey</b> [1] - 54:1  <b>story</b> [6] - 71:1, 81:12,  93:11, 116:14,  131:15, 171:25  <b>strange</b> [3] - 68:1,  71:3, 147:22  <b>Street</b> [1] - 23:19  <b>street</b> [5] - 12:3, 12:6,  12:11, 105:21,  109:11  <b>streets</b> [2] - 153:7,  153:12  <b>strength</b> [1] - 148:22  <b>stroll</b> [1] - 12:14  <b>strong</b> [3] - 65:21,  168:4, 170:6  <b>stronger</b> [1] - 77:8  <b>struggling</b> [2] - 63:11,  64:6  <b>stuck</b> [1] - 69:5  <b>stuff</b> [9] - 41:2, 56:14,  72:24, 126:4,  126:13, 167:3,  167:10, 171:22  <b>stupid</b> [1] - 70:1  <b>submitted</b> [2] - 114:6,  115:4  <b>substance</b> [5] - 11:17,  12:22, 71:4, 105:14,  153:4  <b>sudden</b> [1] - 169:5  <b>suffer</b> [1] - 167:7  <b>suffering</b> [1] - 153:4  <b>suggest</b> [4] - 17:14,  33:13, 114:16,  158:24  <b>suggested</b> [1] - 116:6  <b>suggesting</b> [3] -  18:23, 31:9, 32:5  <b>suggestion</b> [1] - 34:14  <b>suggestions</b> [1] -  38:19  <b>suggests</b> [9] - 25:9,  28:17, 31:4, 32:21,  34:7, 113:15,  119:22, 154:24,  157:24  <b>suicidal</b> [1] - 156:17  <b>suicide</b> [3] - 57:20,  58:6, 58:14  <b>suitcase</b> [2] - 161:22,  162:11</p>	<p><b>suite</b> [3] - 11:11,  11:12, 11:14  <b>summarize</b> [1] - 116:4  <b>summary</b> [1] - 36:2  <b>summer</b> [2] - 92:10,  136:12  <b>supplies</b> [1] - 162:2  <b>support</b> [3] - 77:5,  109:1, 163:23  <b>supporting</b> [1] - 12:2  <b>suppose</b> [2] - 18:24,  26:10  <b>supposed</b> [6] - 13:10,  13:12, 31:15,  165:23, 166:12  <b>supposedly</b> [1] -  127:16  <b>surprised</b> [1] - 162:10  <b>surprising</b> [1] -  164:17  <b>Surrey</b> [11] - 6:21,  37:10, 106:10,  106:12, 106:14,  106:17, 109:23,  110:7, 125:7,  128:22, 134:20  <b>surrounded</b> [1] -  80:19  <b>surrounding</b> [1] -  142:6  <b>survivor</b> [1] - 171:20  <b>suspect</b> [2] - 27:22,  27:24  <b>suspected</b> [1] - 19:24  <b>sweep</b> [1] - 42:9  <b>swore</b> [1] - 22:14  <b>sympathies</b> [1] -  132:2  <b>sympathizes</b> [2] -  93:21, 140:17  <b>sympathy</b> [1] - 93:12  <b>system</b> [14] - 52:15,  68:12, 68:24, 70:24,  75:12, 82:19, 89:22,  89:24, 90:18, 92:16,  116:11, 125:19,  134:5  <b>systems</b> [1] - 72:3</p>	<p>119:15, 121:5,  132:20, 132:21,  155:23, 157:25  <b>tabs</b> [2] - 16:4, 155:22  <b>Tachie</b> [2] - 102:20,  103:24  <b>Takla</b> [3] - 100:14,  100:15, 100:18  <b>Tanya</b> [53] - 3:7, 3:13,  3:18, 3:23, 4:16,  4:19, 7:25, 8:6, 8:22,  8:23, 8:25, 10:17,  10:18, 12:21, 13:16,  15:5, 17:2, 18:24,  19:5, 19:19, 21:17,  22:1, 22:4, 22:7,  22:10, 22:19, 23:5,  23:6, 23:13, 25:5,  25:24, 31:1, 31:13,  33:17, 33:23, 34:24,  36:10, 36:22, 37:7,  39:18, 46:24, 72:5,  76:13, 87:14, 87:18,  87:21, 88:24, 89:5,  89:19, 90:17, 92:17,  93:14, 2:5  <b>Tanya's</b> [24] - 3:10,  4:25, 5:3, 5:20, 8:10,  9:4, 9:14, 9:24,  16:16, 17:20, 27:11,  28:4, 28:19, 29:14,  31:24, 32:7, 33:10,  34:2, 34:15, 35:25,  36:4, 79:13, 88:23,  91:7  <b>target</b> [2] - 63:24, 64:3  <b>task</b> [3] - 138:13,  167:16, 167:19  <b>tasked</b> [1] - 84:22  <b>taught</b> [5] - 42:1,  56:16, 72:21, 73:3,  73:8  <b>TB</b> [2] - 50:11, 100:9  <b>teach</b> [1] - 73:6  <b>teaching</b> [1] - 145:12  <b>team</b> [1] - 13:6  <b>tech</b> [1] - 125:19  <b>teen</b> [1] - 77:3  <b>teenaged</b> [1] - 9:11  <b>teenager</b> [2] - 18:21,  154:4  <b>teenagers</b> [1] - 62:13  <b>teens</b> [1] - 9:15  <b>telephone</b> [1] - 19:15  <b>telephones</b> [1] -  145:13  <b>Telus</b> [1] - 125:14  <b>tended</b> [1] - 61:12  <b>term</b> [1] - 76:10  <b>terms</b> [2] - 43:8, 81:11</p>	<p><b>terrible</b> [1] - 94:6  <b>territory</b> [1] - 43:15  <b>tested</b> [1] - 50:15  <b>testify</b> [3] - 2:10, 2:13,  37:11  <b>testifying</b> [2] - 83:16,  83:22  <b>testimony</b> [3] - 2:8,  16:5, 86:16  <b>thankful</b> [2] - 93:24,  169:23  <b>THE</b> [114] - 1:4, 1:10,  1:24, 2:1, 2:16, 2:19,  2:20, 2:22, 2:23,  2:24, 3:3, 3:4, 4:14,  4:15, 11:19, 11:20,  16:3, 20:13, 20:16,  20:19, 20:23, 33:3,  33:6, 41:5, 41:6,  42:17, 42:19, 42:25,  43:2, 43:5, 43:12,  83:6, 93:8, 93:9,  94:3, 94:4, 94:13,  94:14, 94:16, 94:17,  94:18, 94:19, 94:24,  95:2, 95:3, 95:6,  95:7, 95:13, 95:14,  95:15, 97:9, 97:13,  97:14, 101:21,  101:23, 108:15,  108:18, 108:21,  108:25, 109:2,  114:7, 131:16,  131:18, 131:20,  140:5, 140:8, 140:9,  140:13, 140:14,  140:20, 140:21,  140:22, 140:24,  141:1, 141:2, 141:6,  141:7, 141:10,  141:14, 141:15,  141:16, 150:9,  150:10, 164:3,  164:4, 164:5, 164:6,  164:9, 172:3, 172:6,  172:14, 172:20,  172:22, 172:23,  172:24, 173:2,  173:3, 173:5, 173:9,  173:11, 173:14,  173:15, 173:16,  173:17, 173:19,  173:20, 173:23,  173:25, 174:1,  174:3, 174:6, 174:7,  174:8, 174:9  <b>themselves</b> [1] - 125:20  <b>thick</b> [1] - 169:25  <b>thin</b> [1] - 169:25</p>
<b>T</b>				
<p><b>Tab</b> [1] - 16:8  <b>tab</b> [23] - 17:23, 21:3,  21:8, 25:18, 27:19,  29:5, 31:11, 113:24,  114:9, 114:19,  115:6, 116:2,  116:10, 116:20,  117:15, 117:17,</p>				

<p><b>thinking</b> [2] - 69:23, 172:16</p> <p><b>thinks</b> [1] - 167:24</p> <p><b>third</b> [3] - 18:14, 78:24, 142:2</p> <p><b>thorough</b> [1] - 164:21</p> <p><b>thoughts</b> [1] - 81:15</p> <p><b>threatening</b> [1] - 116:13</p> <p><b>three</b> [25] - 1:8, 5:13, 6:7, 6:17, 8:4, 8:23, 10:3, 16:1, 18:10, 47:7, 48:12, 53:20, 53:25, 56:1, 60:10, 60:20, 70:3, 80:25, 96:18, 104:2, 111:14, 155:3, 156:11, 157:22</p> <p><b>three-bedroom</b> [1] - 53:25</p> <p><b>thriller</b> [1] - 167:10</p> <p><b>throughout</b> [2] - 33:20, 66:16</p> <p><b>throw</b> [1] - 37:24</p> <p><b>throw-away</b> [1] - 37:24</p> <p><b>Thursday</b> [1] - 1:19</p> <p><b>Tim</b> [2] - 83:8, 131:22</p> <p><b>timeline</b> [1] - 138:2</p> <p><b>Tina</b> [1] - 60:18</p> <p><b>tiny</b> [1] - 50:17</p> <p><b>tips</b> [2] - 136:18, 136:19</p> <p><b>Tl'azt'en</b> [3] - 100:16, 100:18, 102:19</p> <p><b>today</b> [15] - 43:24, 65:21, 71:24, 74:22, 76:15, 79:15, 81:22, 83:16, 141:5, 143:12, 154:5, 156:5, 159:11, 172:24, 173:21</p> <p><b>today's</b> [2] - 26:13, 81:23</p> <p><b>together</b> [20] - 8:2, 8:5, 9:9, 13:6, 13:12, 13:14, 52:19, 53:21, 54:8, 54:9, 57:14, 57:24, 58:2, 59:12, 60:10, 60:16, 60:18, 121:19, 144:10, 151:9</p> <p><b>toilettries</b> [1] - 161:24</p> <p><b>tolerable</b> [1] - 56:24</p> <p><b>tolerated</b> [2] - 56:20, 57:8</p> <p><b>toll</b> [1] - 170:13</p> <p><b>tomorrow</b> [7] - 172:19, 172:22, 173:20, 173:24,</p>	<p>174:5, 174:10</p> <p><b>took</b> [25] - 4:1, 40:3, 50:20, 53:1, 66:15, 89:14, 103:6, 103:9, 103:19, 109:5, 111:23, 113:21, 115:10, 119:6, 119:7, 122:15, 125:11, 128:9, 130:18, 149:15, 164:16, 168:20, 169:10, 170:12, 171:9</p> <p><b>top</b> [8] - 16:11, 25:22, 99:10, 116:10, 121:10, 156:1, 156:10, 158:2</p> <p><b>Toronto</b> [1] - 124:4</p> <p><b>total</b> [1] - 11:13</p> <p><b>totally</b> [1] - 70:10</p> <p><b>touch</b> [9] - 13:3, 13:13, 15:18, 24:19, 27:8, 39:15, 90:4, 120:22, 152:22</p> <p><b>touched</b> [3] - 78:21, 78:25, 138:24</p> <p><b>tough</b> [4] - 140:15, 166:14, 171:12, 171:19</p> <p><b>towards</b> [7] - 23:17, 26:3, 69:23, 72:6, 74:18, 75:4, 130:11</p> <p><b>town</b> [6] - 10:2, 30:14, 37:10, 54:11, 55:4, 143:17</p> <p><b>trace</b> [1] - 142:9</p> <p><b>trade</b> [1] - 12:18</p> <p><b>traditional</b> [6] - 43:15, 45:13, 47:19, 47:20, 48:1, 65:23</p> <p><b>tragedies</b> [1] - 94:9</p> <p><b>tragedy</b> [2] - 78:25, 148:4</p> <p><b>tragic</b> [1] - 94:6</p> <p><b>transcription</b> [1] - 174:15</p> <p><b>transition</b> [1] - 67:6</p> <p><b>translated</b> [1] - 49:12</p> <p><b>trauma</b> [2] - 168:8, 168:10</p> <p><b>travelled</b> [1] - 37:10</p> <p><b>treated</b> [5] - 53:8, 75:25, 84:8, 126:17, 126:18</p> <p><b>treatment</b> [1] - 112:19</p> <p><b>tree</b> [1] - 58:7</p> <p><b>trees</b> [1] - 56:18</p> <p><b>tried</b> [8] - 36:18, 39:19, 52:6, 73:24, 86:12, 124:14,</p>	<p>125:8, 169:1</p> <p><b>trip</b> [1] - 161:24</p> <p><b>truckers</b> [1] - 163:10</p> <p><b>true</b> [2] - 40:11, 174:14</p> <p><b>truly</b> [2] - 83:12, 148:20</p> <p><b>trust</b> [1] - 161:15</p> <p><b>truth</b> [2] - 82:12, 169:21</p> <p><b>try</b> [15] - 36:16, 57:5, 62:13, 71:5, 87:24, 103:17, 115:11, 116:4, 129:18, 136:15, 145:24, 148:1, 163:6, 163:9, 164:25</p> <p><b>trying</b> [20] - 22:21, 23:9, 33:4, 78:17, 89:11, 91:2, 91:23, 92:4, 92:5, 92:11, 92:14, 92:19, 93:1, 98:4, 115:14, 120:14, 121:19, 137:12, 163:19, 168:12</p> <p><b>Tuesday</b> [1] - 17:16</p> <p><b>turn</b> [12] - 18:13, 20:15, 20:25, 21:2, 25:18, 27:19, 71:20, 92:22, 119:15, 132:20, 144:17, 157:25</p> <p><b>turned</b> [1] - 105:6</p> <p><b>TV</b> [1] - 159:22</p> <p><b>twenty</b> [1] - 49:18</p> <p><b>twenty-nine</b> [1] - 49:18</p> <p><b>twin</b> [5] - 143:8, 144:9, 145:8, 171:15, 171:17</p> <p><b>two</b> [30] - 1:9, 11:11, 11:14, 13:24, 27:4, 45:22, 46:23, 48:16, 50:6, 52:17, 53:1, 54:13, 54:18, 54:20, 60:8, 61:1, 78:22, 79:23, 87:20, 104:2, 104:7, 111:14, 114:12, 125:23, 135:16, 136:22, 136:24, 170:13</p> <p><b>two-bedroom</b> [1] - 11:14</p> <p><b>type</b> [8] - 15:13, 51:22, 53:15, 55:13, 65:8, 74:1, 79:11, 80:20</p> <p><b>typed</b> [1] - 17:24</p> <p><b>types</b> [1] - 81:1</p> <p><b>typical</b> [1] - 68:15</p>	<p style="text-align: center;"><b>U</b></p> <p><b>ugliest</b> [1] - 148:14</p> <p><b>ugly</b> [3] - 79:11, 149:18, 167:10</p> <p><b>ultimate</b> [1] - 98:20</p> <p><b>uncharacteristic</b> [1] - 15:11</p> <p><b>unclear</b> [1] - 87:2</p> <p><b>uncles</b> [1] - 69:14</p> <p><b>under</b> [12] - 17:13, 19:10, 25:25, 28:12, 42:9, 49:3, 49:20, 72:23, 75:24, 156:14</p> <p><b>understandably</b> [1] - 86:5</p> <p><b>understood</b> [2] - 59:3, 85:4</p> <p><b>undignified</b> [1] - 148:14</p> <p><b>unfortunate</b> [1] - 151:11</p> <p><b>unfortunately</b> [1] - 113:25</p> <p><b>ungracious</b> [1] - 148:14</p> <p><b>unhappy</b> [1] - 40:2</p> <p><b>unidentified</b> [1] - 117:25</p> <p><b>Unit</b> [15] - 15:2, 16:15, 17:21, 18:3, 27:25, 28:6, 31:10, 35:3, 111:25, 119:6, 121:8, 121:25, 123:3, 124:6, 155:12</p> <p><b>United</b> [1] - 174:24</p> <p><b>universal</b> [1] - 41:25</p> <p><b>university</b> [1] - 7:23</p> <p><b>unknown</b> [1] - 117:24</p> <p><b>unlikely</b> [1] - 75:24</p> <p><b>unrelated</b> [1] - 137:6</p> <p><b>unsatisfied</b> [1] - 128:1</p> <p><b>unsolved</b> [1] - 146:9</p> <p><b>unsuccessful</b> [1] - 26:9</p> <p><b>unsuccessfully</b> [1] - 14:20</p> <p><b>untrue</b> [1] - 19:3</p> <p><b>unusual</b> [1] - 162:16</p> <p><b>up</b> [95] - 2:24, 3:18, 4:10, 8:1, 8:2, 8:19, 9:4, 9:7, 9:11, 13:10, 13:16, 13:22, 14:12, 15:25, 16:20, 19:14, 22:15, 22:17, 23:11, 23:14, 27:18, 33:18, 36:11, 40:22, 40:23, 41:25, 44:19, 47:6, 50:11, 50:12, 50:23,</p>	<p>50:24, 51:21, 52:15, 52:21, 54:11, 63:21, 65:5, 67:19, 68:10, 69:7, 69:22, 70:7, 70:25, 72:8, 77:4, 80:23, 82:8, 88:10, 88:13, 91:5, 92:17, 92:19, 92:21, 96:17, 97:7, 102:7, 102:11, 102:18, 102:19, 102:23, 103:3, 103:24, 108:12, 111:1, 111:12, 111:16, 111:17, 117:10, 124:2, 124:9, 129:19, 130:21, 130:23, 132:23, 134:9, 140:23, 140:24, 143:15, 144:8, 149:21, 150:7, 151:7, 151:8, 152:13, 159:21, 163:11, 164:25, 166:1, 167:21, 167:24, 168:2, 169:18, 171:21</p> <p><b>update</b> [2] - 125:2, 125:3</p> <p><b>upset</b> [4] - 20:10, 21:4, 21:5, 170:24</p> <p><b>user</b> [1] - 156:17</p> <p><b>uses</b> [1] - 17:15</p> <p style="text-align: center;"><b>V</b></p> <p><b>vacuum</b> [1] - 53:14</p> <p><b>vague</b> [1] - 33:2</p> <p><b>vain</b> [2] - 37:16, 42:3</p> <p><b>Van</b> [1] - 80:13</p> <p><b>Vancouver</b> [84] - 1:1, 6:19, 7:15, 8:13, 9:17, 10:2, 10:4, 14:24, 16:10, 18:2, 23:20, 23:24, 24:3, 24:5, 24:20, 25:20, 26:5, 26:16, 27:24, 31:9, 33:9, 34:15, 35:11, 38:20, 39:5, 50:14, 57:20, 59:15, 62:23, 62:25, 63:4, 63:5, 83:8, 83:12, 85:2, 97:1, 100:6, 100:7, 104:18, 105:5, 105:8, 110:8, 111:25, 113:8, 113:12, 113:19, 114:4, 115:12, 115:20, 116:6, 116:7, 116:16,</p>
--	--	--	---	--

<p>119:4, 119:9, 119:25, 120:17, 120:22, 121:7, 121:25, 122:9, 122:18, 123:2, 123:5, 124:17, 124:19, 125:22, 126:9, 126:17, 128:5, 128:15, 129:2, 131:6, 131:11, 131:23, 135:23, 138:4, 144:18, 144:21, 144:23, 145:12, 146:2, 156:2, 165:2</p> <p><b>Vanessa</b> [2] - 91:12, 91:13</p> <p><b>various</b> [3] - 134:15, 136:18, 136:19</p> <p><b>version</b> [1] - 20:19</p> <p><b>VERTLIEB</b> [5] - 1:5, 1:11, 1:25, 172:15, 172:21</p> <p><b>vertlieb</b> [1] - 2:3</p> <p><b>Vicki</b> [1] - 147:1</p> <p><b>victim</b> [1] - 65:3</p> <p><b>victims</b> [1] - 151:16</p> <p><b>Victoria</b> [2] - 12:8, 104:5</p> <p><b>view</b> [1] - 164:15</p> <p><b>Vimy</b> [1] - 32:3</p> <p><b>violence</b> [1] - 80:20</p> <p><b>visible</b> [1] - 75:7</p> <p><b>visit</b> [7] - 10:14, 62:24, 69:15, 103:12, 112:12, 113:1, 117:23</p> <p><b>visited</b> [3] - 36:14, 40:23, 67:21</p> <p><b>visiting</b> [2] - 36:19, 125:10</p> <p><b>voice</b> [2] - 110:4, 110:20</p> <p><b>voir</b> [1] - 170:12</p> <p><b>VPD</b> [9] - 85:8, 90:4, 132:10, 132:12, 132:23, 135:8, 136:12, 136:22, 138:16</p> <p><b>VPNLS</b> [3] - 25:14, 26:6, 26:14</p>	<p><b>walked</b> [3] - 105:6, 163:5, 163:6</p> <p><b>walking</b> [3] - 51:24, 72:23, 77:16</p> <p><b>wall</b> [1] - 58:7</p> <p><b>wallet</b> [1] - 162:1</p> <p><b>wants</b> [6] - 106:2, 106:3, 108:6, 108:7, 165:25, 167:1</p> <p><b>Ward</b> [3] - 1:14, 172:12, 2:10</p> <p><b>warrior</b> [1] - 148:19</p> <p><b>waste</b> [2] - 23:9, 38:5</p> <p><b>watch</b> [1] - 60:6</p> <p><b>watched</b> [2] - 107:5, 166:13</p> <p><b>watching</b> [1] - 165:17</p> <p><b>water</b> [1] - 171:5</p> <p><b>Wayne</b> [3] - 60:16, 167:19</p> <p><b>wear</b> [1] - 99:8</p> <p><b>wearing</b> [3] - 22:6, 130:12</p> <p><b>Wednesday</b> [3] - 1:13, 1:17, 156:21</p> <p><b>week</b> [10] - 1:5, 1:22, 2:4, 2:13, 97:20, 105:12, 107:23, 109:6, 109:18, 153:23</p> <p><b>weekends</b> [2] - 107:4, 107:10</p> <p><b>weeks</b> [8] - 18:6, 18:10, 113:13, 114:12, 157:23, 162:25, 170:13</p> <p><b>welcome</b> [6] - 58:21, 110:13, 141:19, 164:12, 171:24, 172:1</p> <p><b>Welfare</b> [6] - 87:17, 89:9, 93:1, 117:10, 134:7, 134:8</p> <p><b>Westminster</b> [1] - 150:23</p> <p><b>whatnot</b> [1] - 66:21</p> <p><b>whereabouts</b> [2] - 117:24, 118:12</p> <p><b>Whistler</b> [1] - 44:6</p> <p><b>white</b> [1] - 81:2</p> <p><b>whole</b> [4] - 128:9, 138:2, 146:8, 167:2</p> <p><b>wife</b> [3] - 53:1, 62:17, 170:18</p> <p><b>Willie</b> [4] - 125:24, 127:9, 127:15, 138:23</p> <p><b>willing</b> [1] - 33:19</p> <p><b>window</b> [1] - 130:10</p> <p><b>Winnipeg</b> [2] - 145:9, 145:10</p>	<p><b>wisdom</b> [2] - 77:10, 77:12</p> <p><b>wish</b> [6] - 2:12, 37:9, 38:15, 38:17, 41:1</p> <p><b>wished</b> [1] - 2:10</p> <p><b>Witness</b> [2] - 172:12, 2:10</p> <p><b>witness</b> [9] - 2:17, 16:6, 20:21, 20:24, 41:16, 95:10, 96:19, 141:12, 172:17</p> <p><b>WITNESS</b> [30] - 2:20, 2:23, 3:3, 11:20, 41:6, 93:8, 94:3, 94:13, 94:16, 94:18, 94:20, 95:14, 101:23, 140:8, 140:13, 140:20, 140:22, 141:1, 141:15, 150:10, 164:4, 172:23, 173:2, 173:14, 173:16, 173:19, 173:23, 174:1, 174:6, 174:8</p> <p><b>witnesses</b> [5] - 1:6, 1:22, 2:4, 2:12, 16:2</p> <p><b>woke</b> [1] - 130:22</p> <p><b>Wolthers</b> [1] - 136:23</p> <p><b>woman</b> [6] - 19:16, 19:19, 64:14, 129:6, 147:25, 148:13</p> <p><b>womb</b> [1] - 51:22</p> <p><b>Women</b> [2] - 119:5, 139:12</p> <p><b>women</b> [27] - 3:14, 12:15, 27:4, 37:15, 37:22, 38:4, 38:6, 38:11, 38:12, 42:8, 42:14, 74:7, 75:7, 75:14, 95:9, 96:10, 126:2, 142:1, 146:6, 146:21, 165:5, 165:12, 165:19, 166:9, 167:7, 169:11</p> <p><b>Women's</b> [1] - 146:2</p> <p><b>women's</b> [1] - 91:12</p> <p><b>wonder</b> [2] - 36:8, 167:2</p> <p><b>wondered</b> [1] - 14:1</p> <p><b>wondering</b> [6] - 64:18, 65:12, 65:16, 72:5, 162:13, 173:23</p> <p><b>woods</b> [2] - 56:12, 56:13</p> <p><b>word</b> [4] - 70:13, 71:6, 73:20, 75:1</p> <p><b>words</b> [4] - 48:16, 84:7, 128:24, 149:3</p>	<p><b>worker</b> [2] - 91:2, 92:13</p> <p><b>workers</b> [1] - 90:2</p> <p><b>works</b> [1] - 170:19</p> <p><b>worlds</b> [1] - 69:6</p> <p><b>worried</b> [9] - 110:22, 154:9, 154:16, 155:10, 160:12, 163:5, 170:14, 170:15, 170:20</p> <p><b>worry</b> [2] - 148:20, 172:18</p> <p><b>worse</b> [1] - 22:14</p> <p><b>worth</b> [1] - 40:11</p> <p><b>wrapper</b> [2] - 99:4, 127:12</p> <p><b>write</b> [4] - 38:11, 38:13, 108:8, 163:8</p> <p><b>writer</b> [2] - 114:20, 114:23</p> <p><b>writes</b> [4] - 32:2, 147:19, 159:17, 161:20</p> <p><b>writing</b> [2] - 111:6, 147:23</p> <p><b>written</b> [7] - 21:20, 39:24, 41:2, 85:9, 119:7, 147:6, 147:11</p> <p><b>wrote</b> [4] - 21:6, 21:8, 84:13, 118:1</p> <p><b>Wu</b> [1] - 159:19</p>	<p>163:17, 168:11</p> <p><b>yesterday</b> [1] - 156:7</p> <p><b>young</b> [11] - 14:14, 48:11, 50:8, 50:12, 57:16, 63:15, 64:1, 72:2, 81:20, 150:12, 167:8</p> <p><b>younger</b> [6] - 47:3, 52:16, 54:24, 56:22, 60:10, 67:18</p> <p><b>youngest</b> [18] - 5:24, 46:22, 52:3, 52:11, 58:13, 60:9, 69:11, 95:23, 96:3, 96:4, 101:14, 101:16, 102:5, 104:4, 111:5, 143:7, 149:5</p> <p><b>yourself</b> [10] - 5:7, 45:19, 56:8, 68:5, 77:6, 86:3, 100:6, 140:12, 160:7, 164:21</p>
<b>W</b>				
<p><b>W"</b> [1] - 90:8</p> <p><b>wait</b> [1] - 129:9</p> <p><b>waiting</b> [1] - 13:17</p> <p><b>wake</b> [1] - 130:21</p> <p><b>walk</b> [1] - 105:23</p>				